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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Good morning.

          3  This hearing of the General Welfare Committee is

          4  called to order. My apology for the delay in

          5  starting this morning. My apology, in particular, to

          6  our new Commissioner, who is used to the much more

          7  efficient ways of Albany, and I think he's going to

          8  go through a certain amount of culture shock

          9  adjusting to the New York City dynamic. Albany is

         10  known for order, careful process and due

         11  deliberation, no political issues ever intervene.

         12  I'm sorry you're going to have to experience life in

         13  New York City now.

         14                 First of all, I'd like to thank all

         15  of the staff who helped to put together this

         16  hearing. Obviously, my Counsel Molly Murphy, and our

         17  Policy Analyst Freya Reel, as well as Aaron

         18  Feinstein and James Reyes of the Council Central

         19  Staff, and Peter Bruno, who I just want to say is

         20  next door, so he won't get to hear this but has done

         21  amazing work for this Committee over the last few

         22  years, as part of the Council's Finance Division,

         23  and really, we could not have done the work we have

         24  done in the last five years had it not been for

         25  Peter Bruno, and we are going to miss him
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          2  tremendously.

          3                 So, we're here today to examine the

          4  Mayor's Preliminary Fiscal '08 budget, and a number

          5  of issues we want to raise to the Commissioner, but

          6  I want to say to the outside Commissioner, we

          7  congratulate you again. Members of the General

          8  Welfare Committee are very excited to have an

          9  opportunity to work with you. We appreciated the

         10  good work we did together when you were with the

         11  State, and we welcome you and welcome your

         12  testimony.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Thank you very

         14  much. And good morning, Chairman DeBlasio, and

         15  members of the General Welfare Committee.

         16                 I am Robert Doar, Commissioner of the

         17  Human Resources Administration.

         18                 Thank you for inviting me to provide

         19  testimony on Mayor Bloomberg's Preliminary 2008

         20  budget for HRA, and the Preliminary Mayor's

         21  Management Report.

         22                 I greatly respect the City Council's

         23  role and I look forward to a productive relationship

         24  with each of you. I also have great respect for the

         25  men and women who work at HRA, and I believe that
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          2  they have made remarkable contributions to the life

          3  of the City.

          4                 I am joined here at the witness table

          5  by HRA's First Deputy Commissioner, Patricia Smith,

          6  a person whose tireless contributions to our City

          7  over many years have been immeasurable.

          8                 Since the beginning of Mayor

          9  Bloomberg's Administration, HRA's efforts have led

         10  to nearly 420,000 job placements of public

         11  assistance clients. During the same period, the

         12  number of persons receiving food stamps who were not

         13  on cash assistance has increased by almost 337,000

         14  or 94 percent. And this percentage increases to 130

         15  percent for those food stamp recipients who are

         16  independent of both cash assistance and Supplemental

         17  Security Income.

         18                 New York City public health insurance

         19  enrollment has grown 54 percent over the past five

         20  years, and the City has enrolled nearly 900,000

         21  people. Child support collections have jumped by 46

         22  percent, from $403 million up to more than $588

         23  million annually. And, since the inception of the

         24  Medicaid Prescription Drug Fraud Program in 2000,

         25  HRA has conducted nearly 7,000 prescription drug
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          2  fraud investigations resulting in 1,500 arrests, and

          3  approximately $24 million in cost savings to this

          4  City.

          5                 I look forward to working with the

          6  Council in building on this impressive record. At

          7  this time, I would like to provide you with more

          8  detailed information about HRA programs and their

          9  outcomes over the past year and the challenges we

         10  are facing as we move forward.

         11                 In 2008, HRA expects to spend $1.2

         12  billion on public assistance benefits, of which

         13  $453.4 million are City funds. In February 2007, the

         14  New York City welfare roll dropped to its lowest

         15  level in more than 40 years, 369,601 persons, a

         16  decline of 20.1 percent since the beginning of the

         17  Bloomberg Administration.

         18                 As of February 2007, 88 percent of

         19  clients who have achieved employment have remained

         20  off public assistance and/or retained jobs after

         21  three months, and 72 percent have achieved those

         22  results after 12 months.

         23                 As of February 2007, almost 86,000

         24  people who exceeded their five-year time limit were

         25  receiving benefits through the State- and
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          2  City-funded Safety Net Assistance Program, a decline

          3  of 19.3 percent since February 2006. In 2008, we

          4  project spending approximately $179 million of the

          5  total public assistance expenditure on benefits for

          6  recipients who have exceeded their five-year time

          7  limit, of which almost $90 million are City funds.

          8                 The Back To Work Programs is one of

          9  our major employment activities for applicants and

         10  recipients and became operational on August 8th,

         11  2006 in every HRA job center. Since then, over

         12  32,000 New Yorkers have received a preliminary

         13  assessment from the program, and over 6,100 have

         14  already been placed in jobs. It is too early in this

         15  contract to have meaningful retention numbers, but

         16  full payment for an individual is not achieved

         17  unless the person is retained at the three-month,

         18  and six-month point. Recipients are engaged in job

         19  training, education and job search activities. Back

         20  to Work differs from HRA's former employment

         21  services contracts, in that it allows one contractor

         22  to work with a recipient from initial assignment to

         23  the conclusion of services, providing greater

         24  continuity. Under Back to Work, recipients begin

         25  receiving services immediately, as early as the same
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          2  day they apply for public assistance. Our

          3  expectation is that when people start their activity

          4  without a long lag time, it leads to more successful

          5  employment outcomes.

          6                 Our vendors prepare a plan for

          7  sustainable self-sufficiency and offer training and

          8  other opportunities for recipients to upgrade their

          9  employment. The contracts are fully

         10  performance-based, with payment contingent on

         11  success in placement and retention. We are confident

         12  this new program will generate even more successful

         13  job placement and retention rates.

         14                 Since its inception in February 2005,

         15  the results of the WeCARE program have continued to

         16  improve. WeCARE engages approximately 24,000

         17  participants at any given point in time. In

         18  addition, WeCARE has helped more than 3,500 people

         19  with health and mental health barriers gain

         20  employment. Job Center staff make referrals for

         21  bio-psychosocial assessments and of those seen, 80.7

         22  percent have completed all phases of the assessment

         23  process; 7.3 percent were found to be fully

         24  employable and were referred back to their job

         25  centers to be engaged in appropriate activities from
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          2  the traditional menu of employment training

          3  programs; 45.7 percent were found to be employable

          4  with limitations and were referred for vocational

          5  rehabilitation services; and 37.3 percent were found

          6  to be temporarily unemployable due to medical and/or

          7  mental health conditions and were referred for

          8  Wellness Plans; and 9.7 percent were determined to

          9  be unemployable for 12 or more months and were

         10  referred for assistance in applying for federal

         11  disability benefits.

         12                 WeCARE vendors have initiated 9,703

         13  federal disability applications with 2,433 federal

         14  disability approvals awarded. Many recipients who

         15  have applied are still engaged in the federal

         16  disability application process, which can take 18

         17  months or more for a final determination from the

         18  Social Security Administration.

         19                 As you know, under TANF

         20  reauthorization, 50 percent of our TANF recipients

         21  must be engaged in federally defined work

         22  activities, and the reauthorization legislation

         23  narrowed the types and scope of allowable activities

         24  which can qualify for federal participation. We

         25  believe the rules impose some unrealistic time
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          2  limitations on certain rehabilitative activities and

          3  also limit the time someone can spend in activities

          4  like job search that are critical to their ability

          5  to get a job.

          6                 We are committed to continuing viable

          7  programs such as WeCARE, but while participation in

          8  the employment activities of this program meet the

          9  federal participation requirement, many of the

         10  wellness and disabilities activities provided will

         11  not be countable under the new rules.

         12                 The challenges we face in meeting the

         13  participation rate are due in large part to two

         14  groups: those recipients who are in the engagement

         15  process, including those looking for child care so

         16  that they can work, undergoing a medical assessment,

         17  or finding an appropriate training program, and

         18  those who do not consistently participate in

         19  employment programs.

         20                 In addition, we must now include

         21  Safety Net family recipients whose cash benefits are

         22  funded with State and City funds into our

         23  participation rate calculations for the first time.

         24                 States failing to meet the

         25  participation requirements face significant fiscal
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          2  sanctions. The law also imposes new work

          3  verification and monitoring requirements that will

          4  be administratively burdensome that could result in

          5  penalties if not met.

          6                 We continue to work with the

          7  Department of Health and Human Services and Congress

          8  in an attempt to retain some of our previous

          9  flexibility. However, we are not waiting for final

         10  guidance and have taken a number of programmatic

         11  steps to increase our participation rate, including

         12  trying to reduce the lag time between initial intake

         13  and moving clients into activities.

         14                 This involves a greater ability on

         15  our part to identify those in our system who are not

         16  currently participating and as quickly as possible

         17  asking them to come to one of our offices to be

         18  assessed for assignment to an employment activity.

         19  Through our Back to Work program we have reduced the

         20  time people who have employment assignments must

         21  wait to begin their activity.

         22                 HRA is also working with support from

         23  the State, to enhance our outreach efforts to those

         24  who are sanctioned for not complying with work

         25  requirements. Instead of closing a case when a
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          2  sanctioned recipient fails to appear, we will

          3  attempt outreach for those who do not show for

          4  scheduled call-in appointments, including making

          5  telephone calls and conducting home visits. We will

          6  have clinical staff involved to assess situations

          7  where the traditional outreach efforts have not

          8  succeeded.

          9                 HRA currently manages more than

         10  294,000 child support cases with court orders. We

         11  are now getting more children and custodial parents

         12  the support they deserve, and in just one year there

         13  has been an eight percent increase in the collection

         14  of child support obligations from $546 million in

         15  Fiscal Year '05 to $588 million in Fiscal Year '06.

         16  Over 90 percent of these collections were made

         17  directly to children and families and over half of

         18  these families are former PA families. This

         19  accomplishment, therefore, has a very real positive

         20  impact on the children and families we serve. For

         21  all families receiving child support payments, the

         22  average is $5,173 per year. Child support, when

         23  combined with work, plays a critical role in helping

         24  families move towards self-sufficiency or remain

         25  self-sufficient and it does so in a cost effective
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          2  way. For every City, State and federal dollar spent

          3  on administering the child support program, $4.75 is

          4  collected.

          5                 We are continuing our efforts to ease

          6  food stamp enrollment for eligible individuals and

          7  families. The number of recipients in food stamp

          8  programs is more than 1,100,000 as of February 2007.

          9                 By simplifying the process through

         10  shorter application, and greater automation, we have

         11  increased the total number of individuals on food

         12  stamps by more than 303,000, a 38 percent increase

         13  since January 2002.

         14                 In a further effort to reach the

         15  working poor, we will be extending office hours one

         16  night weekly at each of the five sites that are

         17  currently open until 6:00 p.m. HRA is one of several

         18  agencies participating on the food policy task

         19  force, and we look forward to working with the City

         20  Council to notify New Yorkers of the extension and

         21  we'll be monitoring activity in the additional

         22  hours.

         23                 HRA, in collaboration with the New

         24  York City Coalition of Hunger and Food Change, has

         25  also successfully tested and implemented the
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          2  paperless office system at the Fordham Food Stamp

          3  Office in the Bronx, the Borough Hall Food Stamp

          4  Office in Brooklyn, and the Richmond Food Stamp

          5  Office in Staten Island.

          6                 This pilot project allows for

          7  applicants to have their application, along with any

          8  other relevant document, scanned in an automated

          9  system at an off-site location prior to an in-person

         10  prescheduled meeting at the Food Stamp Office. Our

         11  field partners for this effort so far are:  A Part

         12  of the Solution, a combined soup kitchen in the

         13  Bronx; the Hanson Place United Methodist Church in

         14  Brooklyn, and Project Hospitality in Staten Island.

         15  By July we plan to implement in a total of six ties.

         16  While the community aspect is a major part of the

         17  grant process, the other significant piece is the

         18  development of a new computer system for our food

         19  stamp offices. This system represents a major

         20  technological investment in the food stamp offices

         21  and will improve the efficiency of our offices and

         22  allow workers to better serve clients. It poises us

         23  to better expand automation efforts as other

         24  activities, such as ACCESS NYC, move into their next

         25  phases of integration and sharing of information.
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          2                 There is also now an opportunity to

          3  simplify the Food Stamp process further, as the

          4  program is due for federal reauthorization this

          5  year. As part of this Congressional process, we are

          6  advocating for changes in federal law that would

          7  increase access and simplify the administration of

          8  food stamp benefits. For example, we suggest a

          9  standard deduction for medical expenses incurred by

         10  elderly/disabled household members and a single

         11  standard utility allowance in place of the current

         12  tiered structure for all recipients.

         13                 In New York City, public health

         14  insurance enrollment has grown and as of February

         15  2007, approximately 2.53 million New York City

         16  residents are covered by public health insurance

         17  programs administered by HRA, of whom 1.76 million

         18  are not receiving cash assistance. More than 50

         19  percent of New York City's children have public

         20  health insurance coverage with Medicaid insuring

         21  over 1 million, and an additional 165,000 in Child

         22  Health Plus B, the State health insurance program

         23  for children up to age 19 who are not eligible for

         24  Medicaid and who have no health insurance.

         25                 While the rest of New York State and
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          2  the nation experienced decreases in health insurance

          3  coverage, New York City experienced steady

          4  increases. According to the latest report from the

          5  United Hospital Fund, the number of uninsured

          6  children declined from 289,000 in 2002-03 to 240,000

          7  in 2003-04 in New York City. The decline for

          8  uninsured adults during this same time period was

          9  from 1.4 million to 1.26 million.

         10                 There is also a marked growth in

         11  enrollment of Healthy New York, a program designed

         12  to encourage small employers with 50 or fewer

         13  employees to offer health insurance coverage to

         14  their employees and their families. It is also

         15  available to eligible working uninsured individuals

         16  including sole proprietors. The program creates

         17  standardized health insurance benefit packages that

         18  are offered by all health maintenance organizations

         19  in New York State. In 2006, New York City enrollment

         20  in Health New York increased from 20,000 to 31,000,

         21  a 55 percent increase over the previous year's

         22  enrollment.

         23                 We need to ensure that funds are

         24  responsibly spent and we are focusing on identifying

         25  and stopping fraud committed by Medicaid providers.

                                                            18

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  The funds misspent due to provider fraud are needed

          3  for other services to clients. In collaboration with

          4  other local, State and federal governmental and law

          5  enforcement entities, including the New York State

          6  Attorney General's Office, the New York State

          7  Department of Health, the local District Attorney's

          8  Office, the FBI, the DEA, HRA has saved the

          9  government millions of dollars as a result of

         10  prescription drug fraud prevention activities, has

         11  gotten dangerous prescription drugs off the street,

         12  and has participated in arrests of both providers

         13  and recipients involved in illegal activities.

         14                 In 2006 alone, Medicaid Prescription

         15  Prevention Program was involved in 242 arrests and

         16  these prescription drug anti-fraud efforts saved the

         17  City nearly $2.2 million.

         18                 As part of the Mayor's commitment to

         19  support the integrity of Medicaid Program, in

         20  December 2006, New York City entered into a

         21  memorandum of understanding agreement with the New

         22  York State Office of Medicaid Inspector General, and

         23  the New York State Department of Health, authorizing

         24  New York City to implement a Medicaid provider fraud

         25  and abuse project to target Medicaid fraud, waste
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          2  and abuse by health care and other service

          3  providers. I would like to reiterate that this is

          4  one of my highest priorities and appreciate that

          5  both the Governor and new Attorney General has also

          6  made it a high priority of theirs.

          7                 Building on the success of HRA's

          8  longstanding efforts to combat Medicaid prescription

          9  drug fraud, we are currently in the process of

         10  creating the Office of Medicaid Provider Fraud

         11  Investigation to implement this new initiative. As

         12  part of this function, we will be responsible for

         13  conducting audits of Medicaid providers in New York

         14  City suspected of fraud, waste or abuse in

         15  accordance with the provisions of the MOU and the

         16  concurrent goals of the Mayor and Governor to

         17  address this crucial issue.

         18                 Working in conjunction with the New

         19  York State OMIG and DOH, the efforts of HRA's Office

         20  of Medicaid Provider Fraud Investigation will

         21  include investigations of physicians, HMOs and

         22  transportation providers suspected of waste, fraud

         23  or abuse. We are quickly moving forward to implement

         24  the goals of this crucial effort.

         25                 New York City leads the nation in
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          2  providing Medicaid-funded long-term care services to

          3  frail elderly and disabled residents so that they

          4  can continue to live at home in spite of significant

          5  impairments. Medicaid-funded in-home long-term care

          6  services are provided for approximately 120,000

          7  residents of New York City each year. And HRA

          8  annually reviews and authorizes nursing home care

          9  for an additional 35,000 frail individuals who are

         10  clinically no longer able to live at home.

         11                 HRA contracts directly for personal

         12  care services, for approximately 50,000 home care

         13  clients. HRA provides review to determine the level

         14  of clinical need and authorization for the

         15  appropriate level of service, at least annually for

         16  this population, as well as for 16,000 clients in

         17  the managed long-term program, and 13,500 in the

         18  long-term home health care program, which are

         19  State-run programs offering a variety of services

         20  under the umbrella of a single provider.

         21                 Included among the populations served

         22  by all these programs are approximately 1,500 people

         23  living with HIV/AIDS and close to 1,000 children.

         24  Support is provided for specialized programs such as

         25  the Consumer Directed Personal Assistance Program,
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          2  the Assisted Living Program, and the Care Home

          3  Program, which together serve approximately 3,000

          4  clients annually.

          5                 As the above demonstrates there is an

          6  array of in-home long-term care services. Clearly,

          7  there is a value in allowing elderly and disabled

          8  people to remain in their homes rather than receive

          9  care in institutional settings, and long-term care

         10  would benefit from a more rational planning process.

         11                 For this reason the City is

         12  participating in a Statewide effort to establish a

         13  long-term care point of entry, to provide consistent

         14  and impartial information on long-term care options.

         15                 HRA is leading this effort and

         16  partnering with the Department for the Aging, the

         17  Department of Information Technology and

         18  Telecommunications, and the Mayor's Office for

         19  People With Disabilities, among others.

         20                 The planned POE will take advantage

         21  of the 311 and ACCESS NYC infrastructure.

         22                 HRA's service to vulnerable adults

         23  through its Adult Protective Services Program

         24  continues to improve as APS moves to address

         25  unprecedented growth and challenges. The caseload
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          2  has grown by 21 percent in the last two years alone,

          3  and 72 percent over the last five years. In

          4  addition, clients have increasingly complex needs,

          5  with nearly 40 percent of clients now under 60 years

          6  of age.

          7                 These younger APS clients tend to

          8  have more severe mental illnesses than our elderly

          9  clients, are frequently active substance abusers,

         10  and are also more resistant to the program's efforts

         11  to assist them.

         12                 Another significant challenge is that

         13  about 30 percent of APS-eligible clients of all ages

         14  are facing eviction, often in situations where APS

         15  is not asked to assist until the end of the

         16  proceedings in Housing Court.

         17                 To address caseload growth, we are

         18  increasing APS staff pursuant to the January

         19  financial plan that provides funding for 37

         20  additional staff and the hiring process is currently

         21  underway. We expect to have them all assigned and

         22  trained by late spring.

         23                 To better serve people with HIV/AIDS,

         24  we continue to reduce the use of Single Room

         25  Occupancy facilities as emergency housing, seeking
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          2  rather to place a homeless person with HIV/AIDS in a

          3  supportive environment to better enhance both their

          4  health and service needs. In December 2005, the SRO

          5  census went under 1,000 for the first time in 15

          6  years. As a result of the utilization of Masters of

          7  Social Work interns, the refinement of the housing

          8  application/referral protocol, the increase in the

          9  number of transitional housing units and more

         10  aggressive follow-up by the housing and caseworker

         11  staff, our HIV/AIDS Services Administration's (HASA)

         12  SRO census has been under 900 for all of 2006, and

         13  under 800 for a significant portion of that calendar

         14  year - a remarkable accomplishment.

         15                 In addition, I am sure you know, in

         16  February we reached agreement with the state

         17  concerning the client's contributions toward rent in

         18  HASA supportive housing, and with this change, HRA

         19  is looking forward to once again accessing State

         20  matching funds for the expenditures incurred on

         21  behalf of those public assistance clients with

         22  income.

         23                 We continue to work to provide

         24  services to ensure safety for survivors of domestic

         25  violence through non-residential services and
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          2  shelter services for people fleeing domestic

          3  violence. For those in shelter, we work with partner

          4  agencies to ensure that they can access the array of

          5  housing and support services available, should they

          6  require permanent rehousing. We also work to prevent

          7  future domestic violence through the Relationship

          8  Abuse Prevention Program, which helps to educate

          9  youngsters about healthy relationships. In addition,

         10  we are working with Commissioner Hess of the

         11  Department of Homeless Services to revise the

         12  Housing Stability Plus Program, in a way that

         13  ensures domestic violence victims in our shelters

         14  are also supported in their efforts to move from

         15  shelter to permanent housing.

         16                 I would like to conclude by saying

         17  that I look forward to working with the City

         18  Council. I look forward to hearing your concerns and

         19  I welcome your questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         21  much, Commissioner. I appreciate that there is some

         22  real good news and progress in your testimony. I do

         23  want to just praise a couple of points in

         24  particular, but then I obviously have some concerns

         25  about some other areas.
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          2                 The work on health insurance

          3  enrollment is obviously extraordinary, and I commend

          4  everyone at HRA for that, these numbers are really

          5  outstanding and the national situation is troubling

          6  and relatively little progress has been made except

          7  for by state and local efforts and so I really do

          8  appreciate what you've achieved there.

          9                 And I also want to say, the reduction

         10  of the SRO census is obviously a historic

         11  achievement to anyone who lived through the battle

         12  days, as I know a lot of the good public servants

         13  here from HRA know, realizes just how important that

         14  is. And I further wanted to note one more point of

         15  praise before -- you should enjoy this moment. No,

         16  unfortunately, my family members and I just went

         17  through a lot of trying to navigate the various

         18  services to help a senior citizen, and you're

         19  absolutely right, it's unfathomable right now in

         20  many ways, you know, even if you're blessed enough

         21  to have some resources, it's very difficult, and I'm

         22  very happy to hear that you're turning more

         23  attention that way and trying to rationalize that,

         24  because I think I was just shocked at what a mystery

         25  and a series of roadblocks everything seemed to be,
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          2  even in terms of trying to access very simple

          3  services. So, I really appreciate your focus there.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Councilman, before

          5  you turn to the difficult stuff, I did want to say

          6  thank you for that, and also say Margie Cardigan of

          7  our staff, who has done so much to make health

          8  insurance enrollment successful in New York City,

          9  Elsie Del Campo from HASA, who is responsible for

         10  the SR reduction, and Mary Harper, who is leading

         11  the charge on the single point of entry, these are,

         12  I think you're right, very, very capable public

         13  servants who really work very hard every day for the

         14  people of the City of New York.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I admire you

         16  sharing credit. It's an auspicious start.

         17                 Okay, let's start with food stamps,

         18  because obviously that has been a central concern

         19  for the Council. As you know, the Speaker has

         20  focused intensely on food and nutrition issues since

         21  she gained that office. The Public Advocate has from

         22  day one, I have, this Committee has, Council Member

         23  Gioia has, and a number of people in the Council.

         24  And I have to say, sometimes it's good to stop and

         25  reflect that something good is happening when so
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          2  many people are focused on hunger, and there is no

          3  way that would have happened without the energy of

          4  so much of the advocacy community. And I will

          5  certainly say that in the vast majority of cases we

          6  found real partnership in the Mayor's Office and HRA

          7  and other agencies.

          8                 I am concerned, however, that I think

          9  we can never say, well, we've made progress and

         10  that's the end of the story. You can give me your

         11  opinion on how many people you think are still

         12  eligible and not signed up. I buy into the hundreds

         13  of thousands, maybe as many as half a million

         14  analysis that a lot of the advocates have put

         15  forward, because I don't think we can afford to

         16  assume less unless we have evidence that it's less.

         17                 So, why don't I start at the

         18  beginning: do you have a working number of how many

         19  people you think are eligible for food stamps in New

         20  York City and not yet signed up?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think it's about

         22  300,000, but we looked at it and there are various

         23  ways of doing it. And you're right, it is an

         24  estimate. My perspective, it's clear that there are

         25  still folks who are eligible and would benefit from

                                                            28

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  food stamps who are not yet enrolled, and so we want

          3  to make our systems, especially for folks who are

          4  working, as easily accessible as possible, through

          5  technology and through community outreach.

          6                 From our perspective and from my

          7  perspective at the State and here in the City, food

          8  stamps are an important ingredient of the sort of

          9  array of supports for people who are working but

         10  still low income, and I want to make sure that we

         11  are doing everything we can to make that

         12  accessibility possible.

         13                 I should mention we did extend the

         14  hours, we're going to look at that and see what the

         15  demand is and we may extend them more. It will be a

         16  bigger deal to do more but we would very seriously

         17  consider that.

         18                 So, there is too many who are not yet

         19  enrolled. I don't know what the number is, and it's

         20  an estimate.

         21                 The only thing I would caution,

         22  Councilman, is some of the barriers to enrollment

         23  are the makings of the federal government program.

         24  It's a federal program, rules are established by

         25  them, they monitor us very aggressively on quality
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          2  control, and they penalize us for having errors or

          3  having people who are enrolled inappropriately. And,

          4  so, we have to do certain things under federal rules

          5  that sometimes are reviewed by perfectly reasonable

          6  people as being more than they really want to put up

          7  with for a relatively small benefit, if their income

          8  is high due to earnings.

          9                 So, there is that component of the

         10  program and that's why we're working on really all

         11  fronts, automation, outreach, and the federal

         12  government effort to see, as they move to

         13  reauthorize the food stamp act that we can break

         14  down those barriers even further.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

         16  that. Let me just go back to the beginning here for

         17  a moment.

         18                 Your personal, and you admit, you

         19  know, no one has the exact number, because we're not

         20  going out and asking all 300,000 or whatever it is

         21  people about their situation, so your personal

         22  estimate is 300,000 people eligible, not yet signed

         23  up. I think we'd both say the economy and other

         24  factors could change that number up or down at any

         25  moment, and I'm knocking on wood as I say this, that
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          2  little situation with the Chinese stock market the

          3  other day sure got my attention, you know, we never

          4  know how quickly things can change, and obviously

          5  this City is particularly vulnerable to changes in

          6  global finance.

          7                 So, we as public servants could

          8  assume the numbers could grow just as they could

          9  decline and be ready for either scenario. But if we

         10  use 300,000 as our working number for a moment,

         11  magnitude-wise you worked on the State level, I

         12  believe that's about the equivalent of the combined

         13  populations of Albany, Syracuse and Rochester, if my

         14  memory serves, I was lobbying for more Family Court

         15  judges the other day and the Mayor of Albany told me

         16  he had 100,000, I believe Syracuse and Rochester are

         17  similar. So, just to put in perspective for all of

         18  us, we're used to such huge numbers in everything we

         19  do in New York City, 300,000 people is a lot of

         20  people, anywhere else in the country it would be

         21  considered a lot of people, and you've put forward

         22  some ideas at what to do about it.

         23                 Let's delve into some of the

         24  specifics. First of all, talk about the federal

         25  barriers a little bit more. We have a change in
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          2  Washington that should cause, I think some greater

          3  sensitivity toward the situation trying to increase

          4  enrollment in food stamps. Not incidentally a number

          5  of New Yorkers have ended up in particularly

          6  important positions in the new Congress, there is a

          7  New Yorker who might be President soon, in fact.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Or two or three.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In my

         10  perspective there's only one. We may have a partisan

         11  difference on this point. But I think the question I

         12  have is how do we organize an effort to make sure

         13  that any greater flexibility or changes are

         14  appropriate can start to occur now or perhaps in the

         15  coming years?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, we have a

         17  great opportunity in that, because Governor Spitzer

         18  appointed David Hansel has the Commissioner of OTDA,

         19  and he is really very, very good at gathering

         20  together a case and making that case aggressively,

         21  in Washington or in Legislative body. He has already

         22  reached out to me and to the other county

         23  Commissioners to establish an agenda for change and

         24  unite us in an effort to go down in Washington and

         25  work on lessening the complexity of the application
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          2  process, particularly for working folks, and also

          3  for people who are on SSI.

          4                 And I think that's what we need to

          5  do. We need to take advantage of that opportunity.

          6  We need, at HRA we need to help and be supportive

          7  and I am, like you, hopeful about this, because I

          8  think there is a recognition that the program is

          9  very much a significant aid to working low-income

         10  Americans. So, I'm hopeful about it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And can you

         12  just give a little more sense about the time line as

         13  you see it, when action might be taken on the

         14  reauthorization?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't know

         16  actually. My understanding of it is, they are

         17  beginning discussions and it would go through this

         18  summer and into next fall, but I can get back to you

         19  on that and give you a summary of sort of the time

         20  line and the federal legislation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I'll say

         22  this to you now and we'll say it along the way on

         23  other things, I'm sure, you know, if there's any way

         24  we can help to create bipartisanship and all of us

         25  using our different relationships and to create
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          2  public energy around this, I'd certainly want to

          3  join you in that.

          4                 Now, I'm pleased that you're working

          5  to, or at least beginning to experiment with

          6  increased office hours. That's something we've been

          7  very concerned about for quite awhile here in the

          8  Council.

          9                 Do I understand you to say there is

         10  going to be five offices that will go from 6:00 p.m.

         11  to 7:00 p.m. one night a week; is that what you're

         12  saying?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes, but it's not

         14  all five on every night. It's offices in various

         15  boroughs on any given night being one more hour, but

         16  the other boroughs will not be. So, we're making

         17  extended hours available in every borough at least

         18  one night a week.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, so, and

         20  I'm just going to make sure we're clear, it's 6:00

         21  p.m. is the standard closing time now; is that

         22  right?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: In those five

         24  offices we're extending --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: To seven.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, it will be

          4  five offices around the City and one night a week

          5  they will go from six to seven.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          8                 Can you give us a cost on what it

          9  means to add that additional hour?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I cannot now give

         11  you a cost.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So now you're

         13  getting an introduction to one of our favorite

         14  processes, we will send you a letter.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, you don't

         16  have to send me a letter. I've got it. I know what

         17  you want.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If you do that,

         19  that would be very special to us. Normally we send a

         20  letter and then there is a lot of waiting. So we

         21  would really like to get into the habit of to the

         22  maximum extent possible an answer at the hearing, or

         23  an answer promptly after the hearing.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We don't really
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          2  like to send letters.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think I should

          4  say in evaluating this decision, it was our feeling

          5  that doing what we're doing now was something we

          6  could do with limited cost and personnel changes.

          7  Going beyond that may cross a line with regard to

          8  labor negotiations and cost. But I will look at that

          9  and let you know.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, that's

         11  helpful.

         12                 Now, since you raised the point about

         13  the workforce, you know, one of the things that's

         14  come up, obviously we all are very interested in

         15  improving the technology here, but a lot of times

         16  we've heard a valid concern from the folks who work

         17  in these offices, the technology is outdated right

         18  now, before we can talk about trying to bring it

         19  forward, you know, we've talked about faxing

         20  applications and people say there aren't enough fax

         21  machines, there are not enough good fax machines,

         22  not enough computers, so we are, I think, in the

         23  Council very interested in further improvement and

         24  technology but not, we don't want a situation where

         25  people are being asked to speed up and improve
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          2  processing and don't really have the equipment or

          3  the training. That's been another concern that, you

          4  know, equipment comes in but people aren't trained.

          5  Can you give us a sense of what's being done

          6  currently to improve the technology in the offices

          7  and the training of the workers there?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: My understanding

          9  is with regard to PCs, we have an annual kind of

         10  trade out or swap out process where certain PCs are

         11  replaced as they gauge.

         12                 This issue had come up at a previous

         13  hearing, as I understand it, and a renewed effort

         14  was made to make sure we're getting the tools and

         15  equipment out to centers that they need.

         16                 I've always been a big technology --

         17  I think the key to this is technology, so it's

         18  something that I will focus on. So, my sense is, but

         19  I haven't dealt as deeply as I should and will, is

         20  that we're making constant efforts to make sure that

         21  our workers have up-to-date equipment and tools, and

         22  to the extent that we fall short in particular

         23  offices, I want to know about it, and pursue it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just to make a

         25  numerical, it would be very helpful for us to
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          2  understand, and I'm just going to focus on the food

          3  stamp issue now --

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Of the

          6  front-line workers who interact with the public or

          7  process the food stamp application, so the folks who

          8  are absolutely necessary for an individual to get

          9  onto food stamps, could you quantify Citywide how

         10  many workers that is? And could you then give us a

         11  sense of what equipment is designated for those

         12  workers, in terms of the obvious computers and fax

         13  machines, so we can get a sense of if that is enough

         14  to accommodate the workforce? And could you also

         15  give us a sense of the modernization schedule for

         16  that equipment?

         17                 Again, I think we all have, whether

         18  it's the workers in the centers, HRA, the Council --

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I would like to

         20  point out that you can't have the kind of enrollment

         21  increase that the City has had, in both Medicaid and

         22  food stamps, without having quite a lot of

         23  technology in play. So, I think that's one point

         24  about the accomplishments. That doesn't just happen.

         25  There has been significant investments in technology
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          2  already. But I will --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: There's no

          4  question. Look, and I don't think there has been a

          5  single hearing where we haven't expressed real

          6  appreciation for the progress that's been made, but

          7  you know --

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I got it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You understand

         10  my job, I understand yours. I'm not going to be

         11  satisfied if we still think there are so many people

         12  outstanding. I'm going to ask what might be the

         13  cause of that. And I think you rightly point out,

         14  some of that may be individuals own choices and

         15  circumstances, some of it may be federal problems

         16  that we have to try and fix, but we don't control.

         17                 I think it's a simple operational

         18  principle to say we should try and fix everything we

         19  do control, and I respect when the folks who work

         20  there say the operation is not necessarily up to the

         21  point where they can do the job as best they would

         22  like to.

         23                 Okay, let's also talk on the food

         24  stamp front. Back on the office hour increases,

         25  which, again, I very much appreciate; is that being
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          2  treated as a pilot? Is that ongoing? What are you

          3  thinking there?

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, this is the

          5  sort of thing when you cross a line you try to go

          6  back. On the other hand, if the utilization of those

          7  extended hours is very, very weak, it would be

          8  something you would want to know about and what I

          9  would want to know about, and we'd have to evaluate.

         10                 But my expectation is that we will be

         11  evaluating it to see whether we need to go further,

         12  not whether we need to go backwards.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And just to

         14  frame this, before this action, the latest hour you

         15  have at any office has been 6:00; is that right?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And what

         18  is the situation --

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: And we had

         20  Saturday hours for many years.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Say again?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: We've had Saturday

         23  hours for many --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just to

         25  clarify, Saturday, not Sunday, correct?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: No, not Sunday.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the

          4  Saturday, what has been the rough time line on the

          5  Saturday hours where you've used it?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: 8:30 to 5:00.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: 8:30 to 5:00.

          8  And how many offices around the City?

          9                 That's current?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Five.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're allowed

         12  to talk, too, Pat. You have to introduce yourself

         13  first.

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I introduced her.

         15  Oh, yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, no, she has

         17  to so the record hears her voice.

         18                 8:30 to 5:00 at five offices around

         19  the City in five different boroughs, okay.

         20                 And that is a continuing schedule?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And you

         23  have found that to be successful as an experiment?

         24  The Saturday hours?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think it's more
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          2  than an experiment now.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

          4  Patricia Smith, First Deputy Commissioner.

          5                 We've had the Saturday hours and the

          6  6:00 hours for many, many years.

          7                 We have, usually, it's a less hectic

          8  day than the rest of the week, but it is helpful to

          9  those individuals, especially those individuals

         10  transitioning to work but other individuals. There

         11  is no restriction. One doesn't have to be working to

         12  come in on a Saturday, and we've had them for many

         13  years.

         14                 The newest addition to that, as you

         15  may recall, Council member, was in Staten Island

         16  because we had not had one and as you recall, your

         17  colleagues had a food stamp hearing on Staten

         18  Island.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We had a food

         20  stamp hearing on Staten Island. This Committee.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Oh,

         22  that's right. It was Council Member McMahon who was

         23  very much involved.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:
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          2  After that hearing we had increased the hours to the

          3  Staten Island Food Stamp Office as well, and we had

          4  them for many years, and while the shear number is

          5  not as large as the other days of the week, it is

          6  still a valuable thing, and we find it valuable, and

          7  our staff are scheduled for that, so the people who

          8  work on Saturdays, that's part of their regular

          9  routine schedule.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's great.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Another thing to

         12  point out is, the hours situation is if you're in

         13  before the closing time, the office remains open for

         14  another hour while the situation is processed. So

         15  that would be the case now, when the office will be

         16  open til 8:00 instead of 7:00.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, the doors

         18  for customers close at 7:00 but the work continues

         19  with those customers until they're finished?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, that's

         22  great.

         23                 Now, how are you notifying the public

         24  about this change so people know that they now have

         25  the option of seven in these areas?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: We're just

          3  announcing it now. We're just beginning to notify

          4  the public now, and I'm not exactly sure what kind

          5  of public outreach signs, materials to be printed,

          6  brochures - word will get out.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, I think as

          8  you'll experience, I know you're a native New

          9  Yorker, but, again, you come from the rarified air

         10  of Albany more recently. I think we are always

         11  conscious of the tree falling in the woods

         12  phenomenon, that you take a good public policy step,

         13  but if people don't hear about it, it doesn't work.

         14  And unfortunately we're all competing in this City

         15  to get messages out on so many issues.

         16                 So, I do think that a coordinated

         17  outreach campaign is crucial to the success of that.

         18                 Now, let me ask you just one or two

         19  more things on the food stamp front.

         20                 Since you understand better than

         21  anyone the dynamic of State regulations and the

         22  effect they have, as well as the federal rules

         23  around food stamps, what is your view on the role of

         24  fingerprinting in this process, and whether that

         25  should be reevaluated?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, I think that

          3  finger imaging has in the public assistance area

          4  broadly served to help us make sure that we're

          5  getting more integrity filled applications, as

          6  certainly it did in the beginning. It's now kind of

          7  a different world. I think I'm open to looking at it

          8  again, but it certainly served a good purpose when

          9  it was originally instituted. And my memory of the

         10  statistics in savings is that they were significant.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry, just

         12  repeat: Your memory of the statistics is?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Were significant.

         14  I can't recall what they were. This was some time

         15  ago when we used to produce annual numbers about

         16  savings. So, I haven't --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm sorry, when

         18  you say savings, you mean because of avoiding fraud.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Either avoiding

         20  fraud --  yes. People that were, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, I hear you

         22  saying that you are, what's the word I'm looking

         23  for? You're not saying there's no problems with

         24  fingerprinting but your initial position is you

         25  think it performs a valuable role?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes, that's what I

          3  would say. And it may be worthy of another look, but

          4  that's my position.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you think it

          6  has any chilling effect?

          7                 And I ask that, not because any of us

          8  is interested in avoiding checks and balances and

          9  accountability, we desperately need that, and we

         10  need it to constantly show the public that they're

         11  getting their money's worth on what we're investing

         12  in social services. At the same time, you know, the

         13  goal is to get food to people who need it, and I

         14  take a particular focus here on children who don't

         15  get to be decision-makers in all of this and so I

         16  would be very concerned if fingerprinting were

         17  causing families who were fully appropriately

         18  eligible to not be comfortable with the process, and

         19  then ultimately their children lost the opportunity

         20  to get the food that food stamps would bring; so

         21  what is your view on that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I would be

         23  concerned about it as well, but I think the numbers

         24  indicate that that is not the case. It may have been

         25  the case in the beginning, but clearly lots of
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          2  people have come to realize that it's not -- it

          3  shouldn't have a chilling effect to people who are

          4  appropriately eligible.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you have, or

          6  can you provide to us statistics that you mentioned

          7  a moment ago, what the history has been around

          8  assessing whether fingerprinting avoided fraud or

          9  what the fraud problem has been in general around

         10  food stamps, that would be very helpful to us.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Sure. We would

         12  look to the State for some guidance on that because

         13  they do gather information on that, but I'd be happy

         14  to see what we could find.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right, I

         16  better move to a few other areas. We've been joined

         17  by our colleague, Council Member Gale Brewer, and

         18  after she throws her warm-up pitches, she will

         19  certainly have tough questions for you.

         20                 Come on, let us burnish your

         21  reputation here a little bit, Gale.

         22                 Let's go to a similar question in

         23  terms of the impact of State rules. I think you know

         24  better than anyone that there has been tremendous

         25  concern about the requirements in terms of getting
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          2  child care and interaction with child support and

          3  the concerns raised that perhaps women in particular

          4  are not able to access child care appropriately and

          5  subsidize child care because of requirements around

          6  child support that ironically are anything but their

          7  fault. I know the requirements not being met in a

          8  particular case have nothing to do with the good

          9  effort of the women, it has to do in most cases with

         10  the man who is not being accountable and yet the

         11  woman and child are penalized if they cannot

         12  subsidize child care.

         13                 Can you speak to that and what your

         14  position might be on that and what you think could

         15  be done to try and address that problem?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, my concern

         17  about child care is more about the availability of

         18  funding than about this particular process.

         19                 I had hoped and I had expected that

         20  with the implementation of that policy which came

         21  from the State that the evidence that the custodial

         22  parent needed to show indicated they were seeking

         23  child support or in the process of seeking child

         24  support or had sought child support, was not

         25  difficult to present.
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          2                 My understanding is that in the case

          3  of an absent parent, if someone is applying for

          4  child care, and they do not -- and there is an

          5  absent parent and they have not sought child

          6  support, do not have a child support order, they

          7  could fill out the form and apply for child support

          8  services with the child support program in that

          9  area, and that's free, and that's a fairly simple

         10  process to begin the child -- it's not that you have

         11  to get child support, because that is difficult, and

         12  that is beyond the means of the person we're talking

         13  about, it's that you have to seek it, and sometimes

         14  there's a difference. So, that was my understanding

         15  of it, and I'm familiar with that issue from the

         16  State perspective and from our perspective I will

         17  look at it as well. I certainly do not want it to

         18  become a barrier for folks who are in work and are

         19  trying to take care of their children. But on the

         20  other hand, I also believe that parents who have

         21  children, the absent parent should have some

         22  responsibility and help care for them. And if

         23  they're completely absent, and not around, we ought

         24  to be trying to help that custodial mom get that

         25  additional help.
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          2                 The statistics I showed, child

          3  support collections are a very, very effective way

          4  to help low-income families, and they're doing that.

          5  It does that in big numbers, and I want to make sure

          6  that opportunity is available to folks.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well,

          8  obviously, we all would love to see perfect

          9  collection of child support. As a parent of two

         10  children it drives me crazy to think that a father

         11  would not fulfill their responsibility, and I think

         12  it's absolutely right that there should be maximum

         13  pressure, and accountability measures on that

         14  father.

         15                 My problem is not with that. My

         16  problem is a combination of things. First of all, I

         17  understand some other localities around the State

         18  and counties around the State have been so concerned

         19  about this problem that they've actually sought

         20  waivers. I don't know if I got my facts straight,

         21  but --

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't know.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But I do think

         24  the issue is not quite as straight forward as you

         25  portrayed a moment ago because I think the problem
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          2  is the minute many women have to end up in a

          3  confrontational dynamic with the father of their

          4  children, that I think it starts to take us away

          5  from the concept of getting the child care so that a

          6  woman can move toward self-sufficiency and the kids

          7  can benefit from child care.

          8                 I think there has been ample evidence

          9  and a lot of the front-line providers have raised

         10  this to our attention, that you are throwing an

         11  interesting curve ball into the equation when you

         12  require the woman to have to start what the male

         13  will see as a conflictual (sic) process.

         14                 Now, I'm not saying idealistically

         15  that that shouldn't all proceed, I'm saying

         16  realistically is that not a concern.

         17                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: It's a concern,

         18  but I think there's also domestic violence waivers

         19  for this process, so if that's really the concern

         20  that can be pursued, and the other matter that needs

         21  to be taken into account is one of equity. We have

         22  folks who are reporting contributions from the

         23  absent parent, and therefore are not eligible for

         24  the child care subsidy, and they in some way are

         25  sort of left out of the child care assistance, while

                                                            51

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  folks who may or may not be getting assistance from

          3  a non-custodial parent are avoiding that, and I

          4  think that that's a concern to.

          5                 I mean, there are families with

          6  different circumstances who are trying to get what

          7  they can to make their situation better, and I don't

          8  think you want to say to folks who are doing what

          9  they can to get contributions from the absent

         10  parent, that someone else who is not making any

         11  effort is able to be in a better position with child

         12  care than them.

         13                 So, my answer to your question is, on

         14  the violent, or the potential violent or difficult

         15  confrontational aspect, my understanding of that reg

         16  is that there is a DV exception, and a DV opt out,

         17  and we would want to make sure that was in play, and

         18  make clear that it's available to people and make

         19  clear that the agencies that are administering the

         20  program are doing so in the proper way.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I, again,

         22  respect the logic of your answers. I still fear, and

         23  who could disagree with a notion that, you know, if

         24  one person sees someone else, you know, dealing with

         25  a different process than they dealing with, it might
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          2  be a disincentive, I understand that. But I'm still

          3  going back to the end result, which is, you know, we

          4  need these women to get the child care so they can

          5  move toward self-sufficiency and we need the benefit

          6  the child care brings to the child.

          7                 I think it's crucial that you look at

          8  the numerical dynamic here. I think it's critical,

          9  because we've had these concerns raised by

         10  providers. I think we both should be looking at how

         11  extensive a problem it is, and if there is some

         12  middle ground that is not a DV waiver, which is

         13  obviously the more extreme cases, but some other

         14  type of waiver where there is legitimate concern on

         15  the part of the woman that's starting, obviously,

         16  you know, easily interpreted it as a conflictual

         17  dynamic where the man could have all sorts of

         18  negative ramifications for a life, whether it's

         19  violence or others.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't want

         21  anybody to take this wrong, but with different

         22  positions we have different perspectives, and I'm

         23  happy to look at that again.

         24                 I did want to come back to the first

         25  point I made about child care, and that is that my
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          2  feeling has been for some time is the child care is

          3  underfunded and that we need more dollars involved.

          4  And that, unfortunately, plays into this discussion

          5  because with limited funds there is a desire to make

          6  sure that those who are most in need get it. And if

          7  you have a circumstance where someone is in a

          8  household where there is a contribution but not

          9  reported or not quantified from the absent parent as

         10  there should be, while someone who clearly doesn't

         11  have it, and that takes up dollars that could have

         12  been used for people really in need. That's a

         13  problem. That's a concern. But I will look at it

         14  from this perspective. I understand the concern, and

         15  I will see what the state has to say.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

         17  that. And just one final note on that: I think there

         18  is also a time dynamic that should be looked at in

         19  that type of situation, because obviously, we have

         20  been concerned that it adds another step to the

         21  process.

         22                 I appreciate you saying you just have

         23  to start the application, but I do worry about the

         24  complexity it adds to a process that is not easy to

         25  begin with.
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          2                 So, I wanted to note that. I think

          3  it's something we can follow up with you on in

          4  subsequent hearings. So, I just want to put you on

          5  alert on that.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay. I do just

          7  want to make sure that the audience understands that

          8  is a State reg.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         10                 And by the way, I think it's our

         11  mutual jobs to identify when the problem is a State

         12  reg to identify whether (a) there is a waiver that

         13  makes sense --

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Right, absolutely.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Or whether we

         16  all have to work together to get that regulation

         17  changed, especially in such a new dynamic in Albany.

         18                 I want to move to TANF for a moment.

         19  I appreciate, and I have to say your predecessor,

         20  Commissioner Eggleston, raised I thought this point

         21  very honestly and fairly over a series of hearings

         22  leading up to the TANF reauthorization, just how

         23  difficult the new federal actions were going to be

         24  for New York City, and in effect talk about

         25  punishing a City that has done so many things right,
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          2  and I know everyone from the Mayor on down worked on

          3  trying to bring some reason to that process.

          4                 Now, again, it's a new day in

          5  Washington, so I'd be interested to know what

          6  flexibility might exist at this point.

          7                 Now, I just want to zero in, one of

          8  the points you raised in your testimony was the role

          9  of child care. I guess it raises a question to me

         10  that if one of your big challenges in meeting the

         11  participation rate, and I'm going to look at your

         12  testimony here on page five, you're acknowledging

         13  one of the primary challenges you're facing is

         14  meeting the participation rate due to not having

         15  recipients engaged in child care, and that's very

         16  understandable that that would be an impediment to

         17  the ability of moving a recipient on a path towards

         18  work that would meet, that's at the bottom of page

         19  five, that would meet the new federal requirements.

         20                 So, I had a sort of cost benefit

         21  question: I mean, therefore, if federal sanctions

         22  are looming, my memory from previous hearings is

         23  several hundred million dollars is the potential

         24  range of the federal sanctions, I don't know if I've

         25  got that right. Let me ask in some sequential -- I'm
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          2  not a lawyer, so I don't ask things in sequence.

          3  What is the total potential negative impact of

          4  federal sanctions in dollar terms?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, we had it in

          6  an earlier draft of the testimony but it got a

          7  little long. I think it's somewhat more than $200

          8  million Statewide, and then because we may be, the

          9  State I think has the authority to pass on a

         10  sanction to the areas and we're by far the largest,

         11  it's more than $100 million in reduction in TANF

         12  grants.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Per year?

         14                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Per year, in the

         15  year, yes.

         16                 And I wanted to just give you an

         17  illustration of how serious this matter is, at the

         18  end of the fiscal year in September, the City of New

         19  York was at about 44 percent, a little more than 44

         20  percent were participation rate, under the rules as

         21  they existed last year. And with the caseload

         22  reduction credit that exists as part of the deficit

         23  reduction act, we would have I think not made it as

         24  a state, and we would have been one of the leaders

         25  in the State. But after that date is when the
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          2  implementation of the new rules took place, and

          3  we're now down to something like 36 percent, given

          4  the new rules. So, we've just been knocked out of

          5  the box.

          6                 Now, we believe we can keep lots of

          7  efforts and keep at it and work at it and get back.

          8  The City has clearly accomplished great things,

          9  things that no one thought it could accomplish

         10  before in a whole array of areas, and that's the

         11  spirit we're going to go at it. But the rules have

         12  really hurt us, the rule changes have hurt us.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, let me stay

         14  on the sanction piece and the child care piece, and

         15  I didn't want to go to what we can do federally

         16  together hopefully. Using your polite term

         17  illustrate, I will illustrate now that $100 million

         18  a year, could be even more in fact, because of our

         19  proportional share of the cases in the State, is 1

         20  billion dollars in the course of ten years or

         21  substantially more potentially.

         22                 So, that's a huge financial impact.

         23  So, my question is, given your honesty about the

         24  challenge and your predecessor's honesty about the

         25  challenge, is there an argument now to sort of
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          2  preemptively invest in more child care?

          3                 I have been very pleased that this

          4  Administration in general has been focused on child

          5  care. I think more than any previous administration.

          6  And one of the great areas of cooperation between

          7  the Council and the Mayor has been an increasing

          8  amount of subsidized child care. But that was to

          9  address people's needs and help people toward

         10  self-sufficiency just as a positive goal.

         11                 Now we have a sword hanging over us

         12  of a potential sanction. Does it make sense for us

         13  to think about investing more in child care? Because

         14  as you said, the supply is quite limited, to up that

         15  participation rate and avoid sanctions?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't know that

         17  that investment alone would do it, necessarily,

         18  unless we did a whole lot of other very important

         19  things, too, and we got some relief on some of the

         20  rules.

         21                 So, that would be one reason why I

         22  would want you to lower expectations on that. I'm

         23  not sure the child care alone would do it.

         24                 Secondly, the federal government, the

         25  United States Senate passed, when they did TANF
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          2  reauthorization, a very large increase in federal

          3  child care subsidies of something like $6 billion,

          4  and that was a good sign. Now, the ultimate bill did

          5  not have that increase.

          6                 My view has always been that we need

          7  to be careful about rushing in to solve a fiscal

          8  problem when I think the federal or the State

          9  government could help us first.

         10                 So, I wouldn't want you to take from

         11  this conversation that I felt that increasing child

         12  care would do the trick.

         13                 On the other hand, I think I said

         14  earlier, I think child care should be more

         15  significantly funded, but I think it should be done

         16  by the federal government, as they were about to do,

         17  and I do think there is some hope they could come

         18  back to the table on that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I agree with

         20  you there is some hope, and that was one of the few

         21  bright points in the federal debate.

         22                 I will caution, and we held hearings

         23  some years ago here, there has been a rather

         24  consistent and very troubling pattern around the

         25  country of child care funding being authorized and
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          2  then the money being supplanted by localities, and

          3  that's true of State funding as well. There clearly

          4  was over the last year, last decade, money from the

          5  federal and State level that was targeted for an

          6  increasing number of child care seats in New York

          7  City and elsewhere, and that money did not result in

          8  a significant increase in those seats because the

          9  money went into agencies and was used for other

         10  purposes, and I would just caution that I'm worried

         11  that's going to happen again.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I agree with you.

         13  I need to doublecheck this, but my understanding in

         14  the way in which child care dollars are spent is

         15  that it has to go first to people that are on cash

         16  assistance, and so you might -- and that's good, but

         17  increases, we already are covering the people on

         18  cash assistance with child care dollars. That's

         19  being taken care of. The increase would go to

         20  allowing folks to stay off of cash longer or more

         21  consistently because they had child care available

         22  to them.

         23                 So, I just need you to be aware of

         24  that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Do you have a
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          2  particular numerical assumption about what the new

          3  federal money will mean for New York City in terms

          4  of the number of children that can be served?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, no, they

          6  didn't give us the new federal money, so, I don't

          7  know. I'd have to look at that.

          8                 See, I remember when the $6 billion

          9  passed, I looked at what that would mean for New

         10  York State and it would have been very helpful, but

         11  I don't remember what it was.

         12                 I also want to say, if I may, and

         13  that is that I'm not yet ready to concede that we

         14  won't be able, with a combination of all the things

         15  that we're doing, to make the participation rate

         16  and/or avoid penalties. The combination, maybe there

         17  will be some rule changes, some recognition of the

         18  complexity of the problem, I'm not yet ready to

         19  concede that we won't yet be able to achieve the

         20  percentage.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Look, no one is

         22  asking you to bargain against yourself either.

         23                 The first thing we would like to see

         24  is some justice in the federal process to recognize

         25  our reality and reward our progress. So, no one is
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          2  saying that isn't the first piece of this effort.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I do think, if

          5  you were just thinking in business terms, if you saw

          6  a potential penalty looming, you know, there are

          7  various ways to avert that. And asking for relief

          8  from the regulatory entity is a great way to do it,

          9  and the best way to do it, but there's no

         10  guarantees. You know, I think, again, we want to

         11  find out anything we can do to help you on that.

         12  Because it's a matter of, you know, every New Yorker

         13  to share this view, it's not about ideology or

         14  party, it is unfair to New York.

         15                 But I do think, to the credit of this

         16  Mayor, he has often recognized that some things were

         17  beyond the ability of the City of New York to

         18  convince the federal and State government to provide

         19  appropriate support.

         20                 You know, everyone knows about our

         21  imbalance of payments to the two governments, and so

         22  sometimes we've had to take matters into our own

         23  hands, and you've seen that with housing issues,

         24  you've seen that with other issues.

         25                 I would just suggest there should be
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          2  a contingency plan that if you're not getting

          3  federal relief, we might be hitting that point and

          4  getting those sanctions, is there a possible

          5  investment in child care that is a better use of

          6  dollars than paying those sanctions. That's what I'm

          7  asking. Variation on preventative services. You

          8  know, it would be a different kind of preventative

          9  spending to not have to pay the sanction.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And just to

         12  finish on that, of course, we would really welcome a

         13  sense of how we could work together on the federal

         14  front.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm just going

         17  to bring up a few -- I want to welcome Council

         18  Member Diana Reyna, who has been the most outspoken

         19  supporter of child care spending in the City

         20  Council, and, Commissioner, do what she says or bad

         21  things will happen to you.

         22                 It was not a physical threat, my

         23  lawyer just advised me that it should not appear to

         24  be a physical threat.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: It wasn't taken
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          2  that way.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's right.

          4                 I also should note at this point, we

          5  are not joined today by Council Member Jessica

          6  Lappin, because she just gave birth to a baby and is

          7  on maternity leave, but she'll be back with us soon.

          8                 Let me turn your attention to the

          9  WeCARE program, and, again, my colleagues will let

         10  me know when they have questions.

         11                 You do have a question?

         12                 Before I turn my attention to the

         13  WeCARE program, let me turn my attention to Council

         14  Member Gale Brewer.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

         16  can also wait, Chairman. But I'll start and then

         17  maybe come back to other questions.

         18                 First of all, there is a huge thank

         19  you, which I think Seth Diamond knows about, but the

         20  issue of homeless prevention eviction is, you have a

         21  great staff and they're doing a great job, the issue

         22  is that within a couple of cases, I think it was

         23  Mark Nixon (phonetic) who referred us to Ms.

         24  Thompson who is in your Housing Court, Ms. Thompson

         25  is wonderful.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And the fact

          4  of the matter is, two people who were dealing with

          5  marshals are now back in their apartments, thanks to

          6  the one-shots by HRA and very good counseling from

          7  your staff.

          8                 I hope that that's noted, and I say

          9  thank you.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, one of my

         12  questions is, since that is such a good process,

         13  then how many people, and, again, this is something

         14  maybe not to be answered, it's a question to think

         15  about, are there people in the clientele of the

         16  Department of Homeless Services who might not be

         17  there if, in fact, they had more support because

         18  maybe they didn't know about how great your services

         19  are.

         20                 How do you coordinate on this issue?

         21  And is there more funding needed to staff up what I

         22  consider homeless prevention?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think we

         24  coordinate pretty well with DHS, although I think

         25  there is room for improvement. The FEPS Program, the
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          2  Eviction Protection Program, is a very good program.

          3  I'm glad you mentioned it. And it does, is dependent

          4  on I think contractors who are in the Housing Courts

          5  and see the eviction happening, ensuring people are

          6  aware of what the program can offer.

          7                 I will take your suggestion very

          8  seriously and look at how we can ensure that that is

          9  perceived. And we also have staff at DHS Emergency

         10  Assistance Unit, who are very knowledgeable about

         11  FEPS, so when people come there, at that point  it

         12  may be too late. But when people come there who have

         13  an eviction issue, we can see if FEPS is

         14  appropriate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I mean, I

         16  think you know this, but there are so many different

         17  pieces. There's convincing the judge, which I was

         18  quite eloquent at doing. And then there is the issue

         19  of third party. You know, there are so many pieces

         20  that go into prevention. Sometimes it needs an extra

         21  push.

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And, so, all

         24  I'm saying is we're all willing to help because

         25  there is nothing we want more than people to keep
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          2  their apartments. But I think that anything you can

          3  do to aid, you know, put some highlight on it in

          4  terms of the great work that they do, and at the

          5  same time, I assume it's cost effective in the sense

          6  that even though there is an up-front one-time cost,

          7  there is a long-term benefit in terms of people

          8  remaining.

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: We believe that

         10  the FEPS program does save.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Well, I

         12  am just saying, you know, maybe people should be --

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I appreciate that

         14  very much. And we will look into that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And every

         16  elected official should be sent, every community

         17  board, there should be more outreach to say this is

         18  the process, because when people get to DHS,

         19  sometimes it's too late. You don't have to go to

         20  DHS, you don't have to go to the courts, you can

         21  actually initiate a discussion with your office that

         22  then prevents homelessness.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And I'm just

         25  saying, is that point of entry, which I think is
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          2  your favorite term in your testimony here, point of

          3  entry or --

          4                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes, that's a very

          5  good suggestion.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Point of entry

          7  or, you know.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes, that's a very

          9  good suggestion.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Then you could

         11  in fact tell us. I just think they're great.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Number two is,

         14  you probably know I chair the Technology Committee,

         15  because I heard you speak quite eloquently at a

         16  discussion on this topic of technology, and my

         17  question is two-fold: One is, I know you mentioned

         18  some of the paper programs that you're doing with

         19  the food stamp office, so I was just wondering if

         20  you could elaborate a little bit more. I know you

         21  mentioned there is some other sites, and I wanted to

         22  know what the time line is on that?

         23                 And then a very specific question on

         24  the scheduling of appointments. I know that when I

         25  speak to Doreen Wohl, who is well-known to everybody
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          2  in the City as the preeminent food pantry operator.

          3                 She indicates that when you are able

          4  with her particular location on West 86th Street to

          5  make appointments on a scheduled time, people then

          6  signed up for food stamps, the notion of waiting is

          7  not what anybody desire and some people didn't go.

          8                 So, the question is: What is the sort

          9  of paperless way that not just your sites but all

         10  non-profits could work from Food Change to the

         11  sites, to do a paperless scheduling of food stamp

         12  appointments? Or is that being done now?

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, that's what

         14  we're testing. That's what the project is about,

         15  making sure that we have community-based

         16  organizations that can take the application and the

         17  documents, image scan them into the system to the

         18  offices and schedule an appointment. And we're very

         19  excited about that. We think it's got a great

         20  potential for improvement and we want to make it

         21  work successfully, and then it seems to me we will

         22  have made an argument on why we should expand it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, what

         24  you're saying is the food stamp offices will do

         25  that, but if a Food Change staff member is in the
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          2  field with his or her laptop, would they be able to

          3  do the same, or is it only going to be coming from

          4  offices in terms of schedule?

          5                 In other words, when your pilot is

          6  done and effective, because I'm sure it will be,

          7  skip the pilot and just go forward, then would it be

          8  Citywide? Would every non-profit --

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Let me just, I

         10  think you have to go, I don't want to commit to

         11  that. First of all, particularly when you say in the

         12  field and with a laptop, I think that may be

         13  something I'm not prepared to say we can necessarily

         14  do, but if it is successful, and we can make the

         15  technology work, which we think we can, and we can

         16  concerns the federal government may have, because

         17  they are a participant and an overseer of this

         18  program, it is something we're very excited about

         19  expanding, so that we can take applications, take

         20  the documents, image them into the offices and

         21  schedule an appointment.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         23                 Just generally on the capital side, I

         24  think you have a 9.9 million dollar proposal for

         25  data processing and technology and this represents
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          2  53 percent more, 53 percent of your $185 million

          3  ten-year capital plan.

          4                 So, I'm just wondering if you can

          5  talk a little bit about some of your other

          6  technology efforts that you're making.

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: That I could not

          8  do. I'm sorry, but could I get back to you on that?

          9  I'm not able to go through each of those at this

         10  point, but I would like to.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. The

         12  Chair hasn't talked about adult protective services.

         13  I was just wondering if you could talk about the

         14  increase that you're proposing. And, again, I think

         15  the more that we can do on APS is better. We have

         16  many, many clients calling and that's a frequent

         17  complaint, is the inability to get, I have to say,

         18  APS caseworkers and enough in-depth discussion with

         19  the client and the caseworker. I'm sure it's a

         20  shortage of staff.

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, you're

         22  right, and that was something very much on my mind,

         23  we have sought and are pushing through, increased

         24  staffing, and it is a growing problem, not only in

         25  New York City but around the country and it's
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          2  something I'm going to be focusing on.

          3                 But right now we need a little

          4  additional resources.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do you have

          6  any sense of how many, seven more caseworkers and

          7  supervisors, how many more families or units or

          8  households you would be able to serve?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't know off

         10  the top of my head, but I do believe it would allow

         11  us to get in compliance with the rules concerning

         12  the caseworker to client ratio, and that's

         13  important.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. Thank

         15  you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just want to,

         17  Commissioner, pick up on the point that Council

         18  Member Brewer was raising on food stamps, and then I

         19  want to talk to you about WeCARE.

         20                 So, again, so we're waiting to see

         21  how the pilots turn out, et cetera, but let me talk

         22  about vision here.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOER: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Where do we

         25  want to go? What's our ultimate goal, pending
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          2  reality check.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOER: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Pending reality

          5  check, am I obvious? I've used an example of the

          6  predecessor, I'll use it with you. Can we get to the

          7  day where you can apply for food stamps the same way

          8  you can buy a plane ticket on an international

          9  flight?

         10                 Again, understanding --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOER: I --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Hold on. Hold

         13  on. I know you're raring to go. I understand the

         14  information must be verifiable, understanding some

         15  of the original documents, et cetera, but can we get

         16  to the day where it's not just with facilitation at

         17  a food pantry or in a non-profit, but literally from

         18  your home, from your public library, or whatever,

         19  you can electronically initiate the application

         20  process?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOER: The vision that I

         22  have had at the State and when I was at the State

         23  level, and the one that I bring to the City, is one

         24  where the ease of access is as easy as possible for

         25  working New Yorkers. And if that involves getting to
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          2  a technological world where they can do that from

          3  their home, then that would be great with me.

          4                 I want it to be easy and accessible,

          5  but it also has to be consistent with federal rules

          6  and with our ability to verify status, employment,

          7  earnings, so that we are staying within the federal

          8  rules, given the fact that food stamp is 100 percent

          9  funded, federal funded program. Absolutely. There is

         10  no reason why we shouldn't maximize the use of

         11  technology.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Part of my deep

         13  feeling for this issue, after thinking about the

         14  needs of people and children who are hungry, is the

         15  desire to just get every federal dollar we can for

         16  the City of New York. So, I hear you loud and clear.

         17  We would never want to jeopardize that, but I have

         18  real energy to get those rightfully earned several

         19  dollars here into our City. So, let me ask it one

         20  other way. I appreciate your answer. I find it

         21  refreshing. Is there any planning, any set of goals,

         22  or time lines about how to make those future steps

         23  towards the ability of an individual to apply

         24  on-line?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: There is
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          2  definitely planning, and there is a lot of activity.

          3  I mean, if you add Access New York and 311, the

          4  effort of Deputy Mayor Gibbs and her staff, and

          5  DoITT's staff and our staff and DoITT's staff and

          6  our staff on POS and with our partners in the

          7  not-for-profit community, there is planning and

          8  there is also activity. We're not just planning,

          9  we're making efforts to push it forward. I can't

         10  give you a time line today, it's something I will be

         11  focused on and I will be happy to report back to you

         12  on on progress.

         13                 But you know, with technology

         14  sometimes time lines and deadlines can be painful,

         15  because if you rush too fast, you know, I was at the

         16  State during the Connections issue, and it was very

         17  much driven by a deadline, and I would never want to

         18  see that happen either.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I respect

         20  that concern. I do think that the next time we raise

         21  the issue, which at latest would be the May budget

         22  hearing, if you have some sense of a little bit more

         23  specific sense of how to play it out, that will be

         24  real helpful.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Right. And just to
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          2  be clear, when we're talking about this, because the

          3  programs are different, we're not talking about cash

          4  assistance, because that has a much different

          5  requirement, involving engagement and work

          6  participation.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, we're

          8  talking about food stamps only in this discussion

          9  right now.

         10                 Let me move you to WeCARE. As you

         11  know, I participated in the press conference

         12  recently on this topic, issues raised by Community

         13  Voices Heard. You know, I think the first and most

         14  obvious concern is has, given the significant

         15  investment in WeCARE, and again, I'm sure it's a

         16  well-intentioned program, but the relatively few

         17  people have ended up on SSI and the relatively few

         18  people have ended up in jobs, are we getting enough

         19  impact for the dollars we're spending? And can you

         20  give us a sense of why those numbers are so low?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I think there are

         22  some mid-course corrections that need to be made in

         23  WeCARE. I think that it's big, it was ambitious, it

         24  certainly was well-intentioned and it's the right

         25  thing to do. But I definitely think that we need to
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          2  improve our performance measures in that program,

          3  and on both those fronts. Although, I will say that

          4  from the first year to the second year, a very

          5  interesting statistic is that WeCARE applications

          6  that got approved by the federal government for

          7  disability benefits, SSI benefits, rose by three

          8  times in the second year. So, they have made

          9  improvements. And we are getting better at that. But

         10  I did read the report and I talked to the people

         11  from Community Voices Heard and I've looked at some

         12  of the produced staff level, produced evaluation and

         13  monitoring tools, and I think that it does have the

         14  aspects of something very large, very big, very

         15  ambitious, that like anything like that is going to

         16  have some things that can be improved in the coming

         17  year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I don't know if

         19  you have it today, but, again, this might be another

         20  item because this is your first time here as

         21  Commissioner that we would want to get a more

         22  specific answer by May, but I think another concern

         23  is just where did all that money go? That's a lot of

         24  spending.

         25                 If the results in terms of people on
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          2  SSI and people in jobs were much higher, you would

          3  say, okay, that makes sense. Or if there had been

          4  some clear numerical measures that gave us a sense

          5  of why more couldn't happen and why that expenditure

          6  was building some infrastructure for the future, but

          7  I think there has been a general sense of we don't

          8  have a lot of numerical measures on what that money

          9  was achieving. And I think it was a concern there.

         10  Do you have anything in the way of that?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I will look at

         12  that and evaluate that.

         13                 I do want to say the only two

         14  measures of success are not SSI and jobs. We're

         15  dealing with, by definition WeCARE deals with a

         16  difficult population, a population with serious

         17  issues, and it may not be realistic to say that 100

         18  percent, either it should go all SSI or all jobs,

         19  and I think we need to talk about health care

         20  accomplishments or achievements. Because I think

         21  Commissioner Eggleston's original vision was as much

         22  motivated by the fact that people were being

         23  identified as having health issues, and they weren't

         24  being resolved, and I think that's a part that we

         25  really have to focus on as well.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think that's

          3  a fair point. You know, again, maybe there's a

          4  little bit of mystery here, it would be great, and

          5  if you can answer this one today it would be very

          6  helpful, if you can follow up with this, we

          7  understand that some folks are not going to be ready

          8  for work, I'm assuming a lot of folks do qualify for

          9  SSI, I would think a very significant percentage of

         10  population by definition qualify.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Councilman, I hate

         12  to disagree with you on that but I had this

         13  experience at the State level. The SSI approval rate

         14  for all cases is 50 percent or less. A lot of people

         15  who have serious health care issues, do not qualify

         16  for SSI disability. It's just a fact of that

         17  program.

         18                 Now, there are problems with that

         19  program, and there are time frame issues about how

         20  they process applications, but their standard for

         21  evaluating a qualified medical condition is quite

         22  stringent. And, so, we have a situation where we

         23  have a program that's intended to help people with

         24  health care problems, that doesn't help a lot of

         25  people with health care problems because they don't
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          2  meet that stringent standard, and that's where we're

          3  trying to come in.

          4                 So, I just need to say that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I just

          6  need to say that, but I'm sorry, you're own

          7  testimony suggests on page five at the top, 9,703

          8  federal disability applications, 2,433 awarded. So,

          9  that's hovering around 25 percent. So, if fewer than

         10  50 percent is the normal standard --

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: They are awarded

         12  as of now, they are still pending. Some of them are

         13  still pending.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I'm

         15  assuming new ones are being added every day.

         16                 So, I'm just saying, again, you know

         17  what would help us, Commissioner, and if you have it

         18  now, great, if you can get it to us in the coming

         19  days, great, we'll certainly be coming back on this

         20  in May, is if we were given the sense of the

         21  universe of folks who HRA believed qualified, you

         22  know, are relevant applicants for SSI, and this many

         23  got awarded it, and if it were lower than expected,

         24  why? What's missing here? And the same, obviously on

         25  the job placement one, because, again, I believe
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          2  it's under 2,000 have received job placements. And

          3  what I have numerically is that HRA over time has

          4  referred over 100,000 people to WeCARE.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I'm concerned

          6  about that as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Hmmm?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Those are

          9  referrals, yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Referrals. And

         11  you said that, I think you said you're engaging

         12  24,000 now.

         13                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: On any given day.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: On any given

         15  day.

         16                 So, you know, if you're starting -- I

         17  just think it would be very helpful to all of us to

         18  get a single set of numbers coming from you so that

         19  we're all engaging in this debate from the same

         20  starting point, but if over 100,000 have been

         21  engaged in just about two years of the program's

         22  existence, and that has resulted only a few thousand

         23  on SSI and a few thousand in jobs, then the question

         24  is, what's wrong with the use of money? How can we

         25  improve it? Do we need to go a different direction?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't disagree.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          4                 Now, one other point, and this is a

          5  particular concern, just on a common-sense level,

          6  and bureaucracies are bureaucracies, but some of the

          7  folks at the press conference I went to felt

          8  strongly that they were required to go and see

          9  doctors for evaluation that they had not previously

         10  had experience with and they were very brief and we

         11  all understand and social services, unfortunately,

         12  the press of caseload and all, it doesn't shock me a

         13  doctor doing an evaluation would not spend a lot of

         14  time, but what was even more troubling was that all

         15  the previous experience and the records and the

         16  information that doctors who had worked with these

         17  clients over a period of time could provide these

         18  clients had no evidence that was coming into play in

         19  a coherent manner.

         20                 Could you speak to that?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: It troubled me,

         22  too, in evaluating -- in looking at the report. It

         23  seemed to me that if the proper medical practice

         24  would be to take into account previous medical

         25  appointments, previous medical engagements, and I
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          2  think that there may have been less than

          3  satisfactory review of those previous things.

          4                 It's not the theory of WeCARE,

          5  though, or the rule of WeCARE, or anything about the

          6  procedures of WeCARE, that the doctors who see folks

          7  totally ignore and start fresh and ignore previous

          8  interaction with health care workers. So, we're

          9  addressing that. I think that that is -- we don't

         10  want that to be conveyed. The doctors are supposed

         11  to evaluate the previously generated records, and we

         12  are supposed to receive them, and that's the

         13  intention of the program.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I appreciate

         15  that, and we'll follow-up with you on that, but I'm

         16  pleased to hear that you're going to take action on

         17  that front.

         18                 Somewhat similar, very briefly, on

         19  back to work.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: But I need to just

         21  say one more thing on that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, please.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: The previous

         24  evaluations and medical evaluations are not

         25  controlling. That's another factor. Maybe folks who
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          2  were concerned about this is they felt, well, the

          3  previous doctor said A and you're not saying A,

          4  you're not agreeing with A, and that may happen.

          5                 In other words, they can evaluate and

          6  look at and consider, but they may not reach the

          7  same conclusion, due to the passage of time, and

          8  changes in people's health care situations.

          9                 So, I just want to not be

         10  misunderstood, that it's not -- they must be taken

         11  into account, they must be considered, they must be

         12  given weight, but they cannot be necessarily

         13  determined to be determinative.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think if you

         15  solve that problem in terms of making sure the

         16  information is truly gathered and evaluated, that's

         17  one part of the puzzle.

         18                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Your

         20  qualification is a fair one, but it puts additional

         21  weight on the question of a doctor spending

         22  sufficient time to do, if they're going to really

         23  look at people, you know, at that moment that

         24  they're spending enough time truly evaluating the

         25  person, and looking at the background.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Just quickly on

          4  back to work. The similar question, I mean I think

          5  you've made clear in your testimony that a lot of

          6  those who are most employable became employed,

          7  either hopefully permanently or substantially, you

          8  know, a long time ago, and each year, as the public

          9  assistance caseload gets smaller, which is a very

         10  good thing, you're dealing with a lot of folks who

         11  are dealing with a lot of challenges. So, we've

         12  established that.

         13                 On the other hand, with back to work,

         14  my understanding is in about nine month's or so

         15  time, you've placed -- the program has placed 6,100

         16  people in jobs, that, again, seems fairly low in

         17  light of the overall caseload, and I'm trying to

         18  understand where that fits against your goals. Is

         19  that on target? Is that off target? I mean, what is

         20  your sense of how many people should be placed in

         21  jobs annually through back to work?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't know what

         23  the goal is. I don't know it off the top of my head.

         24  I'd have to look at that.

         25                 So, I want to go evaluate that. I
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          2  thought the number was a little low, too. But it

          3  doesn't include, I don't think, all those people who

          4  are on assistance who leave assistance for

          5  employment, which is a different matter, because

          6  lots of people, whether placed by Back to Work or a

          7  vendor, find employment on their own. So, I need to

          8  look at that more closely. I acknowledge that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. And,

         10  again, I just want to try and get this whole

         11  conversation going forward, and onto a numerical

         12  basis that we're all comparing, and then we can do,

         13  I think helpful oversight in asking questions from

         14  an outsider perspective about whether money is being

         15  ideally spent, et cetera.

         16                 All right, I'm just going to go

         17  through very, very quickly, through a couple of

         18  other items, and not in any particular order.

         19                 On Medicaid fraud, which of course we

         20  deeply appreciate that effort, and I see tremendous

         21  coordination between different levels of government.

         22  I felt from your testimony that you also seem to be

         23  implying that you're going deeper into the pool of

         24  people who are sadly committing this fraud, which

         25  may mean larger entities, or larger institutions.
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          2  Are you talking about -- help us understand what

          3  you're talking about. You mentioned transportation

          4  companies, but what size health providers might be

          5  the universe here?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Well, this is a

          7  pretty concerted determined effort at providers.

          8  It's not a client's, clients sometimes help us find

          9  providers, but there is a very, very unified strong

         10  political consensus that there is waste and fraud

         11  involved, and the focus is not necessarily going to

         12  be on achieving criminal convictions, but on

         13  conducting solid audits that stand the test of

         14  evaluation so that the Department of Health can look

         15  at the claiming of the various providers and say

         16  something is wrong here. And we're looking at the

         17  whole spectrum. We're just starting and we're

         18  getting leads and information from various folks,

         19  but there is a feeling that there's something there

         20  that needs to be looked at and there's a very strong

         21  support right now from the Governor's Office and the

         22  Office of Medicaid Inspector General and from the

         23  Attorney General's Office. So, we're assessing a

         24  team of I think more than 50 auditors and

         25  investigators, and the focus is on as consistent
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          2  with the MOU that the Mayor signed is on audit, and

          3  audit activity.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you're

          5  saying any elements of the Health Care system could

          6  be looked at as part of this?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Any element and I

          8  think the Medicaid Inspector General may have

          9  particular areas, whether it's pharmacies or

         10  transportation companies, or home health care

         11  workers, they may say here is an area where we think

         12  you could look. But right now we're just actually

         13  assessing that, and trying to see where the best

         14  avenues are for achieving savings.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. Now,

         16  again, I'm just going to jump to a couple more items

         17  quickly. Back on adult protective services, Council

         18  Member Brewer raised that point as well, I just was

         19  surprised at the increase in the caseload and as you

         20  pointed out, particularly folks under 60. I mean, if

         21  you had said to me it would have been folks over 60,

         22  I would say that's the change in our population at

         23  large, and you seem to say substance abuse was a

         24  particular cause; the economy has been reasonably

         25  good, there's a lot of preventative services out
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          2  there, what do you think is causing that?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't want to

          4  venture, just go ahead and say I know what's causing

          5  it, the numbers are surprising and they're growing.

          6  Clearly demographics are changing, the population in

          7  New York and around the country is aging. But when I

          8  came here from the State, the adult protective

          9  services program had not been an agency that I was

         10  at at the State level, so it's an area I really need

         11  to educate myself, as well, and find out what's

         12  going on.

         13                 What I want to make sure is that our

         14  HRA workers have the resources that they need to

         15  address the problems as they arise.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, those new

         17  lines are for front line service, for processing

         18  people's applications, et ceter?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         21                 I'm going to take one step back

         22  again. This is about back work, just in general. And

         23  this is your introductory hearing, so I think it's

         24  important that we give you a sense of some of the

         25  historic concerns, but I think a general concern has
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          2  been the accountability of all your various vendors,

          3  I'm sure you share that concern. But I think you say

          4  in your testimony on page four that one of the

          5  things you're focusing on is payment in terms of

          6  contracts being contingent on success and

          7  replacement and retention, and I guess I would be

          8  interested to know, how quickly do you sanction a

          9  vendor if they're not giving you results? How vivid

         10  is it to them that they have to perform?

         11                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Do you want to

         12  help on that one, Pat?

         13                 I'll give you this: Since I've been

         14  there starting on February 1st, I have not had an

         15  occasion to, as you say, vividly bring to the

         16  attention of a provider poor performance. So, I

         17  haven't yet.

         18                 My history in the past at the State

         19  level was that I was very strong on holding

         20  contractors accountable for what we paid them for,

         21  and I was very involved in making sure they knew

         22  that I knew where they were falling short and where

         23  they were doing well.

         24                 But I do think sometimes contract

         25  managers at the program level, not necessarily the
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          2  legal level or the ACCO level, are a little

          3  overwhelmed with the partner, the partnering joining

          4  hands rhetoric, which is important in these

          5  relationships, and are a little reluctant to

          6  document difficulties or problems.

          7                 But I can't say that I know what the

          8  time frames are.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, that will

         10  be helpful, you know, as soon as we can get that

         11  information.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I think it

         14  takes us back, I'm not going to ask you a question,

         15  it's just a point, you know, this WeCARE situation

         16  has really gone on for a good period of time now,

         17  and I think we're only beginning to understand some

         18  of the possible accountability problems. I just

         19  think the more we're moving a time line along

         20  together, sort of here is the things we're trying to

         21  achieve and here is what we do if we don't see them,

         22  and how prompt it is.

         23                 Could I just ask, I'm thrilled we

         24  have a large audience of people here who care about

         25  government and care about these issues, but if
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          2  everyone could keep it down a little bit, it would

          3  help us as we're getting testimony from our

          4  witnesses.

          5                 I want to turn to Council Member Gale

          6  Brewer and then I have one more question for you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Just picking

          8  up on this issue of placement and retention, you

          9  know, we did a report in my office awhile ago mostly

         10  working with Small Business Services on their

         11  one-stop centers. And over time it's always been my

         12  opinion that HRA, you certainly do try to do a good

         13  job preparing people for work. But I've never quite

         14  understood the relationship between HRA and small

         15  business, just in terms of maybe when people are off

         16  of cash assistance, do they go to the Small Business

         17  Centers, do they go back to the HRA, et cetera? And

         18  I think we would like Small Business, for instance,

         19  to be, this is not your issue, but to be open

         20  evenings and weekends and, you know, to try to be

         21  accommodating to people's schedules. But I'm just

         22  wondering on this issue of retaining jobs, do you

         23  work with Small Business? Is this something that is

         24  an ongoing discussion, et cetera? Because, you know,

         25  you have two sets of centers right now training
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          2  people.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Right. I would

          4  want to be sure that Small Business Centers

          5  understood the role that Supports For Working People

          6  play in keeping people in jobs. And I hope they

          7  understand the value and the information about the

          8  Earned Income Tax Credit or health care coverage or

          9  food stamps.

         10                 And Pat, is that the case with Small

         11  Business?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH: Yes,

         13  Council member. As you know, we do work very closely

         14  with Small Business Services. While individuals are

         15  receiving cash assistance and in the year after they

         16  leave cash assistance, they still maintain a

         17  relationship with the vendors that HRA has.

         18                 However, as you know, any New Yorker

         19  is free to access services through the one-stops. We

         20  also have at the one-stops information and referral

         21  regarding all of the programs, and as Commissioner

         22  Doar said, that leads you to retention of work even

         23  before someone has any involvement with HRA, if they

         24  know that they might be eligible for food stamps,

         25  for assistance in getting child support, et cetera,
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          2  and that information is at the one-stops. And, of

          3  course, that has really been made much more simple

          4  through the advent of Access NYC, where through

          5  Access NYC at a one stop, because as you know they

          6  are technologically rich, through Access NYC, they

          7  can access their eligibility for other services.

          8                 So, we are working together with

          9  Small Business and anyone can access the one-stops,

         10  as you know. However, the clients who come to the

         11  HRA door and who get their jobs through the HRA

         12  vendor do have an ongoing relationship for the

         13  12-month retention period with the HRA vendor,

         14  should they choose to access that, they're also free

         15  to go to one-stops.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Is it possible

         17  that once that year is up they could get an SBS card

         18  that could in fact give them even more accessibility

         19  to the SBS Center?

         20                 In other words, the SBS Centers also

         21  include, you know, job improvement, it's not just

         22  services and support, it's also moving to the next

         23  wrung.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SMITH:

         25  Sure.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, I have

          3  toured recently some of the centers, I think there

          4  is a little confusion. I mean, maybe it's their

          5  confusion and not yours, that's certainly possible,

          6  you should tell Commissioner Walsh. But I'm just

          7  saying, I know that this is an ongoing discussion,

          8  you are coming in new, but I'm just saying --

          9                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Yes, I think it's

         10  an important one. I want to get over there.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: These centers

         12  need to take some of your former clients, that's

         13  being blunt, and they need to work with them and be

         14  supportive and you need to push them to do that. And

         15  maybe giving them the Access card with the chip in

         16  it that allows one to go to any one of their six

         17  centers when one has completed a year of HRA, that

         18  kind of thing would give a person more of an

         19  incentive to go and see what services are there. And

         20  then perhaps we could also expand what those

         21  services are.

         22                 But, you know, we're all trying to

         23  make sure that when the next development of whatever

         24  project is, that your clients are first in line to

         25  get those jobs. And it's not always true. So, thank
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          2  you very much.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Okay, thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

          5  Council member.

          6                 My last question, Commissioner, is

          7  related to the emergency food program. And again, I

          8  find many of your answers refreshing and we're

          9  starting out here working together, the Council with

         10  you, and you know, it's very important to us to

         11  understand your philosophy, your analysis.

         12                 I think it's fair to say the Council

         13  starts from the position that we think there is even

         14  more of a hunger problem in New York City than is

         15  often acknowledged. And this is in relatively good

         16  times economically. Again, I hope we don't have to

         17  experience bad times. I think some of it is self

         18  evident that just the costs alone and I think

         19  housing costs in particular, have been, I mean I

         20  don't think anyone disagrees, it's been a rapid

         21  increase in housing costs in the City, and what

         22  that's done to people's budgets, and I think we

         23  believe just based on the consistent increases in

         24  the use of food pantries and other programs to help

         25  people, that you know, there's more here than meets
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          2  the eye, and therefore, we think emergency food

          3  programs are a particularly important tool, and yet

          4  year in and year out the Mayor has chosen not to

          5  baseline the money that the Council puts in the

          6  budget for emergency food.

          7                 So, let me begin at the beginning, do

          8  you believe we have a growing hunger problem, a

          9  large but stable hunger problem? Do you have any

         10  sense of the numbers of how many people you believe,

         11  or HRA believes go to bed hungry each night in New

         12  York City? How do you define the problem before we

         13  talk about the specific issue of the emergency food

         14  program?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: The United States

         16  Department of Agriculture, I think still, and

         17  certainly used to, do a survey of what they call

         18  food insecurity.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, they do.

         20                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: And when I was at

         21  the State level, we monitored that survey. It has

         22  some imperfections, the survey, it's not the

         23  greatest survey in the world. But it is done, was

         24  done for a long period of time, consistently. So,

         25  it's imperfections were imperfect every year the
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          2  same way. And when I was at the State level, with

          3  all that was going on with cash welfare and the

          4  reduction in welfare caseload, and much greater

          5  participation and work by single moms, and child

          6  poverty reduction starting about 1994, Statewide and

          7  in the City of New York, it concerned me, that well,

          8  what's happening with food insecurity? And we looked

          9  at that from the State level and the City level, and

         10  from '95 to about 2000, prior to that recession, it

         11  had gone steadily down. So, the level of food

         12  insecurity was less, according to the USDA than it

         13  had been. And that was reassuring.

         14                 My understanding is, is that in the

         15  wake of 9/11 recession and that period recession, it

         16  started to pick up a little bit, and I need to look

         17  at that more recent data and see where it is. I want

         18  to start there. I don't want to give an assumption.

         19                 I think I do believe that the

         20  work-based welfare programs and the work support

         21  welfare support programs, both of them together had

         22  led to improvements in both poverty and food

         23  insecurity from back prior to the beginning of

         24  welfare reform.

         25                 I think now we may have not continued
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          2  down at the same rate that we were, and I want to

          3  get that going again. And, so, that's really

          4  something that I'm focusing on.

          5                 But you asked me what my view of the

          6  general trend was in that regard, and that's what I

          7  would say. Down and leveling off, we're not where we

          8  were before by any means, but we're not necessarily

          9  going down at the rate that I'd like to see us go

         10  down.

         11                 So, and I would say that I think not

         12  everything is measured by the USDA survey, but

         13  that's my perception. Our agency is participating

         14  with the City Council on the food task force, we're

         15  anxious to help in that way, in many ways. I have

         16  told you that we're anxious to be sure that people

         17  who need food assistance, the food stamp program,

         18  can get it in as easy a way as possible. And I

         19  intend to work on that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Real quick, my

         21  understanding of the last USDA survey was that in

         22  fact, New York, and this does not necessarily tell

         23  us enough about New York City, but New York State

         24  was one of the few states where the level of

         25  insecurity went up. That was the most recent one.
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          2                 I think you may be right about the

          3  larger trend over a decade, but this last one was

          4  not particularly promising.

          5                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I have no

          7  reason to believe New York City isn't the biggest

          8  part of the problem, which is not for a moment to

          9  say I've spent my time in the Upstate cities, too,

         10  and I know for sure, I worked at HUD for several

         11  years, I know for sure what challenges they're

         12  facing. But I do think our cost dynamics alone, just

         13  the housing prices alone is a particularly negative

         14  challenge we face.

         15                 So, I hear you saying there is a

         16  problem. I don't hear you necessarily quantifying

         17  it. You were quick, and in a good way, to quantify

         18  your personal assumption around the food stamp

         19  eligibility issue, do you have a working number of

         20  how many people you think go to bed hungry or have

         21  food insecurity, however you want to say it?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I don't have that

         23  with me.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I think

         25  that would be something we'd like to see, if we all
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          2  could work towards that model. And I agree your

          3  agency is working well with the Council on its

          4  overall anti-hunger efforts. But now why not in a

          5  year of relative budget strength, why not invest

          6  more in emergency food? You know, the cut, or the

          7  failure to baseline is -- excuse me -- should be 1.5

          8  million. One could argue that it should have been

          9  baselined and then some in a relatively strong

         10  budget year. Could you just give us a sense of why

         11  that wasn't done?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: I cannot give you

         13  a sense of why that wasn't done, but I'm not

         14  conceding that it wasn't for a good reason.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, you know,

         16  again, your first hearing with us, I'm going to say

         17  very clearly that this has been a real thorn in our

         18  side, and I'm not just talking out of institutional

         19  pride, I'm talking out of logic. We've never

         20  understood it, and I think it should be reevaluated.

         21  There is still time for that action to occur in

         22  terms of the budget process, and I will ask you to

         23  go back and consider a greater investment in

         24  emergency food, and we're certainly going to bring

         25  this one up again in May.
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          2                 Commissioner, thank you for your

          3  testimony. We've covered a lot of issues. It will

          4  only get worse as we go along. But we look forward

          5  to you coming back and we, again, I'm glad that

          6  you've joined the City government, I look forward to

          7  working together.

          8                 COMMISSIONER DOAR: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         11                 Okay, let's just do a reality check

         12  whether our friends from the Administration for

         13  Children's Services are here? Is that a yes?

         14  Commissioner is here?

         15                 Okay, we would like the contingent

         16  from the Administration for Children's Services to

         17  come on up, if they are, in fact, here. I see one. I

         18  see the advanced guard has arrived.

         19                 We never actually recessed or

         20  anything, I'm just doing that to get your attention.

         21  We now welcome Commissioner Mattingly and his team

         22  for the Administration for Children's Services.

         23                 I'd like to say this portion of our

         24  hearing will be joint between the General Welfare

         25  Committee and the Committee on Women's Issues, ably
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          2  chaired by Helen Sears of Queens, who has something

          3  approximately of laryngitis right now. So, her

          4  questions will be emphatic but in a low voice,

          5  Commissioner.

          6                 I would just like to say at the

          7  outset, since we had this hearing about a year ago,

          8  a lot has happened to say the least.

          9                 Commissioner, you know, sometimes the

         10  Council agrees with ACS, sometimes we don't, but I

         11  will say that we have achieved a lot together on a

         12  number of fronts, including child care and child

         13  welfare, and I do appreciate your partnership. I

         14  appreciate that you've always been someone who

         15  answered questions forthrightly, and you know, I

         16  think we have a ways to go on a number of issues,

         17  and we'll make that clear in some of our questions

         18  today, but I do very much appreciate your efforts

         19  and I always appreciate your honesty.

         20                 So, with that being said, we welcome

         21  your testimony.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Good

         23  afternoon, Chair DeBlasio and Chair Sears, and

         24  members of the General Welfare and Women's Issues

         25  Committees. I'm John Mattingly, Commissioner of the
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          2  Administration for Children's Services.

          3                 I am joined up here today by Susan

          4  Nuccio, my Deputy Commissioner for Financial

          5  Services and Melanie Hartzog, who is our new Deputy

          6  Commissioner for Child Care and Head Start.

          7                 I thank you for the opportunity to

          8  brief Council on the Preliminary Budget proposed for

          9  Children's Services and update you on the ongoing

         10  efforts we are making to provide high-quality

         11  services to New York City's children and families.

         12                 I also want to make note of the fact

         13  that 38 years ago today a poor, misguided young

         14  woman made a decision to marry me and it's our 38th

         15  anniversary and I couldn't be more proud of her for

         16  sticking with me all this time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We congratulate

         18  you, and it would be nice if we would show special

         19  consideration and sympathy because of that, but that

         20  won't happen.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: To her.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But we do hope

         23  you have a lovely dinner tonight, however.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Last year,

         25  Children's Services released "Rethinking Child Care:
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          2  An Integrated Plan for Early Childhood Development

          3  in New York City." Since its announcement,

          4  Children's Services we think has made significant

          5  progress in implementing that plan and achieving its

          6  goals.

          7                 As we all know, the need for high

          8  quality child care in New York City is great, and

          9  our plan laid out several goals to meet this need

         10  and to better serve children and families. These

         11  goals you will recall include aligning resources

         12  with community needs, instituting community-based

         13  enrollment, improving quality and accountability for

         14  the system, and promoting early child care and

         15  education integration and coordination.

         16                 Now, I'll take a few minutes just to

         17  update you on our progress on each of these goals.

         18                 On the full enrollment initiative, in

         19  January 2006, we launched that initiative. It's our

         20  effort to ensure that all child care dollars here in

         21  the City of New York are spent wisely, and

         22  especially that no seats in child care go unfilled

         23  while children Citywide are waiting for services.

         24  The initiative has two central goals: First,

         25  implementing community-based enrollment; and second,

                                                            106

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  achieving 100 percent enrollment in child care

          3  programs throughout the City.

          4                 This initiative has already been

          5  rolled out in the Bronx, Queens and Manhattan, and

          6  is slated to begin fully in Brooklyn and Staten

          7  Island this May.

          8                 The first goal of this initiative is

          9  to make it easier for parents to sign up for child

         10  care. As a result of this effort, parents now, for

         11  the first time, can enroll their children in their

         12  communities and local centers, instead of having to

         13  go to a centralized location.

         14                 A Children's Services' eligibility

         15  and enrollment team trained child care programs to

         16  accept and prescreen eligibility applications and

         17  assist child care programs in reaching full

         18  enrollment.

         19                 In addition, we are in addition to

         20  working with the programs to do community-based

         21  enrollment, however, Children's Services has also

         22  implemented a number of other efforts to ensure that

         23  our resource areas were able to assist programs in

         24  doing their own eligibility determinations,

         25  including revising the child care eligibility form
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          2  to make it clearer and easier to follow, and

          3  creating a detailed instruction sheet for users.

          4                 The second goal of our full

          5  enrollment initiative is to help our private agency

          6  contractors be accountable for and to promote 100

          7  percent enrollment to ensure that all our slots

          8  throughout the City are utilized fully by eligible

          9  families.

         10                 This part of the full enrollment

         11  initiative has now been completed in the Bronx and

         12  Queens, and the results from these two boroughs show

         13  the following: A 13 percent increase in enrollment

         14  in the Bronx, and an eight percent increase in

         15  enrollment in Queens across all programs.

         16                 That means that over 1,000 additional

         17  children are being served because of our work toward

         18  full enrollment.

         19                 All of the programs in the Bronx and

         20  nearly all of the programs in Queens are now

         21  accepting applications and screening for eligibility

         22  at their sites.

         23                 This is a 48 percent increase in the

         24  Bronx, and a 66 percent increase in Queens.

         25                 The results so far are very

                                                            108

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  encouraging and show that sustained attention to

          3  this issue can produce results. What's also quite

          4  clear is that the attention has to be sustained.

          5                 Secondly, Children's Services has

          6  also completed the first phase of work to develop an

          7  integrated performance measurement system for all

          8  Child Care, Head Start and UPK in conjunction with

          9  the Department of Education. Specifically, the City

         10  has developed again for the first time a uniformed

         11  set of Early Childhood Education Program Standards

         12  for the City's Child Care, Head Start and UPK

         13  Programs.

         14                 ACS and the DOE worked closely with

         15  other stakeholders, including representatives from

         16  the Bureau of Day Care at the Department of Health

         17  and Mental Hygiene. On the development of the

         18  program standards, and we recommended a set of

         19  program evaluation tools to assist New York City's

         20  Early Childhood Education Programs. The assessment

         21  system includes nationally recognized measures and

         22  standards for assessing quality.

         23                 With partial funding from the Early

         24  Care and Education Fund, we are taking a number of

         25  next steps.
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          2                 The assessment tools will be pilot

          3  tested by Teachers' College at Columbia University,

          4  using a randomly selected group of early care and

          5  education programs. Children's Services will then

          6  determine the appropriate procedures and protocols

          7  for Citywide implementation.

          8                 Once finalized, these tools will

          9  allow us to measure the progress of each program in

         10  meeting established program standards and do it on a

         11  uniformed standardized base.

         12                 In the area of child care

         13  integration, our Strategic Plan, as you know, made

         14  integrating the various programs available in the

         15  City a priority. A key component of this was the

         16  integration of child care services offered by ACS

         17  and the Human Resources Administration - a major

         18  step, which many thought couldn't happen, in the

         19  creation of a seamless system of early care and

         20  education.

         21                 This integration has included the

         22  transfer of a number of centralized functions and

         23  the implementation of a whole new operating model.

         24                 The transfer of a number of central

         25  functions began this fall, and included the transfer
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          2  of the Child Care Hot Line, Provider Enrollment, and

          3  the Child Care and Adult Care Food Program from HRA

          4  to Children's Services.

          5                 I also want to thank HRA and its

          6  staff and leadership team for all the work that they

          7  did to help us make this happen.

          8                 Through the food program, Children's

          9  Services can reimburse providers for the food they

         10  serve to children in their care, and ACS staff visit

         11  participating providers in their homes four times a

         12  year, to monitor and to train on food service,

         13  nutrition, and related health and safety concerns.

         14                 Since Children's Services took over

         15  the program, we've added 169 providers to it, an

         16  increase of 64 percent, for a total of 438

         17  participants. Through the food program, Children's

         18  Services provides nutritious meals for over 2,500

         19  children.

         20                 In addition, ACS has completed the

         21  integration of payment functions in February of this

         22  year, including system changes to create a single

         23  monthly attendance report, a single check for

         24  providers, access to the automated telephone

         25  attendance reporting system, CAPS, for all family
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          2  child providers serving subsidized children.

          3                 Finally, ACS has launched a new child

          4  care operating model at three HRA job centers,

          5  Riverview, Crotona and Queens Center.

          6                 At each of these job centers, ACS

          7  staffs a child care unit to process child care

          8  applications offering a full range of child care

          9  referral counseling and enrollment services, making

         10  all child care, including center-based care fully

         11  available to all of those applicants at the job

         12  centers.

         13                 ACS staff sees approximately 150

         14  individuals each day at those sites to screen and

         15  assess for child care services.

         16                 This new operating model is designed

         17  to assist each family in making an informed choice

         18  regarding the child care arrangements, to implement

         19  uniformed processes for assessing care, to reduce

         20  the number of times families have to return to the

         21  job center to change their child care arrangement,

         22  to increase access to Head Start and UPK and OST

         23  services and to improve employment retention on the

         24  part of those parents.

         25                 While we continue to implement our
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          2  strategic plan, we must, however, call on the State

          3  to invest in child care and match the City's

          4  commitment to these programs.

          5                 Due to recent changes in federal TANF

          6  work participation rules, more public assistance

          7  clients are mandated to be engaged in work. States

          8  and localities face stiff fiscal penalties for

          9  failures to achieve the required 50 percent

         10  participation rate for all families.

         11                 Essential in achieving federal work

         12  participation rates is the availability of adequate

         13  Child Care, Pre-school and After School Programs.

         14                 Moreover in Fiscal Year 2008, the

         15  City is investing over $70 million in additional tax

         16  levy for Child Care and Out of School Time programs.

         17  The City urges the State to follow suit and increase

         18  child care funding statewide by $75 million.

         19                 This would provide a more substantial

         20  investment in child care programs that offer

         21  critical work support to parents and developmental

         22  and educational support for children.

         23                 New York City would receive

         24  approximately $50 million in Fiscal Year 2008, based

         25  on the 75 million Statewide appropriation.
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          2                 Finally, we would also like to

          3  recognize that this budget supported by Mayor

          4  Bloomberg provides annual funding for $10 million in

          5  Family Child Care Services that was initially

          6  supported by City Council Initiatives.

          7                 Onto child safety. Since the release

          8  of our Child Safety Action Plan exactly one year ago

          9  today, Children's Services has made substantial

         10  progress in our efforts to keep New York City's

         11  children safe from harm with the help of an

         12  unprecedented level of support from Mayor Michael

         13  Bloomberg.

         14                 In this time, ACS has instituted

         15  ChildStat, a new accountability and learning tool

         16  designed to strengthen case practice, increase the

         17  number of child protective specialists on staff by

         18  fully 35 percent, made critical leadership changes

         19  in order to strengthen the Division of Child

         20  Protection, deployed a group of national child

         21  welfare experts who are still with. We call them

         22  "The Safety Solutions Team," to provide practice

         23  guidelines to our front-line staff.

         24                 We have revised, with the Mayor's

         25  Office help, the Instant Response Team protocol, and
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          2  retrained staff to ensure appropriate implementation

          3  by ourselves and by our partners in the NYPD.

          4                 We have also hired 20 law enforcement

          5  experts, most of them with special victims

          6  experience, to advise on child protective

          7  investigations.

          8                 We have strengthened our

          9  collaborative efforts with the Department of

         10  Education to protect children at risk, increased

         11  funding to our preventive agency providers by $9

         12  million to enhance services to families at risk. We

         13  have issued a solicitation also to develop

         14  partnerships with local communities to protect

         15  children and strengthen families.

         16                 We have opened the Safety First

         17  Office to improve collaboration with mandated

         18  reporters, and we have secured private investment

         19  for, and initiated the development of New York

         20  City's first Leadership Academy for Child Safety

         21  which will open this April.

         22                 Just to highlight a few of these

         23  initiatives: Last year our caseworkers investigated

         24  roughly 70,000 reports of abuse and neglect. Prior

         25  to this past year, it was quite typical to have
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          2  somewhat less than 50,000 reports investigated.

          3                 Last year, this was an average of one

          4  investigation every eight minutes, ensuring the

          5  safety of more than 90,000 children across the City.

          6                 Now, to ensure that ACS has the

          7  resources needed to thoroughly investigate each and

          8  every one of those reports, we have increased the

          9  number of child protective specialists on staff by

         10  35 percent over the past year.

         11                 The proposed budget calls for the

         12  number of CPS specialists to rise to 1,353, an

         13  all-time high. To sustain this level of staffing,

         14  Children's Services is committed to hiring

         15  approximately 50 to 80 new child protective

         16  specialists each month so that we can maintain

         17  caseloads at a manageable level and reduce the

         18  caseload target set out in safeguarding our

         19  children.

         20                 Mr. Chair, I wish I could get my

         21  staff to respond like that to my needs. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm glad you're

         23  impressed by the efficiency of the New York City

         24  Council.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Right. Just a
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          2  joke, guys.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You know,

          4  Commissioner, you're supposed to wait until we ask

          5  questions to say something controversial. You're not

          6  supposed to do it proactively.

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: This budget

          8  also increases the number of attorneys on staff in

          9  our Division of Family Court Legal Services to 235,

         10  an addition of 65 attorneys.

         11                 As the Committee is aware, the number

         12  of cases being filed in New York City Family Court

         13  has also risen significantly over the past year.

         14                 This increase in staff will enable

         15  us, we believe, to lower attorney caseloads and

         16  ensure that each case presented in court receives

         17  the proper level of oversight.

         18                 Finally, I am pleased to announce

         19  that 20 law enforcement investigative consultants

         20  have joined Children's Services, completed training

         21  and are now assigned to our field offices.

         22                 These consultants are available to

         23  child protective staff for consultation in specific

         24  cases, obtaining pertinent information from law

         25  enforcement agencies conducting and assisting in
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          2  field site visits, and training child protective

          3  staff on investigative techniques.

          4                 Just one brief example, within the

          5  past two weeks, a worker, new, had been unable to

          6  get the family to come to the door so that we could

          7  commence an investigation. She went out then

          8  subsequently with one of our consultants who got no

          9  answer to the buzzer, and therefore started buzzing

         10  each of the apartments in the building til somebody

         11  let her in. The worker and the consultant then came

         12  to the door, listened first, knocked on the door,

         13  nobody answered. Phoned their home phone, nobody

         14  answered. But the investigative consultant, based on

         15  her experience believed that someone was in that

         16  home. So, she kept knocking. Finally, a male voice

         17  answered the door, and she after awhile was able to

         18  talk him into letting us in.

         19                 He mentioned that the subject of the

         20  report, the child's mother, was not there. The

         21  investigative consultant said, well, you know, we

         22  have to make sure that we're in a safe environment

         23  here, we need to open the doors to each of the

         24  rooms, behind the bedroom door was the mother who

         25  claimed she wasn't the mother until the
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          2  investigative consultant was able to draw that out

          3  of her.

          4                 That's the kind of excellent support

          5  that our people need and that we will learn from as

          6  we go forward to do investigations better than we

          7  have ever done before.

          8                 Now, we have also made significant

          9  progress in supporting our front-line staff with the

         10  tools they need to do their jobs.

         11                 Last year, ACS piloted a number of

         12  hand-held technologies in our field offices,

         13  gathered data from front-line staff on the use of

         14  those technologies. The trial now being completed,

         15  it has resulted in the selection of a first phase of

         16  technology supports, small, mobile laptop computers

         17  that will allow our front-line workers to access

         18  Connections, the New York State System of Record for

         19  child welfare remotely.

         20                 ACS will begin distributing these 200

         21  laptops in April in two of our field offices before

         22  expanding Citywide with this and other technologies.

         23                 We plan to add the vices in the

         24  future that reflect the local needs of workers and

         25  field sites.

                                                            119

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 In addition, ACS has increased the

          3  number of vehicles available to our front-line

          4  workers from 72 to 130, an 80 percent increase.

          5                 I've also instructed our

          6  administrative leadership to make sure that the

          7  newest cars are the ones that are out in the field

          8  most often.

          9                 Regarding the Community Partnership

         10  Initiative, we are focused on ensuring that we

         11  strengthen our partnerships with communities,

         12  because we believe they are key allies in keeping

         13  children safe.

         14                 To do this we have launched a

         15  first-ever demonstration project, the Community

         16  Partnerships Initiative, in seven local communities

         17  around the City with four more to come in the next

         18  few months.

         19                 These includes now include Jamaica,

         20  Bedford Stuyvesant, High Bridge, East New York,

         21  Stapleton, East Harlem and the Lower East Side. We

         22  plan to add four more communities to this pilot

         23  later in the year.

         24                 This project is designed to promote

         25  the development of community coalitions of service
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          2  providers and other interested organizations and

          3  community residents. These coalitions will work to

          4  help us find children and families in need of

          5  intervention and help, and provide for those needs

          6  there in the community.

          7                 In April, our new Leadership Academy

          8  for Child Safety will open its doors for the first

          9  training. This first cohort will train approximately

         10  30 Child Protective Managers and Deputy Directors

         11  and will include eight half-day and eight full-day

         12  sessions.

         13                 The training curriculum was jointly

         14  developed by the leadership transformation group and

         15  New York University's Wagner School of Public

         16  Service in coordination with ACS staff from many

         17  levels in the organization.

         18                 The curriculum will focus on

         19  understanding a big picture and those strategic

         20  directions that we need to take at ACS, using data

         21  to drive decision-making, particularly ChildStat,

         22  and other performance data to identify and

         23  understand patterns, to set priorities and to

         24  allocate resources, building and supporting complex

         25  teams, including the leadership and managerial
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          2  skills that will be required as substantial numbers

          3  of new case workers continue to be added to their

          4  teams, and working across boundaries so that all

          5  members of the Child Safety Network, including ACS,

          6  other government agencies, contract agencies,

          7  community partners, the schools, the NYPD, have a

          8  common vision, clear working agreements and

          9  communication.

         10                 In addition to these efforts to

         11  strengthen child safety, ACS last year announced the

         12  creation of the Foster Parent Support Initiative to

         13  distribute funds upfront to all of our foster care

         14  providers to invest in recruitment, training and

         15  supports for foster parents so that children in care

         16  can remain in safe, stable family settings.

         17                 Through these efforts we hope to

         18  better respond to foster parent needs, as well as

         19  the needs of teens at risk of moving to a more

         20  restricted placement, and stabilize these placements

         21  so that children can remain with a family.

         22                 With the introduction of these new

         23  supports, ACS has reduced the rate at which children

         24  leave family settings and move into more restrictive

         25  placements by 17.6 percent. That's a great number
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          2  but it's not enough for us.

          3                 Finally, ACS has launched a new

          4  Juvenile Justice Initiative, I think unprecedented

          5  in the country, to serve youth placed in

          6  institutions through the delinquency courts that are

          7  either known to the child welfare system or have

          8  child welfare issues, starting with those youngsters

          9  who, while they have been in foster care, are now

         10  caught up in the delinquency system.

         11                 The goal of this initiative is to

         12  provide an effective alternative to placement, by

         13  making a range of intensive community-based programs

         14  available to these young people and their families.

         15                 This initiative began Citywide in

         16  February and has so far served 47 youth and families

         17  in an attempt to divert youth from placements with

         18  intensive service interventions.

         19                 In addition, through a partnership

         20  with the Office of Children and Family Services,

         21  Children Services is working with another 25 youth

         22  already and providing them with after care services

         23  to assist in their transition back to their home

         24  communities from OCFS placement facilities.

         25                 Once the Juvenile Justice Initiative
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          2  is fully launched, ACS plans to serve approximately

          3  500 youth and their families each year.

          4                 We need to work together for

          5  youngsters who have been in the child welfare system

          6  and who then get into trouble and do not have ACS

          7  turn away from them at the moment they need to be

          8  dealt with in the Family Court delinquency system.

          9                 I hope that it's clear from my

         10  testimony today that ACS is fully committed to

         11  achieving our mandate and protecting at-risk and

         12  abused children and providing high-quality child

         13  care and Head Start services to families in New York

         14  City.

         15                 Thank you for allowing me to discuss

         16  these important items with you this afternoon, and

         17  we welcome any questions that you may have.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         19  much, Commissioner. And as you know, we, in addition

         20  to my fellow Chair, Helen Sears, we have been joined

         21  earlier by Council Member Gale Brewer, and now by

         22  Council Member Letitia James.

         23                 There's a lot to talk about, why

         24  don't we begin with some of the child welfare

         25  issues, child protection issues.
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          2                 Obviously, a lot has been done, and

          3  the first thing to say is that we appreciate the

          4  actions you've taken and the Mayor's taken. You

          5  know, some of these are very, very substantial

          6  improvements in the amount of resources and

          7  personnel being addressed to the problem.

          8                 And some I think are more about

          9  strategic efforts, I think the community partnership

         10  initiative is a good example of that, of reorienting

         11  our strategy in a more preventative manner.

         12                 I think, you know, we want to

         13  understand obviously how a number of the concerns of

         14  the last year or more have been addressed, so I'm

         15  going to raise some of those point by point, but at

         16  the outset, let me just talk about the pure

         17  budgetary matters. Clearly a huge investment of

         18  resources have just been made, and I think

         19  absolutely all of it has been necessary. In fact, as

         20  you know, the Council acted additionally with the

         21  child safety initiative which was an additional $4.2

         22  million, to try and reduce the caseloads of the

         23  preventative community-based agencies in the same

         24  manner as you are reducing the caseloads for your

         25  child protective workers.
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          2                 First, do you believe that that

          3  initiative has been successful, in terms of

          4  assisting families on the ground and helping to

          5  prevent crises?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes, I think

          7  as we go forward with it, the funds are fully

          8  expended throughout in the agencies now, hiring has

          9  been done, and more slots have been made available

         10  in addition to this hiring, so that because we're of

         11  course sending more families to preventive services

         12  because of the great increase in the number of

         13  reports.

         14                 So, we're convinced that it not only

         15  is working but that it will continue to work and

         16  grow in its effectiveness in the course over the

         17  coming months and years.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And would you

         19  say at this point that your essentially running at

         20  your maximum capacity in terms of your ability to

         21  assign families to preventative services, because --

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We are over

         23  in some places. We need, for example, more slots in

         24  some communities, especially for ethnic minority

         25  communities and language minority communities, so
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          2  we're attempting to move empty slots again like in

          3  child care to preventive agencies that can meet

          4  those kinds of needs.

          5                 In addition --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Were you about

          7  to start something else?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I can't

          9  remember the second thing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's fine. It

         11  will come back to you.

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Oh, I know

         13  what it is, yes.

         14                 A major initiative we're engaged in

         15  that we have seen some results in but that we need

         16  to see more, is that we have too many families being

         17  served for more than 18 months, two years. A good

         18  solid preventive program will have some families who

         19  need ongoing support, no question about it. We would

         20  hope that many of the long-term cases could be

         21  supported by community-based agencies, such as those

         22  we're drawing into the Community Partnership

         23  Initiative.

         24                 But the fact of the matter is, in my

         25  experience in research that's out there, an
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          2  intensive effort with short-term goals and a shorter

          3  time frame of expectations on everybody's part as to

          4  what can be accomplished, is just as effective as

          5  providing the ongoing service month-after-month.

          6                 So, we are pressing every preventive

          7  agency to look at its cases open more than 18 months

          8  and begin then to decide whether we can pass them on

          9  to community-based agencies or we have done what can

         10  be done.

         11                 That will help us, I think, in the

         12  case that we intend to make and need to make that we

         13  may well need some more preventive services in the

         14  City.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And if I

         16  remember, we've obviously carefully reviewed the

         17  reports, the regular reporting ACS has done to the

         18  Council, and I think it's been clear that it has

         19  become increasingly difficult to apply families to

         20  preventative services. When you talk about moving

         21  capacity where the need is, that's an imperfect

         22  equation always, and so, that suggests in reality

         23  some families that might right away need those

         24  preventative services are not getting them.

         25                 I was also struck, I believe it was
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          2  November, one of the reports made to us, it may have

          3  been -- I don't know if it was one to us or the

          4  Management Report, what it was, but one of your ACS

          5  reports also noted that there were some substantial

          6  number. I think it was 30 percent of cases where you

          7  had indicated abuse but were closed did not get

          8  referred to prevention, and that made me wonder

          9  whether there was a capacity problem, that if you

         10  had more prevention you would have.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's

         12  historic data. Actually, we discovered that when we

         13  began ChildStat, and those numbers are down

         14  dramatically now. And that's put pressure on the

         15  preventive system.

         16                 It's very important that we have good

         17  services available when we need them, but it's also

         18  important that we do not have agencies out there

         19  with ten percent capacity unused, and it's also

         20  important that we squeeze out the services for

         21  families who have gone through preventive and now

         22  are just being continued on for reasons we don't

         23  know. We do those things together I could make the

         24  case that we will need more services. But we're

         25  right now still engaged in that effort to make sure

                                                            129

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  every slot is used and make sure that families are

          3  dealt with in a timely manner.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I still

          5  appreciate that, but even though you said that the

          6  data we had might have been less timely, but it

          7  still sounds like there are families that have had

          8  very real problems, this is where you found some

          9  evidence of a real problem that you cannot currently

         10  match to preventative services.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No, I would

         12  not say that's true. I would say it takes too long

         13  for us to make that match, so we keep the case open

         14  in protective services.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: How long is too

         16  long?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Keep in mind

         18  also that we are taking very serious cases to Court

         19  ordered, asking for the Family Court to intervene

         20  and provide Court ordered supervision of those

         21  preventive services.

         22                 But it needs to happen the day we

         23  make the determination the children, the family

         24  needs help, and if we have to wait two weeks it's

         25  too long. We've had a situation here as well where
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          2  there was an expected period of time while an agency

          3  was considering whether it could help a particular

          4  family. It could be as much as 30 days. That was

          5  based I think on the old premise that we are not

          6  dealing with as many emergencies as we do. We don't

          7  have that kind of time, so we are implementing a

          8  process by which our workers meet almost immediately

          9  with the family and the agency and have them, the

         10  agency make their decision sooner.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And --

         12                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Oh, I've been

         13  passed a note, the closed indicated cases that were

         14  closed without services have been cut by 50 percent

         15  since June.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, we

         17  understood in the reporting again, I'm sorry I don't

         18  have the source right at my fingertips, but it was

         19  an ACS source, I believe it was November, 30 percent

         20  of indicated abuse-only cases did not have follow-up

         21  services, so that would say now that you were down

         22  at 15 percent or something like that, if I'm

         23  understanding you correctly.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: And we've

         25  actually gone down below ten percent in the course
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          2  of the last six months or so.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But is it not

          4  true that if you can't get the family preventive

          5  services in real time that your front line workers

          6  really can't provide the same oversight or direct

          7  assistance to a family? In other words, you're

          8  treading water, but it's not apples and apples, it's

          9  apples and oranges. They can keep an eye on the

         10  situation but it's not by any means the same service

         11  a preventative agency would provide; is that a true

         12  statement?

         13                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. So,

         15  then that leads to an obvious question on my part,

         16  and then I'll ask a few more questions in this vein,

         17  and then I know my colleagues have questions as

         18  well.

         19                 If we believe, and I think the track

         20  record is very clear, the preventative services

         21  really profoundly affect the families and really

         22  protect children, and stopping a problem before it

         23  starts is always much better policy then reacting to

         24  a problem that's already begun?

         25                 Why wouldn't we want to keep the
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          2  money that was devoted to the child safety

          3  initiative as a formal part of ACS's budget? Why was

          4  that not baselined?

          5                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We are still

          6  in discussions with OMB with updated data about

          7  exactly this issue and we also are concerned about

          8  the potential need for additional slots. So that

          9  discussion isn't over yet.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, I

         11  appreciate that. I'll just make a final editorial

         12  point on that, which is, you know, I absolutely

         13  commend the other resources that have been devoted.

         14  Again, if you could do a mathematical equation on

         15  the value of the dollar that was spent on prevention

         16  versus the dollar spent in reaction, and, you know,

         17  how much more it costs once the problem has begun, I

         18  would argue that we would want to make sure we had

         19  done everything valid on the prevention front,

         20  first, in a sense, before we assumed, you know,

         21  before we made what decisions we wanted to do on a

         22  more reactive level.

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I do want to

         24  add, though, that in the course of the last two

         25  fiscal years, we've increased by almost 60 percent.
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          2  Sixty percent the dollars available for preventive,

          3  and almost all of that was flexible funding for

          4  agencies to use as they saw fit.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I agree,

          6  and it's a very important point you make. I have

          7  never doubted ACS's commitment to preventative

          8  services.

          9                 I think it's a matter of, you know,

         10  we are here talking about a -- what is it, $57

         11  billion budget the last we heard? You know, we have

         12  to put this whole budget discussion in context of

         13  what we do all day, which is look at the whole City.

         14  This small dollar figure, from my point of view, has

         15  such a profound impact, and again, I would bet not

         16  only saves lives, but ultimately saves a lot of

         17  money to, because prevention is just wiser. That's

         18  why I'm asking you the questions. But I hear you

         19  loud and clear, you've been committed to it and the

         20  whole Administration is looking at the situation.

         21                 Now, the one thing I'm less clear

         22  about, the $9 million that you, I'm going to use my

         23  own term, you don't have to accept it, that you

         24  creatively reprogrammed within your agency budget to

         25  prevention during this fiscal year. Again, will that
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          2  be baselined for Fiscal '08?

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes, as we

          4  sparred about this last year, the same thing will

          5  happen again this year, that money will be

          6  available, and it will come from various sources,

          7  some of which takes awhile for JJI, Juvenile Justice

          8  to get started, some of which will be from savings

          9  throughout the agency we are about to announce.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you're

         11  essentially saying publicly that 9 million in

         12  prevention will be stable, will be in your budget,

         13  however you achieve it -- okay, good enough.

         14                 I have a number of other questions,

         15  but I do want to give my colleagues their

         16  opportunity. I know a lot of people feel a lot of

         17  issues about this agency and want to bring up a lot

         18  of questions.

         19                 I don't know, first of all, if my

         20  co-chair's voice is ready? Okay, I'm going to turn

         21  to my co-chair for this hearing, Helen Sears.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

         23  much. And good morning, Commissioner. It's great to

         24  see you again. I have to commend you for the work

         25  that you basically --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: You are my

          3  Councilperson, you know.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: You know, I

          5  thought so.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This is like

          7  being questioned by Vito Corleone, you know? Listen

          8  to the nuances and then just do what Helen says.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Well, I have to

         10  say, it's coming back.

         11                 Just one thing, I also serve on the

         12  Juvenile Justice Committee, so I'm delighted about

         13  what you are doing to integrate the services that

         14  you will do.

         15                 My question is, does that reflect in

         16  your '08 budget?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Oh, that's fine.

         19                 The other few things that I wanted to

         20  ask you is that the guidelines for New York City's

         21  levels are based on the federal levels for poverty,

         22  and I'm advised that in Access New York, it is the

         23  2005 levels that are there. So, my concern is,

         24  people may not apply because they don't have the

         25  2006 levels. Is there a reason? Is it just late
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          2  being updated or what?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARTZOG: Good

          4  afternoon. I'm Melanie Hartzog, Deputy Commissioner

          5  for Child Care and Head Start.

          6                 That is correct. Access New York, we

          7  are currently using the 2005 poverty level. I'm

          8  pleased to announce today that effective April 1 we

          9  will update for the 2006 guidelines. We also know

         10  this summer that the 2007 guidelines will be coming

         11  out, we will update our systems immediately.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay, I'm glad to

         13  hear that actually.

         14                 And actually, based on last year's

         15  schedule, in October, we expect the State to

         16  implement a new market rate to set payment rates for

         17  family and group family child care providers; is

         18  there funding in your budget to reflect this

         19  anticipated market increase rate?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: Hi. I'm

         21  Susan Nuccio, Deputy Commissioner for Financial

         22  Services.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I know.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: At this

         25  point, no, those funds are not in our budget to pass
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          2  on an additional increase. We'll have to work on

          3  requesting that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Which means that

          5  it should be in the '08 budget. So that means we

          6  should be working on it.

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We should say

          8  that the '08 budget in child care is heavily

          9  dependent on the State budget.

         10                 We have just received within this

         11  week the numbers from the Senate and the House

         12  proposals, and we, of course, will keep pressing the

         13  state as I have mentioned in my statement, if any

         14  shortfalls we've had in child care, the City has

         15  picked up but they really have flowed in the last

         16  two and a half years since I've been here from State

         17  cuts, some of which were hidden but some of which

         18  were quite overt.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Right. Because I

         20  can say as budget negotiator of Queens, that those

         21  day care slots, because the biggest advocate is our

         22  chair, Councilman DeBlasio, and we know every time

         23  he is about to say something, it is about child

         24  care.

         25                 So, those increases in what the
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          2  Council has done has been mainly through the Chair

          3  DeBlasio's efforts. I want to thank you because it

          4  affects our constituency.

          5                 There was another two questions that

          6  we had. Family and group family providers belong to

          7  a network that requires to pay a $17 fee per child,

          8  per week in exchange for the services that the

          9  network provides, and we've heard that some networks

         10  are raising their rates; is this a process that's

         11  allowed in your contractual agreements? And are the

         12  networks required to notify providers about this

         13  increase?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: ACS has

         15  reviewed our contracts with the networks, which do

         16  not prohibit charging additional fees.

         17                 However, we have established a work

         18  group with Networks and has been working with

         19  Networks over the past couple of months to establish

         20  a common set of standards and expectations of

         21  networks.

         22                 This is an issue that has come up on

         23  numerous occasions, and one that we intend to

         24  address and move forward.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Oh, that's
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          2  promising, because I have had some reports back from

          3  that.

          4                 Actually, there is back pay that I

          5  would like to address for a moment. How far back are

          6  they? What is the back log? And how is it going to

          7  be addressed?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: On the

          9  market rate increases; is that what we're talking

         10  about?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Yes.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: As far as

         13  all of the packages that we had received last fiscal

         14  year, we have processed them all. But of course,

         15  this is a process that allows you to come and ask us

         16  for an increase, during any time during the year. We

         17  have on hand about 70 right now that we are

         18  reviewing and evaluating. We don't think it's a

         19  large backlog.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: All right, so at

         21  least you're basically addressing that.

         22                 And you've got about, and correct me

         23  if I'm wrong, about 82 million in additional funding

         24  for child care, and I don't see that new slots are

         25  created with that. Now, maybe you might have
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          2  addressed that while I was out of the room, I don't

          3  know, but what is the increase going for, as well as

          4  not increasing these slots?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: Okay,

          6  part of the money is addressing services for

          7  increasing child care for the public assistance

          8  population, so some of that is new services.

          9                 The other remaining part of it are

         10  for insurance increases, reflecting revenue that we

         11  have but wasn't appropriated in the budget, like

         12  CCBG increases or preventive revenue that helps fund

         13  the budget, as well as we had cost regarding school

         14  age care that continued in our budget, we ran a

         15  summer program last year, we also had families

         16  requesting vouchers and using them. So, there is

         17  some new services with that money.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Okay. We have a

         19  little conflict as to whether they're, from my

         20  information and what you're saying that there are

         21  some new slots that have created. I'm advised that

         22  there aren't any. So, if you can address that?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: This is an

         24  important issue that we need to address, we have, as

         25  you can see in the Jan Plan budget additional monies

                                                            141

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  provided for us to complete our child care budget.

          3  Council shouldn't be lead to believe, however, that

          4  there is a bunch of new money because there really

          5  isn't.

          6                 This is a complex series of financial

          7  transactions by which we've tried to fill holes that

          8  we have until such time as we can have in July a

          9  full budget, both City and State, that we can point

         10  to. I urge you not to consider that we have a whole

         11  bunch of new money. That's not the case. We actually

         12  are now holding firm with what we have provided up

         13  to now through the end of this fiscal year as we

         14  continue to work, especially with the State, to get

         15  the money that we need.

         16                 The additional service dollars are in

         17  fact in there but those are for the continuing

         18  increases in the number of TANF recipients who are

         19  required to go to work and are required to have

         20  child care.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Tell us how many

         22  of those holes get to be holes? What happened?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, if you

         24  recall, going back the last two and a half years, we

         25  had struggled with the previous Administration in
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          2  Albany, and with a series of cutbacks they made were

          3  quite large but we were able to whittle down in

          4  various ways and add City tax levy to avoid any

          5  serious problem.

          6                 Eventually, though, all of that has

          7  got to be dealt with by the Albany budget, in order

          8  for us to keep child care whole, much less increase

          9  the services.

         10                 Now, there are other pieces to that,

         11  too, that are complicated and I would be happy to go

         12  through with you and staff, so you can look at every

         13  dollar, where it came from and where it's going, but

         14  the basic story is that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Obviously we have

         16  to concentrate on that, and I think we're going to

         17  have to really keep abreast because the State, I

         18  don't know if they're going to have their budget on

         19  time this year, hopefully with a new Governor, we

         20  will, but at the same time it creates a problem for

         21  us because we get the June 30th. And I just know for

         22  a fact, from my district and around the City, that

         23  the day care slots, there are more and more two

         24  parents working in a family, and they have a huge

         25  dilemma. Some of them are paying astronomical costs
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          2  for them. In most cases sometimes it's the one

          3  salary that actually goes to the cost of day care.

          4  And since living in New York City is the most

          5  expensive City to live in, I think we need to look

          6  at very seriously the economics of what it means for

          7  these households to have two working parents, and

          8  what it means to the children.

          9                 So, I would appreciate your keeping

         10  us informed of that.

         11                 I just have one other question, and

         12  it's not related to the budget, but I feel compelled

         13  to ask it.

         14                 Several months ago in my district, a

         15  woman who lived in Elmhurst, her baby was detained

         16  in the hospital for two weeks. I think it was in the

         17  ICU pediatrics. Ultimately, they found the baby in

         18  Jamaica in a dumpster, and my question is, that

         19  during a period when a baby is left, my question

         20  was, was there a record how often that mother

         21  visited her baby that could not go home with her?

         22                 What is in place to actually get back

         23  to you so that a baby isn't found in a dumpster?

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I would be

         25  happy to look into the specifics of this case.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I don't have it

          3  here but I will be happy to give it to you.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We have lost

          5  eight babies this year already, various situations,

          6  some of which aren't homicide, but we've had a

          7  number of these, and what we would expect to have

          8  happen is, if the parent, if the mother were not

          9  visiting a premie, especially, the question is, were

         10  the mandated reporters at the hospital, did they

         11  have enough information to call us in to look into

         12  whether this parent could parent this child. That is

         13  what should have happened, would have happened, I

         14  just don't know about this particular place.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Well, we read more

         16  and more about premie babies, and is this a budget

         17  item that you would need and the Council should look

         18  at as to the connection that you have to have,

         19  particularly with the Health and Hospital

         20  Corporation? And these babies that are detained? And

         21  as to whether a parent is actually going to that

         22  hospital during that whole time, and if not, that

         23  isn't a signal, that's a real hello, there's a major

         24  problem here.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Right.
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          2                 Again, not speaking to that

          3  situation, but the Department of Health --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Right, I'm

          5  speaking globally now.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The

          7  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene and

          8  Children's Services are both engaged together in an

          9  effort to dramatically increase the availability of

         10  the visiting nurse programs, so that every mother

         11  gets visits from a trained nurse who then is all of

         12  our eyes and ears into those situations.

         13                 We have expanded the availability of

         14  those services. We want to continue to do that. We

         15  think we've got the State to support our idea to use

         16  preventive services money for this, and any help

         17  that you all could provide, especially to the Senate

         18  and Assembly around the visiting nurse programs,

         19  they're worth their weight in gold in terms of

         20  prevention.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: I'm glad to hear

         22  that.

         23                 And I think, Mr. Chair, we'll work on

         24  that. Thank you very much. Thank you.

         25                 I'll yield to the others because I'm
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          2  beginning to lose my voice again.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I also

          4  appreciate that final point, Commissioner, because I

          5  think we are seeking ways to help in your agenda and

          6  to certainly do anything that has a preventative

          7  impact. And if that's one of the places that needs

          8  additional support, we would like to work with you

          9  in Albany on that.

         10                 I want to note also Helen was very

         11  kind in her words, but I think it's very, very

         12  crucial people understand that the reason this

         13  institution has committed so much energy to child

         14  care in the last five years had to do with a

         15  coalition of Council members who really made it a

         16  priority and had to make it a priority over other

         17  areas, and Helen was absolutely one of those people

         18  in budget negotiations and in the various rooms

         19  where decisions have to be made who always stood by

         20  child care, I want to thank you for that.

         21                 Just two quick points, and then I

         22  want to turn to Council Member Letitia James.

         23                 I just want to try a summary

         24  explanation of some of these larger budget actions

         25  in your budget, because I'm having trouble following
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          2  some of them, too, and I think Helen and I are in

          3  the same boat.

          4                 I think you know that my editorial

          5  view on the question of OST didn't like it, don't

          6  like it, have real concerns about it, here it is,

          7  we're trying to work with it.

          8                 I think, on the flip side, I had a

          9  very positive view, I do have a very positive view

         10  of the movement of child care from HRA to ACS, which

         11  I thought was a much more logical place, given

         12  especially the magnitude of the different missions

         13  that HRA tries to achieve.

         14                 Is in effect some of these large

         15  numbers we see new actions in your budget, is it in

         16  effect the result of child care having moved from

         17  HRA into ACS, and school-age child care having left

         18  ACS for DYCD; is that what's causing all of this?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: Somewhat.

         20  There is about $42 million having to do with the

         21  public assistance population needing child care and

         22  being in our budget and increased growth and it's

         23  about five percent over the last year. So, we didn't

         24  have that before, so, yes, that has something to do

         25  with it.
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          2                 Other actions have to do with the

          3  fact that we had a school-age program running this

          4  summer, so that's related to the OST initiative. We

          5  continued it for two additional months, so there

          6  were costs associated with that, as well as vouchers

          7  that needed to be issued for parents who decided to

          8  stay and receive school-age child care from

          9  voucher-based programs.

         10                 Other increases are due to insurance

         11  increases which are increasing everywhere in the

         12  nation, and our budget is catching up to those

         13  increases. Those are pretty much the major

         14  initiatives.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's very

         16  helpful, and I won't harangue the Commissioner's

         17  team because I don't think agencies get to make all

         18  these decisions, but, you know, it seems to me when

         19  the smoke clears and you do the final dollar figures

         20  on OST, it is not going to be the cost savings it

         21  was supposed to be, and I still don't get why if

         22  child care was working in ACS and the system wasn't

         23  broken and someone decided to fix it, because I

         24  think the fact that we're moving child care from HRA

         25  to ACS where it belongs, where there's a good track
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          2  record, where you focus on it and your experts, I

          3  should suggest that ACS should have been the natural

          4  home for all child care activities, and, again, if

          5  part of the rationale was saving money, I think

          6  these actions, the vouchers and everything else

          7  suggest that maybe we're not saving anywhere near as

          8  much as was projected. But you don't even have to

          9  respond to that.

         10                 Before turning to Letitia James, I

         11  know one of the issues she wants to raise is the

         12  issue with child care centers in Brooklyn, I will

         13  only open up by saying I appreciate Council Member

         14  James's efforts on this. I think she really has been

         15  the leader in terms of trying to get everyone in

         16  this Council focused, and particularly in the

         17  Brooklyn Delegation, focused on this issue. I think

         18  we've had some disagreements with ACS, but I think

         19  there has also been a lot of constructive

         20  engagement.

         21                 As much as I think Deputy

         22  Commissioner Hartzog maybe hasn't had the funnest

         23  meetings with us, I appreciate that she has made

         24  herself very available to us, and I should also say

         25  I formally congratulate you on becoming Deputy
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          2  Commissioner.

          3                 And I do feel like the individual

          4  work with the members in their districts on the

          5  centers in their districts has been productive and

          6  helpful, and as I've said, publicly I do commend the

          7  Administration for having relaxed the initial time

          8  line a bit to give us some more opportunity to work

          9  together to fully enroll each of those centers.

         10                 So, I will not go into greater

         11  detail, I fully believe these centers should

         12  survive, and I believe it can be done. I believe it

         13  will be done working together and they're crucial to

         14  life in Brooklyn.

         15                 But since Letitia James has really in

         16  particular been the tribune on this issue, I'd like

         17  to turn to her now for her specific questions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair. And I did not pay him to say all of that.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Wait a minute.

         21  I missed your statement. What did you say?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I didn't pay

         23  you to say all of those kind words, so I thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Would it be

         25  legal to?

                                                            151

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No, it would

          3  not be. And I would not accept it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          6                 I have a series of questions, and let

          7  me just outline the categories. They include, I want

          8  to talk a little bit about Head Start, Grand

          9  Parents, OST, Family Court, and lastly child care

         10  programs. Let me begin with grandparents.

         11                 When I used to work in the State and

         12  when I served as Counsel to then Assemblyman Al

         13  Vann, there were a number of grandparents that we

         14  met with throughout the State, and in my district,

         15  I'm noticing there is an increase in grandparents

         16  who are parents again, and I noticed that in your

         17  statement and no where in the budget is there any

         18  initiative or effort to address grandparents who are

         19  parents again, either providing respite care,

         20  providing homemaker assistance or anything of that

         21  sort. Can you talk to me a little about any

         22  initiatives focusing on grandparents?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure.

         24                 In the past year I am proud to report

         25  that the percentage of children placed with
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          2  relatives in New York City has virtually doubled

          3  from 20 percent to 40 percent. I think that's

          4  evidence of a commitment to relatives on our part

          5  and the private agency's part, but I also think that

          6  the demand for foster home placements has had some

          7  role in this as well.

          8                 Each of those placements will be

          9  provided with the same support and funding that

         10  foster families get. Here in New York City we're

         11  committed to seeing to it that relatives don't get

         12  treated as second class citizens when it comes to

         13  taking children into their homes who are removed

         14  from their families because of abuse or neglect.

         15                 That's one part of the challenge. The

         16  other involves grandparents who have stepped in

         17  without any involvement on the part of the Family

         18  Court or us to take care of their nieces, nephews,

         19  grandchildren, whatever, and we have little way of

         20  knowing about them but are interested in the

         21  community partnership effort.

         22                 We are interested in building and

         23  we've laid this out to our community partners, in

         24  building networks of care-giving families whether

         25  they're working for us or not, including those
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          2  relatives, we have such a thing in foster care here

          3  in circles of support, those are foster parents,

          4  including grandparents, but we would like to have as

          5  part of the community investment in this work, have

          6  them convene those grandparents as well.

          7                 Now, we've taken part in the

          8  Statewide work with grandparents and remain

          9  committed to finding ways beyond what I just said to

         10  help them. It's a balance, though, that there's a

         11  degree to which they don't want us in their lives

         12  and I think that's just fine. We've got plenty to

         13  do.

         14                 But the more opportunities we get and

         15  the more ideas you have, or anyone has about how the

         16  City can support them, they are bulwark in our

         17  communities for the future of children, no doubt

         18  about it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: What I hear

         20  from my constituents who are caretakers, who are

         21  grandparents, who are mothers again, is respite

         22  care. That's what they want more and more. They're

         23  just overwhelmed and they just need a break every

         24  now and then.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That would be
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          2  part of the community initiatives, as we go forward,

          3  rather than ACS stepping in, setting up some program

          4  and trying to figure out how to do RFPs and all

          5  that, the communities, we would provide support to

          6  the communities, for them to, if respite is a need

          7  in their neighborhoods, to develop it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: There is an

          9  organization called GAMA in my district, and so I

         10  look forward to discussing with your staff about how

         11  we can support GAMA.

         12                 And on that, in that vein,

         13  Commissioner, do you know whether or not the shelter

         14  allowance is going to be increased to reflect the

         15  kinship grant on the State level? Do you know if

         16  there's any efforts to?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: We have a

         18  number of scheduled increase, including the stipend

         19  amount for foster parents, which would include that

         20  group.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         22                 Head Start, I understand in your

         23  Preliminary Budget there is a decrease of 11 percent

         24  from the current modified budget and the reduction,

         25  obviously, is due to federal aid that has not been
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          2  recognized. And so my question is, do you anticipate

          3  making a difference up with City levy dollars, or

          4  what?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: The way

          6  that Head Start is budgeted in the City fiscal year,

          7  since it is a program that runs from February 1 on,

          8  would show a decrease year-to-year that is not real,

          9  because we just haven't budgeted yet the amount of

         10  money that we would get towards next year as we

         11  receive that grant.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I don't

         13  understand what that means?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: In other

         15  words, you're not comparing this year to next year

         16  on 12 months to 12 months.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Got it. So,

         18  there will not be a decrease in Head Start?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: The

         20  allocation is, the federal allocation is a little

         21  bit lower than the federal allocation the year

         22  before, but that is not what you're seeing in our

         23  City budget.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Do we

         25  anticipate as we go forward a decrease in Head Start
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          2  slots? Or is it too early because the federal budget

          3  has not been --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: No, we do

          5  not anticipate a decrease in Head Start slots.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: In the federal

          7  budget, has there been, in their Preliminary Budget

          8  do they propose to decrease Head Start?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: This

         10  Administration and Washington has been attempting to

         11  do that for five or six years, as you may know. And

         12  I expect they will continue to press to hold

         13  everything where it is now, or do a one percent

         14  annual cut.

         15                 But I'm sure with the Congress being

         16  the way it is now, they will be less able to

         17  actually pull that off, but we don't see immediately

         18  recovering all that we lost in the last five years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         20                 The Chairman talked about OST, and

         21  I'm really, really confused. DYCD came before us,

         22  not this Committee, but the Youth Committee and

         23  announced this $10 million initiative which was as a

         24  result of some, you know, concerns that were

         25  expressed by myself and Council Member Fidler,
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          2  missing pockets of poverty particularly in my

          3  district, and the fact that it didn't cover certain

          4  constituencies.

          5                 So, then we applauded this new

          6  initiative, this new $10 million, only to find out

          7  that day-care centers are closing, but that's

          8  another issue.

          9                 And, so, but now it's in your budget;

         10  is it DYCD? Is it OST? Are you keeping some partial?

         11  Can you please explain to me?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: This $10

         13  million is in our budget in intra-City, so that we

         14  could expand capacity and expand care to our

         15  school-age population, as our children turn into

         16  school-age children.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the

         18  capacity that you seek to cover, does it represent

         19  those constituencies that were not provided for in

         20  last year's budget?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARTZOG: We are

         22  currently working with DYCD to address exactly what

         23  you're talking about, which is looking at which

         24  communities do not have OST, that have our

         25  population, and how do we work together to expand
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          2  capacity and target those communities.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, the $10

          4  million is to expand existing programs, cover

          5  constituencies that were not previously provided

          6  funding and new constituencies, or a combination

          7  thereof?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: The 10

          9  million is to serve our population. I know that DYCD

         10  came before you and also talked about funding they

         11  have to expand their services as well.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, DYCD will

         13  be operating OST as well as ACS?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: No,

         15  that's not true.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER NUCCIO: The

         18  inter-City is set up so that in our budget ACS will

         19  be paying DYCD for expanded capacity for our

         20  population of children turning school age.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I see. Got it.

         22  Okay, that makes sense, okay.

         23                 Family Court. I understand that there

         24  is an increase in funds for attorneys in Family

         25  Court, which I applaud. It's absolutely wonderful.
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          2  What will be the standard now, the number of cases

          3  to attorneys as a result of this increase?

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Caseloads now

          5  are about 85. The ABA standard is 60, that's where

          6  we're headed. We continue, though, to have a big

          7  challenge holding onto attorneys during this crisis.

          8  They have just as much as the workers were

          9  overwhelmed with cases beginning January, a year

         10  ago. Of course, those cases that went into court,

         11  not only removals, but also Court ordered

         12  supervision filings, have gone up dramatically.

         13                 So, we will continue to press to get

         14  enough attorneys in there to get down to 60 where

         15  we'd like to be, but we've got a ways to go if we're

         16  going to slow down attorneys moving onto other

         17  opportunities.

         18                 We're paying a lot of attention to

         19  that internally, the best immediate answer is when

         20  caseloads go down, less people will leave. But there

         21  are other opportunities we're going to be looking

         22  into to see what we might do to hold onto those

         23  young people who come to work for us as attorneys.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And those

         25  attorneys are leaving because of the conditions or
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          2  because of the salary?

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We have been

          4  interviewing a number of them and I would say it has

          5  to do with primarily the caseloads, but secondarily

          6  our ability to pay them what they're worth. Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And in the

          8  State budget, the Preliminary State budget, is there

          9  an increase in Family Court judges?

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: No, there

         11  hasn't been, that we've heard, any movement, except

         12  on the part of ourselves and the courts to go into

         13  that direction. But there is no doubt about it, if

         14  you look at our long-term trend, the need for

         15  attorneys for referees and judges will continue to

         16  be at this high level, and we're nowhere near where

         17  we need to be now.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And in the

         19  Mayor's Preliminary Budget 2007, they indicate that

         20  there was an increase, the number of children

         21  enrolled in publicly funded child care programs

         22  administered by ACS, including group child care and

         23  family child care Head Start programs, increased by

         24  2.6 percent, nearly 2,000 children.

         25                 That's also confirmed by an
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          2  independent report by IBO, which basically says that

          3  there is no indication that the number of children

          4  in these programs is decreasing.

          5                 In fact, in the first four months of

          6  2007, compared to the first four months of 2006, the

          7  number of children enrolled in publicly funded child

          8  care programs increased by two percent,

          9  approximately 2,000, and there is no evidence that

         10  this trend will reverse.

         11                 And, so, I ask you the most troubling

         12  question this morning, or this afternoon, and that

         13  is, why did we close Irving Place and why did we

         14  close David Bradley? And why are 13 or 14 child care

         15  centers in the Borough of Brooklyn on our endangered

         16  list?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Let me begin

         18  with this: The increase in the number of children

         19  receiving care is being driven largely by our

         20  attempt to get empty classrooms filled.

         21                 We're only at the very beginning of

         22  that, but as I mentioned, 1,000 children just in the

         23  Bronx and Queens have gotten child care who haven't

         24  gotten it before because we said you have to get

         25  those classrooms filled, or we'll take the spots, we
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          2  won't close them down but we'll take the spots and

          3  move them to places where they are needed, and where

          4  the agency will fill them.

          5                 That's what we're beginning to do in

          6  Brooklyn, and I think we're making some real

          7  progress, but if it's been -- I've only been here

          8  two and a half years, but my experience with this

          9  problem is that we will never get to full

         10  enrollment. And, remember, we've got thousands of

         11  families waiting and eligible, and we have open

         12  slots, and what's happened in the past is ACS had a

         13  role in this, we pointed fingers between us and the

         14  day care centers as to who was the cause of slots

         15  being empty. We've put an end to that.

         16                 We've set up, we're going to do a

         17  whole new enrollment process in the centers, but

         18  we've also set up enrollment capacity now in the

         19  centers.

         20                 So, beginning last November, we

         21  focused on just 13 centers in Brooklyn as the next

         22  phase in our work around the City, to say to those

         23  centers, and every one of those centers had two

         24  classrooms empty, two classrooms. This isn't a

         25  question of a number of five versus six, this is two
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          2  classrooms, and we told them we are giving you until

          3  March 1st to get those spots filled, or we will take

          4  them elsewhere. Not that we will close anybody but

          5  that we will take them elsewhere. That has led, we

          6  believe, with the Council's support and help and

          7  pressure from you toward us, that's led to our

          8  dramatic improvement in the number of slots being

          9  filled by those same centers, and if we work

         10  together on this, we'll get to the point where

         11  everybody wins because we'll be serving more

         12  children and those centers will be full. That's our

         13  goal here.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And

         15  Commissioner, I don't want to mince words, but by

         16  transferring the children to another center, you are

         17  in effect putting great pressure on the center to

         18  close its doors, particularly if we go to a voucher

         19  program and a direct leasing contract. That's what's

         20  happening at Irving Place because they are now a

         21  voucher program, they have a difficult time covering

         22  their expenses, children are going elsewhere as a

         23  result of all of the awareness concerning Irving

         24  Place, and with regards to comments that have been

         25  made that they've lost their license and that
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          2  they're under-enrolled and that they have some

          3  management problems.

          4                 So, they're struggling, they're still

          5  holding on and we're trying to assist them.

          6                 And I want to thank you, I've been at

          7  meetings concerning Martha Udell and Duffield Place

          8  (phonetic), and you're absolutely right ACS was

          9  blaming the center and back and forth. There was a

         10  lot of back and forth over numbers and backlog and

         11  paper work and whose desk and who is responsible.

         12  But when I see the fact that the Mayor's Management

         13  Report says that there are two, there's an increase

         14  and there's a need for child care, and it's backed

         15  up by IBO, as opposed to closing down centers, I

         16  think that we should automatically move to the

         17  facilitated enrollment program, such as you did in

         18  the Bronx and that to cancel their contract as a

         19  providing, opposed to providing them with technical

         20  assistance, and they are a community-based

         21  organization and they require a lot of assistance

         22  and a lot of hand-holding. I recognize you're not in

         23  the job of hand-holding, that's partly my job, and

         24  in the absence of an outreach program, of course

         25  you're going to have empty classrooms.
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          2                 We have a community in my district,

          3  again, it's on the edge of Bedford Stuyvesant, where

          4  ACS cases are up, child protective cases are up, and

          5  so two centers in this community have been closed in

          6  a year where the need is great, and there has been

          7  no outreach.

          8                 And I know that because I go to these

          9  communities. Let me just also tell you, I'm reaching

         10  out as a result of the destructive fire in the

         11  Bronx. There is a large Muslim community in my

         12  community, all on Bedford and Atlantic Avenue, and I

         13  must admit, we need to do more outreach to them. And

         14  a lot of the women, unfortunately, are not literate.

         15  They cannot read. And you need to do home-based

         16  visits and talk to these women in Wolof (phonetic),

         17  in French, they cannot read and they need child care

         18  services.

         19                 The Latino community, they need

         20  outreach services. They are afraid that their

         21  immigration status will be reported to INS or

         22  whatever they're called now. They're there. I know

         23  them, and we're closing centers. I don't understand

         24  it.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARTZOG: Let me
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          2  just say that there is no intent by ACS to close

          3  centers due to under-enrollment. There are more than

          4  300,000 under the age of six in New York City

          5  eligible for subsidized care. Our capacity, that

          6  includes contracted child care, Head Start and

          7  vouchers, meets only 27 percent. We only have

          8  capacity available for 27 percent of need in New

          9  York City. This is why we must make sure that every

         10  seat is filled, every day, every month.

         11                 To get exactly at what you Council

         12  members are saying, that there are families in need

         13  of care. I want to be clear that with these programs

         14  in Brooklyn that had more, or at least I should say

         15  two vacant classrooms, that represents 602 vacant

         16  slots, at a value of $7.2 million annually in City

         17  taxpayers' money.

         18                 We have a responsibility to taxpayers

         19  and to children in the City of New York to make sure

         20  that every seat is fulled. That is the purpose of

         21  the full enrollment effort. It is exactly what we're

         22  doing in Brooklyn. We are borough-by-borough,

         23  community-by-community, working with our programs to

         24  help them achieve full enrollment. It is not our

         25  intent to close centers due to under-enrollment.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And Deputy

          3  Commissioner Hartzog, I agree totally with your

          4  statement and with your passion, but at a time when

          5  we're looking at surplus in New York City, I would

          6  think that our priority would be to fill these slots

          7  and fill them together and not even talk about the

          8  possibility of canceling contracts with centers,

          9  particularly in under-served communities. And,

         10  again, I look forward to working with you so that

         11  all of the 13 day care centers that are on this

         12  endangered list do not close their doors, contracts

         13  are not cancelled, that we continue not to transfer

         14  funds from OST, from day care centers to OST, and

         15  that we continue to serve the interest of the

         16  children of the City of New York with their tax

         17  dollars, and that we do it together.

         18                 I couldn't agree with your statement

         19  more, but we are looking at a major, major, major

         20  surplus, and I can think of no worthy constituency

         21  than children.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARTZOG: I agree.

         23  And I just want to, again, thank the Council for all

         24  of their work in Brooklyn. To date, 281 additional

         25  children are being served by these programs. That

                                                            168

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  represents almost a 50 percent reduction in

          3  vacancies in Brooklyn over the past four months in a

          4  very short period of time.

          5                 That's thanks to our team, working

          6  with these programs, to the City Council's help.

          7  Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, thank

          9  you. Look, that's the note that we all want to focus

         10  on here. We entirely agree with you on full

         11  enrollment, and I appreciate your passion because

         12  the backlog, the waiting list is what should be

         13  gripping us all here, that we've got to serve every

         14  family we can. We're all here to protect the

         15  taxpayer, too, but the first issue here is serving

         16  every child we can.

         17                 I think the good news here is, I

         18  think we can have our differences about how this

         19  whole thing emerged and how the communication went,

         20  the bottom line is, historically we are allies on

         21  child care. It's just that simple. The Mayor has had

         22  a commitment to child care, ACS has a commitment to

         23  child care, the Council has put an extraordinarily

         24  amount of resources, and particularly if you look at

         25  the proportion to other areas that we could be
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          2  investing in, child care has been a real major

          3  priority for the last five years.

          4                 So, we are your partners in getting

          5  every one of your seats filled. It would be

          6  disingenuous to not say we believe a receipt will be

          7  filled, and we believe every center will be saved in

          8  this current situation, and that's our goal. And if

          9  we're not headed in that direction, you know,

         10  there's going to be issues between us and we hope

         11  that never happens. And we think in partnership we

         12  can avoid that. And you have shown some flexibility.

         13                 But I want just a playoff of Council

         14  Member James's last point. We want it to be an

         15  assumption of we're going to get there, an

         16  assumption of we're going to solve the problem, not

         17  the other way around. And I think we are moving

         18  together on this.

         19                 I also would say at this point we

         20  should note that the Administration did something

         21  very important by baselining the $10 million in

         22  child care funding so that the Council had put in

         23  over the last few years, that was a big step forward

         24  for child care, and when you add the $10 million

         25  over the last four budget years and $24 million from
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          2  the Council before that, there's been a very

          3  sustained investment, and I think baselining it was

          4  a real statement of the Administration's priorities.

          5                 I know Council Member Sears had one

          6  follow-up question.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: Thank you very

          8  much. It was just more appropriate at this time than

          9  it was earlier.

         10                 I know that dialing 3-1-1 people can

         11  get some information on where the day care providers

         12  are. However, I get numerous calls in my office

         13  because they don't know where they are. Have you

         14  considered putting this information on the web and

         15  Access New York? And if so, is it in your budget,

         16  and when do you anticipate doing this? Which would

         17  list all of the providers in the five boroughs where

         18  people would know where to go?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARTZOG: Very

         20  good suggestion. Next week we will have the listing

         21  of all of our programs, contracted center-based

         22  programs, on Access New York and ACS's website.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: You will?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER HARTZOG: Next

         25  week.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS: That's wonderful.

          3  Thank you very much. It might reduce the phone calls

          4  in my office. Thanks.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I give

          6  Council Member Sears credit for positive oversight,

          7  and Deputy Commissioner, we appreciate the strength

          8  of your answer, and we will definitely be watching.

          9  And, please, let's try and make whatever we list

         10  something that the average citizen can understand

         11  and avoid government speak, and make the information

         12  very accessible. I think that really could

         13  contribute to connecting the right folks in need to

         14  the right child care seats.

         15                 Finishing real quick on child care,

         16  because there are some other very, very important

         17  items, and we only have a little bit of time left

         18  for ACS, I don't want to get into a big debate on

         19  this, I want to raise a point, and I'll say how ever

         20  creatively you will answer this, there still seems

         21  to be a ways to go in coordination in terms of the

         22  supply of child care versus UPK. It seems that we

         23  are not yet fully coordinated as a City in terms of

         24  where we're placing which type of program and how we

         25  make sure that OST on the one-hand, UPK on the other
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          2  hand, and ACS's child care efforts are done in

          3  coordination, thinking geographically, thinking

          4  about age groups. The irony is it's all limitless

          5  need. We had the occasion on Friday to meet with

          6  Governor Spitzer, a group of Council members, and

          7  one of the things we raised was UPK, and I described

          8  to the Governor the fact that apparently there is

          9  119,000 kids eligible in New York City this year,

         10  four-year-olds eligible and only 46,000 are being

         11  served, and most of them are half-day programs, so

         12  there is a huge need there going unanswered.

         13  Hundreds of thousands of folks could be accessing

         14  ACS-type child care. You know, et cetera, et cetera.

         15                 So, I just want to know if you could

         16  say anything about the fact that we have to do more

         17  to coordinate each of those pieces of the equation

         18  and particularly thinking geographically so we're

         19  not redundant in one area and then missing in

         20  another area.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: A couple of

         22  things. First, I'm happy to say that City Hall is

         23  stepping in and providing us with guidance and

         24  support, all of the agencies involved, and we expect

         25  that that's going to help us immeasurably.
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          2                 I would also say that we have been in

          3  regular meetings with DOE about this issue, and that

          4  they are committed, as we are, to figuring this

          5  problem out, it's more complicated than most, but we

          6  believe it can be figured out.

          7                 What we expect to have with the

          8  increase in Universal Pre-K, is a system in which

          9  OST, UPK, child care, and Head Start are made

         10  available to families in ways that make sense to

         11  families and that meet their needs.

         12                 As you all probably remember, we did

         13  a year and a half ago an initial needs assessment

         14  for child care and Head Start in the City, and we

         15  are close to being able to release an update on

         16  that, which will show that we have far fewer slots

         17  for infants and toddlers than we need, and that

         18  that's an area in which ACS and its centers should

         19  be able to grow, that Head Start being primarily a

         20  half-day program, although a full half-day program,

         21  they provide enormous child development services

         22  that are often not available. We need to integrate

         23  that throughout our system, and, of course,

         24  Universal Pre-K could also be provided in the same

         25  site so that parents can drop a youngster off and
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          2  come back eight hours later.

          3                 We're headed in that direction. It is

          4  enormously complicated because of the various

          5  funding mechanisms and the need to get some programs

          6  up and running and UPK right away, and so I don't

          7  want to pretend that it's going to be simple and

          8  easy, but I can tell you that the Mayor's Office and

          9  the agencies are committed to making it happen.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, now, just

         11  two more child care editorial comments, and comment

         12  back, if you choose.

         13                 One is, after having just heard from

         14  Commissioner Doar about the prospect or the

         15  possibility, I should say, of sanctions under the

         16  new federal regulations around TANF, and I think we

         17  should all be painfully aware of how real that

         18  possibility is, he identified correctly one of the

         19  biggest problems, lack of available child care for

         20  families that are trying to get to self-sufficiency

         21  and trying to do their work participation, and I

         22  said to him that I think we better think about when

         23  the economics starts to flip where it would have

         24  been more cost effective to invest in more child

         25  care seats rather than take a sanction which could
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          2  be well over $100 million a year from the federal

          3  government. So, point one.

          4                 Point two, obviously there is still

          5  hope that in all of the back and forth and maybe

          6  with the new Congress, maybe with a new president,

          7  et cetera, that there would be a renewed effort to

          8  fund the expansion of child care, and even from the

          9  Governor. But predating this Administration there

         10  was a nasty habit in the City of money that was

         11  meant for the expansion of child care being

         12  supplanted into other uses. So, it seems to me that

         13  all roads are leading us to child care, that we have

         14  huge need, that if we don't resolve that need we're

         15  keeping people from self-sufficiency and we're

         16  keeping kids from achieving what they might, we are

         17  even risking potential federal sanctions because of

         18  the TANF regs. And I think it means that whether we

         19  are blessed with external funding or not, we have to

         20  find a way to invest in new seats.

         21                 Care to comment? You can clap, that's

         22  a good one. Care to comment?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, we have

         24  exactly the same commitment, there is far too many

         25  families waiting and far too many families who don't
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          2  even know about the availability of these services.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Back on

          4  child welfare there's several issues I want to

          5  raise. And I should mention, we have some testimony

          6  here that I'm going to make sure goes into the

          7  record from Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum, who has

          8  been tremendously focused on child welfare issues

          9  and has been a great help to us on that.

         10                 Let me start by saying, you know, so

         11  much has come up in the last few months and a lot of

         12  commitments have been made and I think it's our job

         13  to now follow up on them.

         14                 So, you talked earlier about the

         15  staffing and we very much appreciate the

         16  unprecedented resources and unprecedented numbers of

         17  staff, but it still seems that there's a serious

         18  attrition problem, a turn over problem, is that why

         19  you have that significant amount of new monthly

         20  hiring of child protective workers because you still

         21  have a substantial turnover problem?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The demand

         23  has remained high, so there hasn't been any

         24  diminution in that, with the possible exception of

         25  January '06, we've been just as pressed as we were a
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          2  year ago under those incredible circumstances.

          3                 So, that's number one. Number two, we

          4  do have, our turnover remains high, as of this time

          5  this year it's 20 percent, but over the course of a

          6  year it could well be 30 percent. That I think

          7  primarily happened because the new classes we

          8  brought in in the midst of the crisis got

          9  overwhelmed right away.

         10                 We're continuing the process of

         11  building the net numbers of workers, that's the

         12  ultimate answer to this, assuming the reports are

         13  going to continue high.

         14                 But in addition to that, we've set up

         15  teams in the Bronx and in Queens and in several

         16  other offices, to see what we can do in terms of the

         17  way in which the job is getting done to make it

         18  easier to accomplish. Let me give you an example.

         19  We've seen in ChildStat too many times workers

         20  getting a report to be investigated early in the

         21  afternoon, but then going out in the evening, and if

         22  they have to make a removal working right on through

         23  to 2:00 a.m. We need to do better at getting that

         24  report to her at 11:00 a.m. because too many of our

         25  workers are losing time with their families that
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          2  they need. So, there's a piece of this that has to

          3  be focused on in the way in which we do our work,

          4  and we're paying a lot of attention to that.

          5                 There are also cases in which

          6  tomorrow morning would be fine, this is not an

          7  emergency, this is a situation that needs to be

          8  dealt with but tomorrow morning would be fine, and

          9  still we've had pressure from within the

         10  organization to get out there, get out there, get

         11  out there. You worry over time if that's about

         12  checking off the box as opposed to actually getting

         13  the work done.

         14                 So, we're doing a lot of work now,

         15  but the ultimate answer is getting enough good

         16  people on the line so that these caseloads are where

         17  they need to be, which we have said is 12. We

         18  reached 12 last summer, but then as soon as schools

         19  got back in, we've gone back up again. We're still

         20  well below where we were, but we're still working on

         21  this. That's why we have to keep hiring.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: What's your

         23  caseload average now?

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Hold on a

         25  sec, I'll give it to you. It's a little bit less
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          2  than 16 Citywide.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, as much

          4  as I agree with you that, you know, better

          5  management might be part of or learning lessons as

          6  you go along might be part of helping the

          7  caseworkers and relieving some pressure, I worry

          8  when I hear it go back up to 16. Reporting levels

          9  aren't going anywhere as far as we can see, and I

         10  personally believe that that means New Yorkers are

         11  focused and engaged as they should be protecting

         12  kids.

         13                 I mean, if you've got a continued

         14  turnover problem, you're reporting levels aren't

         15  going down, your caseload ratio is not where you

         16  want it to be, is better management enough of an

         17  answer or do you need more investment? What do you

         18  need?

         19                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, we're

         20  well up to our maximum in terms of bringing new

         21  people on. I'd hate to have to go, we might, but I'd

         22  hate to have to go further than we are.

         23                 The difference, I believe, and only

         24  time will tell in the next three to six months, the

         25  difference I believe is that a worker who started
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          2  with us in January, is going to be building up her

          3  caseload to 12 on a much slower basis than that

          4  worker who started for us in May when she had to go

          5  right to 20. Now, we'll see if that assumption is

          6  correct. Also, if the other things that we're

          7  attempting work out. But I think that is primarily

          8  what is driving the turnover and I think I believe

          9  we have seen the worst of it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I was struck

         11  when I visited Family Court, and as you know, we in

         12  the Council put a lot of energy lately into trying

         13  to get that increase in judges that you talked about

         14  earlier, another item that we raised to the Governor

         15  in our meeting on Friday. I was struck by how much

         16  time is taken up of your child protective workers

         17  sitting around not able to do what they want to do

         18  and care to do and are trained to do and be out

         19  there protecting families. And it was atrocious, and

         20  there were so many troubling features about what I

         21  saw. But possibly the most troubling is the idea

         22  that the single most valuable people in the entire

         23  system are folks at the front line who are actually

         24  in a position to save kids were stuck waiting for a

         25  procedure that might take ten minutes, you know,
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          2  waiting hours and hours to get back out where they

          3  wanted to be.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Right, it's a

          5  tremendous problem, not just for us, but with the

          6  private agencies' caseworkers as well, you know,

          7  we're handling a case when the children are in

          8  foster care.

          9                 Two things about it: One is, we are

         10  increasing almost weekly the capacity or the

         11  availability of those laptops so that people can

         12  work while they're waiting.

         13                 But ultimately the answer is the

         14  courts need to be in a position to do, to set their

         15  schedules the way most of the rest of the country's

         16  court set their schedules so that you have an hour

         17  or a half an hour which you can expect, that's when

         18  within range, that's when you can expect the hearing

         19  to happen. You don't get called in for all day. You

         20  get called in for half a day. It's just at this

         21  point in overload with the courts, it's going to be

         22  harder to get there. Some courts, some judges

         23  actually have that and it works quite well. It's not

         24  perfect but it's much better than waiting all day or

         25  half a day. That's the kind of thing we need to have
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          2  in place.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: On a related

          4  point about just the work the protective workers do,

          5  I was heartened by your example of the way the case

          6  with the door that wasn't being opened was handled,

          7  and I was thrilled that your, I guess you'd call it

          8  consultant --

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Investigative

         10  consultant.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Investigative

         12  consultant, sounds like a pretty tough customer, and

         13  I'm happy about that, was able to help the

         14  protective worker. But first of all, I will just say

         15  editorially, you know, the idea that someone is not

         16  answering the door, you know, you have to come back,

         17  still drives me personally crazy, because I might

         18  view, even though I believe in civil liberties, the

         19  one who is not answering the door might be

         20  presenting a danger to a child, I can see that door

         21  kicked down. But that notwithstanding, do you feel

         22  that front-line workers are getting the security

         23  support they need? We talked about support in the

         24  past hearings, support from the police, certainly

         25  not having to go into dangerous situations alone, is
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          2  that now common or are there still honestly still

          3  situations where someone may be, especially with

          4  this press to get on top of cases quickly, has to go

          5  into an insecure environment alone?

          6                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, we have

          7  a lot more capacity now to support workers when they

          8  need that kind of support, and we have workers in

          9  the field now with the clear sense from us, I

         10  believe, that if they believe they need help in any

         11  given situation, they have people to turn to,

         12  including pairing up with other workers.

         13                 This is never going to be a perfect

         14  situation or a perfect world because you never know

         15  what you're walking into, but if you add to what

         16  we've done so far, the fact that we now have very

         17  quick contact that we can make with the precinct and

         18  with detectives, we have people to call rather than

         19  simply calling in and waiting for a car to get

         20  there, who knows how long it might take. We now have

         21  contact people and people on our staff who can

         22  intervene if we need to intervene. Any other ideas

         23  that workers have or anyone has to how to protect

         24  our workers we're always open to, because it's been

         25  a problem really going back to the late eighties
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          2  throughout the country.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Does a worker

          4  have inherently the opportunity, if they're not

          5  comfortable going into a situation, to wait until

          6  they get some back-up? Is that a policy matter?

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That is our

          8  policy, absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Now, on

         10  ChildStat, and I know we only have a little bit of

         11  time left, but on ChildStat, I think it would help

         12  us a lot and I know I'm going to be sitting with

         13  you, and acting seeing one of the sessions, which

         14  I'm very much looking forward to, but can you tell

         15  us what we've learned? I mean, have we found there

         16  are some offices that are stronger and weaker? Have

         17  we found there are certain types of cases that we

         18  need to address in a different way? Have we found

         19  our supervisors are doing the right job or need more

         20  training? What have we found so far in your

         21  collective experience with ChildStat?

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: This might

         23  take a couple of hours, but --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You can do the

         25  short version, we'll have the longer version.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We've

          3  learned, for example, that too many cases were being

          4  closed without services. We learned that we were not

          5  going into court in order to get the court's support

          6  to demand that families change their behavior, or we

          7  would have to take further action. It was a

          8  relatively rare occurrence where we went into court

          9  unless we were asking for a removal. That's changed.

         10                 We learned that sexual abuse

         11  investigations, when not being done by our experts

         12  that we have in the hospital and sexual abuse units,

         13  the workers still, this is a difficult area of our

         14  work, we all know that and they need additional

         15  attention and support to do that.

         16                 We learned that workers were having

         17  difficulty opening up the investigation, and that

         18  bad habits had gotten into play in which workers

         19  were starting investigations by listing allegations,

         20  which is not the way you go about doing it.

         21                 We learned that our child protective

         22  managers had been put too often in the position of

         23  supervisors. There is no way they could cover five

         24  supervisor units of workers and supervise individual

         25  cases.
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          2                 What happened over time was that we

          3  bumped up approval for various investigations that

          4  were said to be high need or high danger cases, they

          5  had to sign off on, and they were signing off on 75

          6  percent of the cases.

          7                 We need to strengthen, support,

          8  monitor, but also trust our front-line supervisors

          9  enough for them to do their jobs so managers can be

         10  more managers and leaders.

         11                 So, across the whole range of child

         12  protective work, I think this process is opening

         13  doors for all of us, for managers especially, to

         14  understand where the agency is going and what we

         15  believe in and that what they want to do is exactly

         16  what we want them to do, in terms of protecting

         17  children and that the bureaucratic pieces of this

         18  are essential but secondary, all the way through to

         19  our learning that practice out there was different

         20  than we had expected it to be in our policy manuals.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, I imagine

         22  on some of these, like the approach to Family Court

         23  and the approach to how you open or begin cases

         24  properly, there are training actions that can be

         25  taken to correct that, but when you talk about too
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          2  many cases being closed out of services, then that

          3  one obviously jumps off the page in particular. That

          4  gets back to the relative lack of options that may

          5  exist in terms of, I'm assuming you're saying

          6  preventative services is one of the examples.

          7                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, on that one

          9  I hear, the way I interpret that to say is that

         10  there may have been policy problems or training

         11  problems that led to the closure without services,

         12  but there's also the material problem that there may

         13  not be services to turn to.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, of

         15  course, it could be some of each.

         16                 This is the good example of the good

         17  data we're tracking every week and comparing

         18  unit-by-unit, field office-by-field office,

         19  borough-by-borough, and those numbers have gone

         20  down. But too frequently when you look in-depth in a

         21  case, and we do that every week as well, what you

         22  see is a parent who is basically rejecting of help,

         23  that being the case prevention is a voluntary

         24  service. The question then should come to the worker

         25  and supervisor, and even up higher, if necessary, is
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          2  this situation dangerous enough, assuming the family

          3  is not going to change its behavior that we should

          4  go for removal. That decision didn't get made

          5  enough.

          6                 But probably more important, that

          7  option being known to the parent didn't happen often

          8  enough so that they took seriously our intention to

          9  see to it that this youngster doesn't continue to

         10  struggle alone with abuse and neglect.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I heard you to

         12  say there that, in fact, decisions weren't made. I

         13  didn't hear -- if I interpreted you correctly, that

         14  there was in a sense a lull or a lag where a firm

         15  decision on how to proceed was not made in some

         16  cases?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The

         18  assumption was, well, the parent rejects help. We've

         19  indicated abuse, but depending on which worker was

         20  involved or which supervisor, that decision may not

         21  have been made carefully enough that we shouldn't go

         22  to a next step.

         23                 That's what court ordered supervision

         24  gives them, which is this interim step, and the fact

         25  that those numbers are way up help us know at least
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          2  that workers and supervisors are taking that option

          3  as being available to them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In the same

          5  style as the COMSTAT system with the police, has

          6  that caused you in some cases to put mandates or

          7  requirements on the time line for making decisions

          8  on cases? Have you turned around and sort of ordered

          9  a set time line so that the cases can't drift?

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Since last

         11  fall we've issued what seems to be close to 20

         12  special child safety bulletins from the changing

         13  policy or reinforcing policy around the whole chain

         14  of lessons we've been learning regarding

         15  investigations and safety.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I want to ask

         17  two more very quick questions on child welfare and

         18  then there's just a few other quick items. In a

         19  word, and you don't need to give a detailed answer,

         20  do you feel the problems experienced previously with

         21  the Connections system have been resolved, are being

         22  resolved, are not being resolved? And how soon?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: One word?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: In a few words.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Connections,
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          2  we've avoided the tremendous crises that we've had

          3  in the past. The system is running. It is adequate.

          4  We're about to add another build onto it. But the

          5  new leadership in Albany at OCFS, the new

          6  Commissioner especially understands that it's still

          7  a ten-year-old system. So, now we have a clunky kind

          8  of system functioning, we have to make some major

          9  changes. The question is for them, and it's

         10  understandable, how far can we go in a short period

         11  of time. If you throw out   everything that we have

         12  done up to now over the last ten years, however

         13  poorly done, it means you waste resources and time

         14  maybe. So, the current thought is we'll try to get a

         15  new platform that is web-based but keep the general

         16  system the way it is. That's as deep as I go by the

         17  way.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Finally, again,

         19  on child welfare and then again a couple of other

         20  quick items: in all of the various hearings we've

         21  had since the death of Nixzmary Brown, and we've

         22  tried to do systematic effort here to talk to

         23  different agencies, including police, education,

         24  DHS, and obviously in a separate sense Family Court

         25  system, I still felt after the hearing with DHS very

                                                            191

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  unsettled by the case, I believe it was Nia Ford who

          3  died in Fox House, it was a DHS-supportive facility,

          4  a small DHS supportive facility, I think in East

          5  Harlem; is that correct? Do you remember? And my

          6  concern was that there just didn't seem to be the

          7  clearest supervisory and security protocols in that

          8  facility. That's the case where the mother had been

          9  out drinking and came home.

         10                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I just wonder

         12  if there has been any progress or action between ACS

         13  and DHS to tighten up the monitoring of, especially

         14  in this case, a teenage single mother who was

         15  obviously involved in substance abuse, you know, and

         16  how we can protect children in that kind of case?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Actually,

         18  Commissioner Hess and I have recently signed another

         19  agreement to expand our sharing of information,

         20  which will include now families who are being denied

         21  shelter by DHS, or families that are leaving to go

         22  into a scatter site, but they have history with us,

         23  so that our workers will be automatically informed

         24  of that.

         25                 So, we have the front door
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          2  collaboration where we look into every person coming

          3  in in DHS's front door, and determine if somebody is

          4  on the run, if somebody has an active case that we

          5  didn't know where they were, et cetera. But we also

          6  are in a position to track families that may be at

          7  special risk.

          8                 We still have to rely heavily on DHS

          9  staff, understanding the need to get us involved

         10  when they become concerned about a particular need,

         11  and I think that Commissioner Hess is very much

         12  committed to seeing to it that that happens, but

         13  it's going to take some time. We did not, by the

         14  way, have an open case in that situation.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, I know

         16  that. And I think the world of Commissioner Hess,

         17  but I have to say to you that I would urge, you

         18  know, real focus on this matter. In clearly a

         19  disproportionate number of deaths we have each year

         20  occur, and I'm not trying to say DHS isn't dealing

         21  with a very difficult situation, but when you take

         22  the total child abuse deaths in the City, there's a

         23  disproportionate number in DHS facilities, and has

         24  been for awhile, and the most troubling element of

         25  that for me is that's some place that we as the
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          2  public sector control, or in the case of some place

          3  like Fox House, you know, supervise and fund, and

          4  that should be where we have more chance of saving

          5  children, not less. You know, I think the way you

          6  said it made me a little hopeful, looking at people

          7  who were high risk. I've got to believe a teenage

          8  single mother with a substance abuse problem who is

          9  out drinking, you know, that should ring so many

         10  bells silly, and that there should be a real

         11  question of whether a child is returned to that

         12  mother at that moment. And that did not happen in

         13  Fox House, even though from everything I've heard,

         14  it's a small well-run facility, it's even more

         15  troubling to me that it's a small, well-run facility

         16  and it still managed to happen.

         17                 So, I have felt for quite awhile that

         18  the ACS, DHS link is so crucial and there has been

         19  progress but I'm not sure we're all the way there,

         20  and I would urge you that we should really up the

         21  standards on that front because I just think it's

         22  some place where we have more chance of saving a

         23  child than most places.

         24                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

         25                 I also think, the way I think about
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          2  it is, the families that are most on the margin and

          3  in trouble will be those families who end up needing

          4  places to live. So, that's why there is so much

          5  cross-over and that's why we have to work together.

          6                 I also would mention that

          7  Commissioner Hess is from Baltimore as well.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

          9                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: So, we're

         10  taking over.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I believe if

         12  you can handle Baltimore, you can handle anything,

         13  so we've chosen the right people.

         14                 Finally, just a couple of specific

         15  concerns outside of child welfare. We had a hearing

         16  a few months back jointly with the Immigration

         17  Committee on the question of special immigration

         18  juvenile status, and the key person in your agency

         19  Mark Lewis testified, and you know, it's a small

         20  number of cases, but I feel it very deeply because

         21  these are kids that don't manage to navigate their

         22  particular circumstances, they could be left in a

         23  very difficult situation. Have we made any progress

         24  on that front?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: I think we
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          2  are making progress but I think we have a ways to

          3  go. The number one problem is we don't know how

          4  often this problem, this need exists, in terms of

          5  our foster kids.

          6                 I issued a new protocol -- boy, I

          7  hate that word -- I issued a new policy to all of

          8  the private agencies about their need to immediately

          9  obtain a birth certificate when a child comes into

         10  care, and then to take the actions that we propose

         11  in terms of those kids who don't have, who clearly

         12  don't have immigration status, so they don't end up

         13  leaving us and then end up in trouble with

         14  immigration.

         15                 We've also made available to them,

         16  and increased the size of the availability of

         17  dollars for them to use their attorneys to get this

         18  status in place for each of the kids in their care.

         19                 There is some, I'm a little troubled

         20  by a simple and easy way to approach this by simply

         21  making sure that we have an electronic system for

         22  knowing every one of who those kids are, because I

         23  don't know who might have access to that.

         24                 However, we will be announcing

         25  probably next week a major overhaul as to how we
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          2  oversee the agencies, the foster care agencies.

          3                 One piece of that is going to be an

          4  enhanced Office of Youth Development effort for

          5  trained people who will be much more in the agencies

          6  focusing on all youth issues - housing, employment

          7  and immigration status - so that we will have a much

          8  better chance of catching someone they may have

          9  missed.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. I

         11  appreciate your answer very much. I think beyond

         12  irony it would be painful to know that if we don't

         13  get ahead of this problem a child could be sent back

         14  to a country they have no connection to, you know,

         15  and no family any longer, and no ability to survive

         16  then. So, it's a small group of kids, but, boy, the

         17  stakes are high for those kids, and I appreciate

         18  your answer.

         19                 Finally, just a couple more on, since

         20  you mentioned some of the policies you're about to

         21  announce, I've spoken to you before on the question

         22  of the Children's Center and the impact of

         23  everything that's happened, particularly since the

         24  death of Nixzmary Brown and the amount of reporting

         25  and what's that done to your ability to process,
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          2  what that's done to foster care, all sorts of

          3  ramifications. A narrow but important concern

          4  whether kids are ending up in a situation where they

          5  have to have a prolonged stay in the Children's

          6  Center which was not obviously meant to handle that,

          7  where do we stand on that right now?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We're making

          9  progress in a bunch of ways. First, while the

         10  numbers have remained high of children coming into

         11  care, we have continued to be able to place children

         12  with families at a much higher rate than we did in

         13  the past.

         14                 We, for example, I sat down with the

         15  execs of the foster care agencies, gave them a sense

         16  of the numbers of good families we were going to

         17  need and set targets for them to license new

         18  families so they would be available.

         19                 So, there's been progress there, but

         20  on any given night, instead of 20 kids in the

         21  children's center, we still have mid-forties, and it

         22  will go up above that on any given night.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And just to be

         24  clear, how long is the stay typically?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: The majority
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          2  stay less than three nights, a solid majority. Some

          3  stay no nights. Most stay one. The little ones

          4  especially we're able to place now. There was a time

          5  when it was more difficult, but the agencies have

          6  really stepped up.

          7                 There are large sibling groups that

          8  come in much more regularly than I'm used to but

          9  this is New York. I mean, we've placed the sibling

         10  group in one weekend to eight and seven, and you

         11  then have to make a difficult decision, do you split

         12  these kids up, or do you have them wait at the

         13  children's center.

         14                 I've pressed our people to give

         15  consideration of the fact that every little one

         16  within those places, in a place like that, we'd be

         17  better off having with the family and then figuring

         18  out in a week what we can do to either reunite the

         19  family or place the teenager in a place that's right

         20  around the corner.

         21                 So, we've had some success with it.

         22  We've had brand new leadership with it, I should

         23  mention, that's really responded to the challenge.

         24                 A third, it's the teenagers who we

         25  have the most trouble placing overall, that's
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          2  getting somewhat easier because more families are

          3  stepping up to the plate to take teenagers. These

          4  are kids just like our teenagers, and they really

          5  deserve a family. You know, historically here we put

          6  too many of those kids in group homes. So, this was

          7  something new that people had to learn. There is a

          8  small group of youngsters, and I don't want to

          9  overemphasize them because there are not that many

         10  of them, but they're very disruptive, they've been

         11  in the delinquency system, we've got a court order

         12  three or four weeks ago to take a 19 -- no, I'm

         13  sorry, a 20-year-old who is almost 21, who had been

         14  foster care, and had spent 18 months at Rikers, we

         15  get Court orders to take them into the children's

         16  center because it's a decent place for kids to be

         17  and the law guardian is advocating for this

         18  youngster. Historically here we've had those group

         19  homes that the agency managed where we could put any

         20  child. Those group homes aren't available anymore,

         21  because they weren't necessarily good places.

         22                 So, we are pressing our residential

         23  treatment centers to be available to take in all of

         24  the kids from New York City who need a residential

         25  treatment program.
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          2                 There are also mental health issues

          3  that some of these youngsters have that cause them

          4  to balance and to disrupt in various places, and

          5  we're working with DOHMH and we'll be working more

          6  with the State to have options available for

          7  severely emotionally disturbed kids.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But are you in

          9  opposition to the policy of those courts that have

         10  sent you kids with a juvenile record?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, of

         12  course.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Is there any

         14  possibility to convince the courts otherwise?

         15                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: We have

         16  sometimes, we haven't others.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But I mean more

         18  holistically, that that's not an appropriate

         19  placement?

         20                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Absolutely.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So you're

         22  saying that's your goal but it's unresolved. I

         23  didn't know that and I'm troubled by that, because

         24  it certainly sounds like you've got enough

         25  challenges with the Children's Center that that is
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          2  not something that should be thrown into the mix.

          3                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Finally, I have

          5  just one other foster care-related question, and

          6  this is more of a factual question; do you know, and

          7  we have Commissioner Hess coming in in a moment and

          8  I'll ask him as well, do you know how many kids

          9  leaving foster care end up in the shelter system,

         10  the homeless shelter system each year?

         11                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Well, you

         12  know, we did a data match, it seems to me now a year

         13  and a half ago, and it seemed, we have that study

         14  available, Dr. Kilane did it out of Philadelphia,

         15  and it seemed to me 20 percent of the population of

         16  young people in shelter care had some history of any

         17  kind, investigation or whatever, with us. So, there

         18  is a substantial cross-over, in terms of families

         19  who are on the margins, who make some use of each

         20  system. And that's on our agenda.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         22                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: That's mostly

         23  related, of course, mostly to kids leaving foster

         24  care without a permanent family and that's where we

         25  have to get after that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay. Hold on

          3  one second. Okay, well, I like to put you on notice

          4  when we're going to be coming back to you at our

          5  next hearing, and so you're coming back in May, we

          6  certainly would like to have a clearer sense of what

          7  you and Commissioner Hess are doing to address that

          8  issue.

          9                 And obviously, from our point of

         10  view, if someone is leaving foster care, we would

         11  like to see anything but than ending up on the

         12  shelter system - I'm sure you would, too - but I

         13  would like to know strategically what we're doing so

         14  we would like to follow-up with you at that next

         15  hearing on that.

         16                 In the meantime, we've covered a lot

         17  of ground today, and appreciate the answers you and

         18  your team have given. I know Council Member Brewer

         19  had some questions, but I don't think she's going to

         20  get back in time. So, we will follow up with that.

         21                 COMMISSIONER MATTINGLY: Tell her we

         22  are interested in technology.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes, that's a

         24  very smart beginning of your answer. But we look

         25  forward to following up with you on a lot of these

                                                            203

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  issues, at the May hearing, and it's my profound

          3  hope that by the time we get to May, we can all have

          4  a celebration about our victories in Brooklyn. I'm a

          5  believer. And thank you all for your good work, and

          6  thanks for being here today.

          7                 Okay, we're now going to go to the

          8  third part of our hearing. We'd like to call forward

          9  the delegation from Department of Homeless Services.

         10                 A final programming note, anyone who

         11  is going to testify on public testimony needs to

         12  fill out an appearance card with the

         13  Sergeant-At-Arms, so please do so if you have not

         14  done so, you need to do that right away because

         15  we're going to close down that list shortly. So,

         16  please do so right away.

         17                 And, now, the final part of our

         18  hearing today, we will welcome Commissioner Hess and

         19  his team from the Department of Homeless Services.

         20  We very much have appreciated the partnership we've

         21  had, and your forthrightness in answering our

         22  questions, and we look forward to your testimony.

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman. I am joined at the table by Steve Pock and

         25  Lola Urquhart of DHS, and I want to acknowledge the
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          2  senior members of the DHS team that are with us in

          3  the audience and thank them for the incredible good

          4  work that they continue to do on behalf of New

          5  York's citizens that have experienced homelessness.

          6                 I am Rob Hess, the Commissioner of

          7  the Department of Homeless Services and I do

          8  appreciate the opportunity to speak before you today

          9  about the exciting and innovative strategies that

         10  DHS has employed to move towards the promised

         11  outcomes of Mayor Bloomberg's five-year action plan

         12  to end chronic homelessness, uniting for solutions

         13  beyond shelter.

         14                 As you know, one of the main goals of

         15  the plan is to reduce the number of individuals on

         16  the streets and in our shelters by two-thirds or

         17  more by the end of 2009. These initiatives are

         18  vastly improving the lives of thousands of New

         19  Yorkers and represent a holistic and humane response

         20  to the tragedy of homelessness.

         21                 Mayor Bloomberg has challenged the

         22  agency to discard the conventional wisdom that

         23  homelessness is inevitable and to find solutions for

         24  numerous families who teeter on the verge of

         25  homlessness before they require shelter.
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          2                 This commitment to prevention is

          3  reflected in our willingness to test new approaches

          4  and to commit additional funding. For its part DHS

          5  has increased its homeless prevention program in

          6  funding. We are budgeted for more than $20 million

          7  in 2007, and we'll be increasing it further in

          8  coming years.

          9                 DHS is moving towards the Mayor's

         10  challenge with a number of fronts. DHS's home-based

         11  program started in 2004, represents a flexible menu

         12  of services aimed to help individuals address their

         13  short-term crises and maintain their long-term

         14  housing stability.

         15                 The services are varied, including

         16  case management, short-term financial assistance,

         17  entitlements and advocacy, housing relocation,

         18  household budgeting, job training and employment

         19  services, and the family and landlord mediation to

         20  respond to each individual applicant's unique

         21  situation.

         22                 In the six high-risk communities,

         23  including the South Bronx, East Tremont and Belmont,

         24  Bedford Stuyvesant, East Harlem and Jamaica, where

         25  the City has implemented a home base, the program
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          2  has shown promising results upon which to build.

          3                 Since the development of the program,

          4  6,300 families and single adults have been enrolled

          5  in one of the six home-based programs. Since the

          6  inception of the program 94 percent of clients

          7  served were able to avoid shelter and remain in

          8  their own homes.

          9                 In 2006, home-based communities saw

         10  fewer family shelter entrants compared to the rest

         11  of the City. Understanding that families at risk are

         12  not defined by geographical boundaries, DHS released

         13  a request for proposal to expand home base to cover

         14  the entire City. By doubling funding for this

         15  ambitious program, we will be able to serve nearly

         16  ten times as many community districts, and serve

         17  thousands more men, women and children.

         18                 The home-based program simply makes

         19  financial sense. For every 50 families and single

         20  adults who are prevented from entering shelter, $1

         21  million in shelter costs is averted.

         22                 When the prevention program

         23  successfully averts 1,100 clients, the program will

         24  hit its break-even point and actually save the City

         25  money.
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          2                 In addition, the Administration and

          3  Council continue to share a commitment to providing

          4  legal assistance to low-income families facing

          5  eviction. We know that this assistance averts

          6  homelessness, saving families from the trauma of

          7  losing their apartments and saving New York City

          8  taxpayers millions of dollars a year in shelter

          9  costs.

         10                 Last year, our Family Anti-Eviction

         11  Legal Services contract served over 5,000 families.

         12  Ninety-eight percent of those families did not enter

         13  shelter.

         14                 In addition, I am also happy to

         15  report that the homeless prevention fund you

         16  sponsored last year is up and running in helping

         17  poor working families pay rent arrears in hard

         18  times. Living on the streets in our City robs too

         19  many men and women, many of whom have significant

         20  mental health and substance abuse issues of their

         21  humanity. This tragedy forces these New Yorkers to

         22  live in substandard conditions, endemic to third

         23  world squalor, and definitely not befitting one of

         24  the greatest and wealthiest cities in the western

         25  hemisphere.
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          2                 I am proud of the fact that since the

          3  Mayor's implementation of the five-year plan we have

          4  successfully reduced the number of street

          5  homelessness in our City by over 13 percent. And DHS

          6  will not rest until we are fully accountable to the

          7  Administration's goal of reducing street homeless

          8  census by two-thirds, or to 1,463 persons or less,

          9  by the end of 2009.

         10                 I'd like to take a moment to tell you

         11  the story of John Doe, a formerly unsheltered New

         12  Yorker, whose story not only represents the depraved

         13  conditions that too many men and women have come to

         14  accept on our City streets, but also the type of

         15  achievement possible when we challenge ourselves to

         16  think unconventionally about this societal problem.

         17                 Since 1986, John Doe had slept in an

         18  underground cave in the Bronx. The cave represented

         19  one of the most inhumane of conditions. It was

         20  filled with garbage and old mattresses and John

         21  Doe's belongings.

         22                 The detail of John Doe's living

         23  situation were indeed tragic. He bathed in rubbing

         24  alcohol to keep clean. His bed was made up of milk

         25  crates and plastic foam strips and a baby's mattress
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          2  wrapped in garbage bags. For light, John Doe glued

          3  strips of aluminum foil to the walls, to catch the

          4  reflection from the candles from the cans of Sterno.

          5                 DHS became involved in changing the

          6  course of John Doe's life. John Doe became the first

          7  person in our City to move into New York New York

          8  III housing. He is now happily living in an

          9  apartment operated by a not-for-profit agency that

         10  serves homeless and mentally ill clients.

         11                 Through the New York New York III he

         12  receives rental assistance and case management

         13  services. The success of John Doe demonstrates the

         14  power of our Housing First model. Rather than moving

         15  through a long continuum of services from day

         16  drop-in, to shelter, to housing, John Doe was able

         17  to move directly from the streets to housing.

         18                 In a short amount of time we have

         19  already made great strides in eliminating street

         20  homelessness in our City. In July 2006, Mayor

         21  Bloomberg announced DHS's initiative to clean up the

         22  73 encampments for some 350 homeless men and women,

         23  set-up make-shift shelters under highways, next to

         24  train tressels and on the City streets.

         25                 These encampments, many of which I
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          2  have personally visited, were in abandoned lots and

          3  buildings and represented the type of substandard

          4  living conditions which we as a City can no longer

          5  tolerate. And an unprecedented collaboration with 12

          6  City and State agencies, the City has achieved what

          7  previously was unthinkable. We have eliminated the

          8  vast majority of these encampments, cleaned up the

          9  debris, respectfully and humanely encouraged these

         10  unsheltered men and women, many of whom represent

         11  the most difficult of clients, to engage and enter

         12  treatment programs, and/or shelter or housing.

         13                 As of today, 63 of these encampments

         14  have been cleared. This work not only benefits the

         15  clients we serve but also the public, who no longer

         16  must live with these unsightly conditions in their

         17  midst.

         18                 We will continue to clear all those

         19  standing encampments and revisit those recently

         20  cleared encampments until the Mayor's promise has

         21  been fully fulfilled.

         22                 While DHS creates strategies to

         23  improve the lives of people living on our streets

         24  experiencing homelessness, we must not lose sight of

         25  the thousands of men, women and children who call
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          2  temporary shelter a home.

          3                 These vulnerable single adults and

          4  families deserve safe shelter, intensive social

          5  services, and case management to address their

          6  individual needs. At the shelter level, DHS must

          7  actively engage these individuals to deal with the

          8  particular economic and other problems that have

          9  caused them to experience homelessness.

         10                 Further, we must provide options

         11  including rental subsidies, which will allow them to

         12  move to a home of their own, as quickly as possible.

         13                 In the single adult shelter, I am

         14  proud of DHS's many achievements. Since the launch

         15  of the Mayor's five-year plan in July of 2004, the

         16  system has experienced a 14 percent decline in the

         17  number of single adults in shelter from 8,372 to

         18  7,625.

         19                 In addition, the agency is

         20  successfully facing more single adults in Department

         21  Housing. In the first six months of Fiscal Year

         22  2007, the number of single adults placed in

         23  permanent housing have increased to 4,596. A

         24  commendable 30 percent increase from the same period

         25  a year ago, and a record high for single adult

                                                            212

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  placements during this time period.

          3                 This good work has enabled the agency

          4  to close Camp LaGuardia, the largest single-adult

          5  shelter closing in our nation's history. This

          6  closure not only represents 1,004 shelter beds,

          7  fewer than the DHS adults shelter system, but an

          8  important shift of expenditures away from shelter to

          9  preferable solutions.

         10                 While we strive to reduce the numbers

         11  of single men and women experiencing homelessness,

         12  DHS will continue to strive to move the most

         13  vulnerable sheltered clients into permanent housing

         14  as quickly as possible.

         15                 For example, I am happy to announce

         16  the unprecedented rate at which we are moving

         17  homeless veterans into permanent housing.

         18                 On December 21st of 2006, the Mayor

         19  and the Secretary of Veterans Affairs announced an

         20  historic agreement to help end veteran homelessness

         21  in our City.

         22                 The agency and the VA committed to

         23  placing 100 veterans into permanent housing within

         24  100 days or by March 31st of this year. I am happy

         25  to report today that we are far ahead of schedule.
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          2  In fact, we hit our target of 100 veterans placed in

          3  permanent housing just yesterday. We will continue

          4  to work diligently until March 31st and beyond to

          5  exceed our original goal as much as possible.

          6                 The DHS Family Shelter System has

          7  likewise achieved success. As you remember, the

          8  agency has dedicated substantial resources to

          9  improve the intake procedure for families with

         10  children who apply for shelter.

         11                 DHS is in the process of tearing down

         12  the Emergency Assistance Unit or EAU to build a

         13  brand new state-of-the-art world class intake

         14  center, to better serve our homeless families with

         15  children.

         16                 While this construction is underway,

         17  DHS continues to service families at PATH on a

         18  24-hour, seven-day-a-week basis. The fight against

         19  homelessness is not easy. It is one of fits and

         20  starts and peaks and valleys and hopes and setbacks.

         21                 The family census continues to be a

         22  challenging and disappointing area for us. Although

         23  we are encouraged by the fact that the children in

         24  shelter has decreased by seven percent since the

         25  implementation of the Mayor's five-year plan, the
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          2  number of families with children experience,

          3  experiencing homelessness, has actually risen by

          4  three percent.

          5                 In addition, we have witnessed a

          6  dramatic rise in the number of adult families who

          7  are experiencing homelessness. From July 2004 to

          8  February 2007, the number of adult families in

          9  shelters has risen from 1,179 to 1,452, a 25 percent

         10  increase.

         11                 Regardless of the extent of that

         12  need, DHS will continue to be a safety net for

         13  families who most need it.

         14                 I am heartened by the fact that

         15  despite the increased need, the changes implemented

         16  at PATH or a Prevention Assistance Temporary Housing

         17  Unit, continue to be a vast improvement upon the

         18  systems at the EAU. Our clients continue to benefit

         19  from shorter application processing times, intensive

         20  client support through the process, and multiple

         21  safeguards that ensure a thorough and fair review of

         22  client applications. The days of family with

         23  children sleeping at the intake center are long

         24  gone. Overcrowding and bottlenecking at intake has

         25  been eliminated.
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          2                 Families are able to swiftly move

          3  through the application process to their conditional

          4  placement without delay.

          5                 We have implemented the reapplication

          6  procedure with an abundance of caution, as indicated

          7  by the increase in families found eligible for

          8  shelter.

          9                 DHS is also overwhelmingly making the

         10  correct decisions. According to the impartial

         11  administrative law judges who reviewed DHS

         12  determinations at fair hearing, 93 percent of DHS's

         13  eligibility determinations for families with

         14  children were upheld as correct in 2006.

         15                 While we continue to meet the need of

         16  an expanded number of families eligible for shelter,

         17  the agency will continue to upgrade its existing

         18  shelter portfolio and create rental subsidy

         19  strategies that address the specific and varied

         20  needs of our clients.

         21                 In May 2006, I testified for the

         22  first time before the General Welfare Committee and

         23  committed to ending the Scattered Site Program by

         24  the end of the calendar year.

         25                 I am happy to report that we have
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          2  made good on my promise. Ending a program that

          3  utilized 2,091 apartments at its peak, clients are

          4  now guaranteed a Tier II social services that assist

          5  them in securing permanent housing, as quickly as

          6  possible.

          7                 DHS is also striving to upgrade its

          8  shelter portfolio, opening state-of-the-art

          9  facilities that are a dramatic departure from how we

         10  usually imagine shelter facilities.

         11                 These shelters, including the Tilden

         12  Avenue Shelter and the Star Bright Facility serve

         13  117 families, and 173 adult families respectively.

         14                 Clients in both facilities enjoy the

         15  amenities of newly constructed buildings with bright

         16  and cheerful environments.

         17                 While we strive to provide

         18  individuals and families with clean, safe and

         19  appropriate shelter, the best end result is

         20  assisting a client to sign a lease for an apartment

         21  of their own as quickly as possible.

         22                 In the absence of Section 8

         23  subsidies, the Housing Stability Plus or HSP program

         24  has been integral in moving adults and families back

         25  to permanent housing.
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          2                 Since the inception of the City's

          3  largest and most generous discretionary benefit

          4  program, more than 10,218 households have signed

          5  leases. To date, only a fraction, approximately four

          6  percent, have returned to shelter.

          7                 Every program, especially one in its

          8  initial years of implementation, continues to evolve

          9  to better meet the needs of the clients it serves.

         10                 Since HSP's implementation, we have

         11  learned that a majority of HSP subsidy recipients

         12  will face a rental disruption due to non-compliance

         13  of public assistance requirements.

         14                 Many landlords are now hesitant to

         15  participate in the program due to the disruptions in

         16  the rental revenue stream and are offering fewer

         17  apartments. As a result, fewer shelter entrants are

         18  moving out of shelter and the census figures

         19  continue to rise.

         20                 In addition, DHS and the

         21  Administration continue to be concerned that HSP

         22  creates disincentives to work for self-sufficiency.

         23  Therefore, we are working diligently with our City

         24  and State partners to remedy these unintended

         25  consequences with the HSP Program.
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          2                 DHS will continue to learn from the

          3  needs of our clients, and think of new and creative

          4  strategies to assist these men, women and children

          5  as they move out of shelter and into homes of their

          6  own.

          7                 I appreciate your patience and

          8  interest as I speak about the agency's vision as we

          9  work hard to work toward the Mayor's ambitious goal

         10  to reduce the number of men and women living on our

         11  streets and in our shelters by two-thirds or more by

         12  the end of 2009.

         13                 Finally, I'd like to report when the

         14  Fiscal Year 2008 Preliminary Budget for the current

         15  Fiscal Year 2007, the Department's Expense Budget,

         16  $731.6 million.

         17                 For Fiscal Year 2008, the Expense

         18  Budget is $684.6 million. Of the 684.6 million,

         19  317.5 million are City funds, 214.5 million are

         20  State funds, 117.4 million are federal funds, 4.1

         21  million are grants funds, and 31.1 million are

         22  inter-City funds.

         23                 The 684.6 million budget allocates

         24  $288.8 million services for single adults, 337.1

         25  million to services for families, and 58.7 million
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          2  to support services.

          3                 The DHS capital plan for the

          4  four-year period of 2008 to 2011 is currently 138.9

          5  million. Capital projects for homeless families

          6  totaled 85.8 million, projects for single adults

          7  totaled 39.4 million, 13.7 million has been

          8  allocated for support services.

          9                 Mr. Chair, and members of the

         10  Committee, thank you, again, for giving me this

         11  opportunity to appear. I am now pleased to answer

         12  any questions you may have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         14  much, Commissioner. There's a lot that I want to

         15  praise you for, certainly the commitment, your

         16  commitment and the Mayor's commitment to reducing

         17  the number of individuals on the streets and in

         18  shelter, that two-thirds by the Year 2009, or by the

         19  end of 2009, I should say, I continue to be

         20  impressed that even with good news and bad news, you

         21  are not walking away from the commitment, and I

         22  praise you for that. It's our job to hold you to it,

         23  but I get the good feeling that you don't need to be

         24  held to it, as something you are claiming publicly

         25  on a regular basis.
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          2                 I'm obviously very happy to see a

          3  substantial increase in preventative funding. I have

          4  to tell you, and I take great pride in the work that

          5  I've done and this Committee has done on the

          6  question of prevention, and as I read your eloquent

          7  comments on the value of prevention, it sounds like

          8  stuff we were saying a few years back that used to

          9  be heresy. But I'm glad it is now Orthodoxy and that

         10  you have put so much energy and resources into it

         11  and I'm glad you're having such positive results.

         12                 I also was particularly impressed by

         13  your commitment to veterans. I know you, yourself,

         14  are a veteran. We had a hearing to look at the

         15  details of what you're doing, I really appreciate

         16  how much that's also been your personal commitment

         17  to achieve that goal.

         18                 There are some very good things

         19  happening. Of course, you know, considering how many

         20  times we beat up Linda Gibbs on Scattered Site, I'm

         21  sorry she isn't here to get our appreciation and our

         22  thanks to that program which needed to be put to

         23  rest a long time ago, has finally been ended. So, I

         24  really do praise you for that.

         25                 COMMISSIONER HESS: She's with us in
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          2  spirit, Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's right.

          4  Well, let her know she got the praise that she

          5  deserved and I'm glad it is gone. I wish it had been

          6  quicker but I'm glad it's gone.

          7                 You've been very honest in your

          8  testimony about some things that are working and

          9  some things that are troubling, so let's pursue -- I

         10  mean, I've already noted some of the things I think

         11  are clearly in the right direction, but let's pursue

         12  some of the challenges as well.

         13                 But first, I'd like to hear your, you

         14  know, thumbnail, quick analysis, on why we've seen

         15  this movement backward in terms of families and

         16  shelter. My personal guess is rapidly wildly

         17  increasing cost to housing in this City, but I'd be

         18  interested to know why you think we've had this

         19  return of a trend we hoped we were moving past?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Well, I think

         21  there is always environmental factors that come to

         22  bear on the national stage in local jurisdictions

         23  that have a variety of impacts. You know, it's hard

         24  to speculate exactly what the impact of any one

         25  factor might be.
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          2                 We certainly have focused on creating

          3  a kinder, gentler system at PATH than perhaps

          4  historically existed at the EAU. We think that that

          5  has had some impact on the number of folks that had

          6  come to see us and apply for shelter.

          7                 I think also, we have only had our

          8  prevention home-based facilities in place for about

          9  years now and we're learning as we go. And, so, I

         10  think there have been a variety of factors but I

         11  think more importantly we've been able to focus on

         12  making sure that everybody that arrives at our front

         13  door is treated with a great deal of dignity and

         14  respect in a timely and appropriate way has been

         15  housed and that we haven't seen any of the kinds of

         16  overnights that used to exist.

         17                 We're doing everything we can, as you

         18  rightly point out, on the prevention and diversion

         19  front, and you really have been a champion there and

         20  we appreciate that, a wonderful partner on our

         21  prevention efforts and diversion efforts and we all

         22  recognize how important that is. I think we'll all

         23  be more comfortable when we have that effort

         24  Citywide, when we're able to kind of grill down and

         25  do everything we can to help people avoid the need
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          2  to enter our shelter system. And, so, that's been an

          3  evolving process, and I think not having the full

          4  prevention menu in place has probably caused some

          5  additional folks to come see us and we're trying to

          6  remedy that as quickly as we can.

          7                 And, so, I think there is a variety

          8  of factors, but I do want to take this opportunity

          9  just to thank Deputy Commissioner Newman and his

         10  staff for the historic and outstanding job that they

         11  have done, managing a significant increase in demand

         12  at the front door, in a way that has ensured the

         13  dignity and respect and timely services to every

         14  man, woman and child that has arrived at PATH. It

         15  really has been extraordinary.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I think

         17  that is a great achievement. I commend the Deputy

         18  Commissioner, as well.

         19                 What I'm hearing you say in your

         20  answer is, as you said, it's not just the

         21  environmental factors, the external factors causing

         22  this increase. I think another way to look at it is,

         23  it's doubtful the external factors are helping, and

         24  given where housing costs or the economy or the

         25  number of jobs or wherever they may go, may help us
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          2  even less. So, you've got to be working from the

          3  position that your supply, if you will, the number

          4  of potential folks who might be looking for shelter

          5  isn't going to naturally go down, and therefore, I

          6  would say I'm thrilled you've moved more

          7  progressively to prevention. I would surmise there

          8  might even be some more steps to take, and I would

          9  really think that even in this year's budget, you

         10  might want to think about going farther, and

         11  certainly to have a very aggressive build-out plan

         12  from there, because I really do think it has been

         13  one of the things that, you know, puts some control

         14  back in your hands in how to address this problem, I

         15  would note at this juncture, given that there is now

         16  a consensus on prevention, and that's good, I am,

         17  you know, displeased to see that two of the pieces

         18  the Council has sponsored, you know, were not chosen

         19  for inclusion in the Mayor's budget, the Adult

         20  Rental Assistance Program and the Homeless

         21  Prevention Fund. I would have liked to have seen

         22  those baselined, since we now all agree they are

         23  worthy. Obviously, we're going to keep fighting for

         24  them over here, but you know, in the past there used

         25  to be an argument that prevention didn't work and
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          2  that's why the Administration wouldn't accept it, I

          3  think it's hard to make that argument now. But I

          4  also am not shocked, given that there is still a lot

          5  of budget dance going on, why those were not

          6  included.

          7                 I think the question now, I want to

          8  turn to is HSP, where I think in terms of your

          9  testimony, I appreciate the honesty, and I think

         10  this honesty is perhaps the beginning of us being

         11  able to find a way for the Council and the

         12  Administration to work together on this. I think HSP

         13  was initiated for a very, very good reason, the

         14  decline or the limitations of the Section 8 program,

         15  and the need to have additional options, and I think

         16  it was audacious and positive in its instinct. I

         17  don't think from day one, you know, I didn't think

         18  it was going to work out, and a lot of us hadn't

         19  thought it was going to work out for several

         20  reasons, including the stepping down of the

         21  subsidies and the problems of sanctions and other

         22  problems.

         23                 So, I think you are being honest

         24  about the fact that whatever benefit may have come

         25  from it, you're not getting some of the results
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          2  you'd like to get. And I think one of the ironies

          3  from the beginning is we're worried that both

          4  landlord and tenant and the like are going to have

          5  some trouble navigating the system. Just to say the

          6  obvious, you know, I do believe that sometimes you

          7  say amend it don't end it, if you can find the

          8  resources for that, and sometimes you don't. But at

          9  least I think we need to look at the question of

         10  standardizing the subsidy within HSP, so the step

         11  down does not create a disincentive for all

         12  involved. And the other thing that we've talked

         13  about back and forth between this Committee is the

         14  question of the inspections, and I do think it would

         15  be good to get clarifications now from you on where

         16  that's going. Obviously, we've all been concerned

         17  they be much more consistent and much more rigorous.

         18                 So, could you respond to those two?

         19  Is there going to be a reexamination of whether to

         20  make the HSP subsidy consistent across the five

         21  years? And is there going to be a new and more

         22  rigorous approach to inspection?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: With respect to

         24  the first question, Mr. Chairman, we are actively

         25  and intensely working with our City and State
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          2  partners to take a look at the strategies that we're

          3  going to need to employ to help the HSP program or

          4  other exit strategies be as effective as we'd like.

          5  And so, we have some work to do there, but we're

          6  hard at work with our City and State partners, and I

          7  would like to think that we'll have some news to

          8  share on that before long.

          9                 With respect to the inspections,

         10  we've been monitoring this very closely for some

         11  time, as you know. We have recently made the

         12  decision to have all of our apartment reviewers

         13  trained in the EPA standards for lead paint

         14  inspections, and also trained to the Section 8

         15  housing inspection standards. And I'm pleased to

         16  tell you, as we sit here today, that just this past

         17  Monday, our inspectors changed their protocol and

         18  have begun Section 8-like inspections on all of our

         19  units.

         20                 That is to say, that effective this

         21  past Monday, given the Section 8 criteria, we are

         22  not entering into any repair agreements with

         23  landlords as we have historically done. If the unit

         24  does not pass inspection, there will be a

         25  reinspection opportunity, but we will not occupy the
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          2  unit until our reviewers have seen that all that

          3  needs to be done comply with the Section 8 standards

          4  has in fact been done.

          5                 Now, having said that, you know

          6  historically we entered into repair agreements with

          7  landlords as a way to expedite the client's ability

          8  to move into apartments. The truth is that the vast

          9  majority of landlords met the responsibility under

         10  those letters and complied and did the repairs in a

         11  timely and appropriate way.

         12                 It is also true that there was some

         13  number of landlords that did not, and those tend to

         14  be the ones that we tend to focus on.

         15                 And, so, given that limited number of

         16  landlords that just didn't do the right thing, we

         17  have decided to end the repair agreement process.

         18  We're now doing full inspections, and reinspections

         19  as necessary and appropriate, until the unit passes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That is

         21  excellent news, and very much appreciated,

         22  Commissioner.

         23                 It matters a lot to us and to a lot

         24  of people here, and when an issue is raised that

         25  clearly calls out for a solution it matters a lot to
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          2  see some real action. So, I really appreciate that

          3  you've done that. Let alone other health and safety

          4  considerations, you know, the lead paint question

          5  alone is felt so deeply here in this Council and so

          6  the idea that we're now going to really tighten up

          7  those inspections is truly appreciated.

          8                 And I would say, I'm glad you did say

          9  that a lot of landlords were doing the right thing

         10  because it's right.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Sure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And as I said,

         13  when we were worried about HSP, all of us from the

         14  beginning, it was obviously for the tenants and the

         15  clients, but also it looked like it was going to put

         16  an undue burden on the landlords and not be

         17  something they could engage very easily. So, I'm

         18  glad we're rationalizing the inspection process. I

         19  still think we need to rationalize the subsidy

         20  process. I think I certainly understand that greater

         21  or the same consistent subsidy over five years means

         22  more money. But I'll tell you, I think you would

         23  agree in principle, if the program isn't serving the

         24  people it's meant to serve, I'd rather have a more

         25  expensive program that worked than a cheaper program
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          2  that failed.

          3                 Will there be a reinspection of the

          4  apartments that were unresolved previously? In other

          5  words, will the backlog be gone back over and get

          6  those full inspections?

          7                 COMMISSIONER HESS: With respect to?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If there was an

          9  apartment that had not been previously considered

         10  sufficient, in other words, not just new apartments

         11  coming into the system, but ones that may already

         12  have been and landlords that may already have been

         13  working with HSP, is there going to be an effort to

         14  go back and inspect to make sure any outstanding

         15  issues from the past were resolved as well?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Only in apartments

         17  where we're made aware of a situation where a

         18  landlord may not have kept his end of the bargain

         19  under the repair agreement. So, that is to say, in

         20  cases where the client, the tenant may make us aware

         21  that the landlord was supposed to do X, Y and Z and

         22  only did X and Y, then we'll revisit it. But as a

         23  matter of course, you can understand the challenge

         24  that would be associated with trying to go back and

         25  look at hundreds of thousands of apartments, that
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          2  passed under those repair --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, your past

          4  universe where there was a problem, there will be an

          5  inspection. Going forward your universe will be all

          6  your new units will come in, will get inspected.

          7                 If after inspection there is a

          8  problem, do you go back and reinspect in each case

          9  to make sure the problem is resolved?

         10                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Consistent with

         13  Section 8 standards, we will go back and reinspect.

         14  We will not enter into any further repair

         15  agreements.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's for any

         17  unit going forward where there is a problem, each

         18  and every one gets a reinspection?

         19                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Not only a

         20  reinspection, they will be reinspected and have to

         21  pass reinspection before the unit will be occupied.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay,

         23  excellent.

         24                 See, occasionally government works,

         25  people. I know we waited a long time for it but it's
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          2  working.

          3                 I have a couple other points I want

          4  to raise, and I know, I think some other General

          5  Welfare, one or more General Welfare Committee

          6  members may be coming back and then I wouldn't be

          7  shocked if Letitia James had a question.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We would count on

          9  that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: She

         11  occasionally does speak up, despite her native

         12  shyness. Let's see, what about the question on the

         13  encampments? It's really less of a question, it's

         14  more of I'm really pleased your addressing the

         15  encampment issue. It's been a problem in my

         16  district, it's a problem for everyone, obviously for

         17  the individuals who are living in the encampment

         18  first and foremost.

         19                 My question I guess is really, are

         20  you creating some accountability structure around

         21  the organizations that you brought into the

         22  outreach? Not just the City agencies, but I know you

         23  have revamped the outreach effort in general, and

         24  what kind of accountability structure is there in

         25  place now to make sure that those organizations are
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          2  affected? Because I think it's fair to say in the

          3  past, you know, maybe some opportunities were lost

          4  or we wouldn't have had all those encampments for so

          5  long.

          6                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Mr. Chairman, on

          7  the encampments issue, I just am so proud of the 12

          8  City departments, the State agencies that worked

          9  together since September to eliminate the unhealthy

         10  and unsafe encampments all across our City. I

         11  suspect that we will finish the encampment work when

         12  the initial 73 encampments within the next few

         13  weeks.

         14                 We will then, working with the

         15  various Deputy Mayors, receive our instructions on

         16  how we can continue to work together in the future

         17  to ensure that we're able to respond in a rapid and

         18  timely and humane and effective way to ensure that

         19  we don't see more of these encampments across our

         20  City. That was kind of step one.

         21                 We also set some other very specific

         22  special initiative goals and so let me just tell you

         23  about one. It's about 75 days ago now that we

         24  challenged all of our outreach teams to help 200

         25  people living on the streets move indoors within the
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          2  next 100 days. And in the first 75 days, I'm pleased

          3  to tell you, that outreach teams all across the City

          4  have worked day and nights, seven days a week, to

          5  help 283 so far individuals make the decision to

          6  move from our streets indoors.

          7                 And so it's these kinds of targeted

          8  special initiatives that are having a lot of success

          9  now. Now, at the same time that we're working on

         10  these targeted special initiatives, we have RFP'd

         11  all of our outreach across the City in an amazing

         12  inter-agency joint RFP between DHS and DOHMH. We've

         13  gotten the responses in, they're being reviewed now.

         14  I suspect in the next 30 days or so, maybe a little

         15  longer, we'll have some public announcements around

         16  those awards, but the idea is there will be a single

         17  point of accountability in each borough to work

         18  towards moving to the Mayor's objectives of reducing

         19  number of people's on our streets by two-thirds or

         20  more, in a coordinated, effective interdisciplinary,

         21  humane and appropriate way.

         22                 So, we're very excited about this.

         23  We're excited about the early successes and the

         24  early progress and we're excited about the

         25  strategies that we're laying out now for the future
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          2  that we absolutely believe will get us down below

          3  1,460 some folks living on our streets before this

          4  Mayor leaves office.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right. And

          6  I wanted to just raise two more quick points, and

          7  then I know Council Member James has questions, and

          8  now two of my General Welfare colleagues are here,

          9  and I'm sure they have questions.

         10                 I also just want to say,

         11  Commissioner, forgive me, because momentarily I have

         12  another commitment which I'm going to have to go to,

         13  but we'll finish up the hearing in the capable hands

         14  of our General Welfare colleagues.

         15                 But my last two questions, a comment

         16  and a question, a comment, I am thrilled with what

         17  you've done in terms of closing Camp LaGuardia. I

         18  think that's a historic step. I think it's also, in

         19  addition to budgetary impact, it's a step in the

         20  right direction in terms of the way we want to

         21  focus. It's not large scale and not reactive but a

         22  step towards prevention, a step towards a proactive

         23  strategy.

         24                 I just want to say, I think you have

         25  a huge challenge ahead of you, and I think, again,
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          2  the environmental circumstances may be real

          3  difficult in the years to come, economy, housing

          4  prices, et cetera. I would strongly urge that the

          5  Administration commit to taking any savings achieved

          6  by actions like this, just closing Camp LaGuardia,

          7  and guarantee that they be reinvested in DHS for

          8  prevention activities.

          9                 There is certainly precedent in this

         10  Administration, the case of ACS, there has been as

         11  one example, and certainly other agencies, where

         12  savings were targeted right back into the agency to

         13  achieve proactive goals.

         14                 So, you don't have to comment on

         15  that. I will just tell you, I think that is some

         16  place we should move and give you more tools to

         17  fight homelessness and get towards this two-thirds

         18  goal. And I will certainly suggest that to the

         19  Mayor's folks as well.

         20                 My last concern is a pure budgetary

         21  one that, you know, as I look at your numbers that

         22  you summarize at the end of your testimony, the

         23  amount of money devoted to families and shelter,

         24  certainly is not increasing, but again the numbers

         25  are increasing, just a simple question: are you sure
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          2  you're going to have enough if your family shelter

          3  census continues to climb?

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Mr. Chair, I

          5  appreciate the question. Yes, there's a short

          6  answer. We have had appropriate discussions within

          7  the Administration. It is certainly our hope that we

          8  can roll out a comprehensive and aggressive set of

          9  new strategies to supplement the strategies that are

         10  already in place in a way that reverses that trend.

         11  And we certainly are going to work diligently to

         12  make that happen.

         13                 In the event that we see another

         14  uptick, which we certainly hope does not happen, we

         15  will still do the right thing every day and house

         16  anyone who needs to be housed. And, so, that will

         17  happen and that will have financial ramifications

         18  and we'll deal with that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Are you saying

         20  by a budget modification? Are you saying by moving

         21  resources within your agency? What are you saying?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I think we'll look

         23  at all of our options if and when that time comes.

         24  But I think what we can be comfortable with, is at

         25  the end of the day we will meet our obligations to
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          2  the citizens of New York with respect to providing

          3  shelter to those who need it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay.

          5                 I'm going to just proactively say I

          6  thank you for everything your brought forward today.

          7  A particular thank you, again, on the end of the

          8  Scattered Site and on your honesty on HSP, and we're

          9  going to continue to push you on that program,

         10  because that certainly needs real change, but you've

         11  been very forthright about it, which I appreciate.

         12                 Now we look forward to questions from

         13  Council Member Letitia James.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         15                 Commissioner, just a few short

         16  questions, one or two. One is in regards to the

         17  number of families that have been seeking a shelter

         18  has increased, is it families or is it single

         19  adults? Can you sort of give me some information

         20  with respect to the demographics?

         21                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I can. From the

         22  inception of the Mayor's five-year plan til today,

         23  here is what we see:

         24                 - we see the number of people living

         25  on our streets decreased by 13 percent;
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          2                 - we see the number of single adults

          3  in our shelter system decreased by 14 percent.

          4                 - we see in the number of families

          5  with children, unfortunately, increase three

          6  percent.

          7                 - we've seen the number of children

          8  in our shelter system decrease by seven percent, and

          9  the most alarming number to us is;

         10                 - we've seen the number of adult

         11  families skyrocket by 25 percent.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Interesting.

         13                 COMMISSIONER HESS: So that has been

         14  our results to date, and that's where our focus is

         15  to reverse the trends with respect to family with

         16  children and with adult families so that we can

         17  bring those numbers down toward the targets.

         18  Obviously, in those areas we're a long way from

         19  where we want to be.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And do you

         21  anticipate getting any assistance from the federal

         22  and/or State budgets?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Well, you

         24  certainly hope so. We don't go to sleep under the

         25  misconception that we need to rely on others to meet
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          2  our local needs. But certainly we are grateful for

          3  all the assistance we get from the State and federal

          4  government and hope that that share will increase

          5  rather than decrease.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: But it's my

          7  understanding that TANF funds have decreased on both

          8  levels; is that true?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I don't know the

         10  answer to that. I don't know the answer to that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And, going to,

         12  the Chairman talked a little bit about HSP, but I do

         13  know about a program which I think is offered by HRA

         14  where families are offered one-month security and

         15  three months' rent?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HESS: One-shots.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And how is that

         18  going?

         19                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We have a very

         20  close relationship with HRA. Commissioner Doar has

         21  been just extraordinarily supportive and we're

         22  thankful. Staff has really developed a very close

         23  working relationship with our staff, also very

         24  important to our clients, and we appreciate it. We

         25  have had no trouble whatsoever in accessing any HRA
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          2  program, especially one-shots. And in fact, I think

          3  we've had something over 300 families that have

          4  moved out of shelters just in the last few months,

          5  specifically because of the one-shots that HRA has

          6  supported this with. And, so, that relationship has

          7  been very good and getting better every day.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Going to the

          9  capital budget, I understand that there are some

         10  funds to renovate Arverne Place (phonetic); can you

         11  give me a status report on Arverne Place?

         12                 COMMISSIONER HESS: I can tell you

         13  that there are some renovations that are underway,

         14  they are now, to the best of my knowledge, they're

         15  on schedule and on budget. Most of them I think

         16  hinge around the exterior windows and facade and

         17  roof, and so the basic structure is being fortified,

         18  enhanced and appropriately upgraded, and so we

         19  expect that facility will be in good shape for many

         20  years to come.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And will it

         22  result in any families being relocated?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: No, my

         24  understanding is that we're able to conduct those

         25  renovations in a way that are not disruptive to the

                                                            242

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  clients.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And can you

          4  give me a status report on the drop-in center on

          5  Tillary?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HESS: There is a

          7  proposed drop-in center on Tillary that is merely,

          8  as you know, Councilwoman, a relocation of a drop-in

          9  center, I believe it currently existed on Bond

         10  Street.

         11                 The challenge there is, frankly, the

         12  Bond Street facility just has not proven to be large

         13  enough, given the number of folks in the area that

         14  want to take advantage of our services. And, so, we

         15  have made arrangements to propose a facility that's

         16  just a couple of blocks away, that will allow us to

         17  increase our capacity from 85 to 115, and add some

         18  additional program space to better serve our

         19  neighbors who have need for those services.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And do you have

         21  any idea when that drop-in center on Tillary will

         22  open?

         23                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We can get you

         24  that. I know that's a little bit of a

         25  work-in-progress, and we'll work closely with you to
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          2  figure out when it looks like they're going to be

          3  prepared to do that and have all the appropriate

          4  conversations leading up to that event.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And obviously,

          6  let me state for the record my concerns with regards

          7  to placement there, since it's right around the

          8  corner from a woman's center.

          9                 Moving to, thank you for the

         10  information with regards to the armory on Bedford

         11  and Union, which is owned by the National Guard,

         12  which is a State agency, and we're talking to State

         13  elected officials with respect to that. Bedford and

         14  Atlantic, are there any capital funds for Bedford

         15  and Atlantic renovations?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HESS: A lot of

         17  renovations going on at Bedford and Atlantic now. In

         18  fact, throughout the facility, the bathrooms are

         19  unfortunately under some degree of disrepair. And,

         20  so, we've actually begun renovations, I think

         21  they're being completed in the drill floor area, so

         22  that as we take other bathrooms in the building off

         23  line over the next couple of years to conduct these

         24  renovations, those clients can utilize the bathrooms

         25  that are operational in the drill floor area, which
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          2  their bathrooms are under repair, and then we'll

          3  rotate through the building.

          4                 And, so, we've got about, I guess a

          5  two- to three-year capital program that is ongoing

          6  at Bedford Atlantic, that's going well. It's on

          7  schedule, on budget, but it is going to take some

          8  time, so that we do not disrupt the clients that are

          9  living at that facility.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And as the

         11  population, the census and adult males decreases,

         12  again, I want to continue discussions with you with

         13  respect to converting that unused portion of Bedford

         14  Atlantic into a facility for the community.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We'll look forward

         16  to talking to you and working with you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Good afternoon,

         19  Commissioner.

         20                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Good afternoon.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: One last

         22  question and then a request: How many children age

         23  out of foster care, then wind up in the homeless

         24  shelters?

         25                 COMMISSIONER HESS: We have been doing
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          2  data matches now for some time with ACS, and we

          3  looked at the time frame of 1988 through 1992, about

          4  26 percent of the children who aged out of foster

          5  care entered the shelter system.

          6                 We suspect that the number could be

          7  that high, it's a little bit of a moving target and

          8  it's also often lower. So, I would think if you

          9  would look at a range in the 18 to 26 percent range,

         10  you would not be far off.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Could you come

         12  up with the amount of people that that 26 percent

         13  make up?

         14                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Yes, we can get

         15  you that information. Exact information, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Okay. All

         18  right, now here the request while I have you there:

         19  We're about to move into the public session, and one

         20  of the things I noticed is that after the

         21  Administration gives its testimony it leaves, and

         22  then, you know, they don't get feedback on what the

         23  public have to say.

         24                 So, I would respectfully ask if you

         25  could leave one or two staff persons behind and
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          2  report back to you what's on the public's mind and

          3  how the system is working.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Mr. Chair, we'd be

          5  happy to do that. We appreciate your comments with

          6  respect to that. We try to take every opportunity to

          7  listen to our clients. We do that in a variety of

          8  forums, it's very important to us. In fact, one of

          9  our most important meetings is our client advisory

         10  board that meets with me quarterly. And, so, we're

         11  happy to do that. I see one of my homeless advisory

         12  board members in the audience who I'm sure is going

         13  to give you her perspective on what we're doing

         14  well, and where we could approve a little bit.

         15  That's okay. So, we take your comments very

         16  seriously and make sure we have folks here to do

         17  just that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you very

         19  much. With that commitment from you, thank you for

         20  coming before us and now we're moving to the public

         21  session. Take three minutes, okay?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HESS: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 (Recess taken.)

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: For those
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          2  individuals who are here that would like to speak,

          3  you have to get one of these from the

          4  Sergeant-Of-Arms sitting over at the table in order

          5  to speak.

          6                 Okay, what I want to do is give

          7  everybody an opportunity to speak and in order to do

          8  that, I'm going to have to put time constraints on

          9  your presentation, two minutes each. This will

         10  afford anyone who wants to speak to speak. But this

         11  will not prevent you from writing to the Committee,

         12  or if you have a statement already written, to

         13  submit it will become part of the record, okay? All

         14  right.

         15                 I'm going to call up three

         16  individuals at the same time, two minutes a piece,

         17  okay? That's Mora?

         18                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: They're on

         19  their way.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: They're on

         21  their way, okay.

         22                 Chris Winward Read. Edith Holzer.

         23  Caifwyn, C-a-i-f-w-y-n?

         24                 MS. BRAZILL: I think you mean

         25  Caitlyn?
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          2                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Oh,

          3  Caitlyn.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Yes, Caitlyn

          5  Brazill.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Oh, I'm

          7  sorry. Forgive me. Brazill, okay.

          8                 And Laurie Bensly.

          9                 Nyasha Griffith.

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Also on her

         11  way.

         12                 Edith Holzer?

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: We'll start

         14  off from my right. Yes.

         15                 MS. WINWARD READ: Hello. My name is

         16  Chris Winward Read, and I'm grateful to present

         17  testimony before you today on behalf of the Human

         18  Services Council. Our member organization includes

         19  human service not-for-profit federations, umbrella

         20  organizations, and direct service providers, large

         21  and small.

         22                 HSC is also a proud member of the

         23  Preventive Services Action Network, PSAN, of which

         24  many members are presenting here today, and whose

         25  testimonies we also support.
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          2                 Consistent with years past, funding

          3  initially support -- sponsored by the City Council

          4  for core programs were unfortunately not included in

          5  the Mayor's Plan.

          6                 The exclusion of these funds places

          7  not-for-profit agencies in a precarious position of

          8  not knowing if current operations can be sustained

          9  in the coming months, presenting immediate

         10  operational and programmatic challenges; therefore,

         11  HSC strongly recommends the restoration and

         12  baselining of funding to core programs, such as the

         13  reduction of not-for-profit preventative service

         14  caseloads.

         15                 I'd next like to speak to the need

         16  for workforce investment. Recruiting and retaining

         17  qualified staff to work in child welfare and

         18  homeless service programs is increasingly difficult,

         19  because of depressed salaries and benefits. With few

         20  resources available, not-for-profit agencies have

         21  been unable to offer competitive salaries, resulting

         22  in high turnover rates, that are not only costly but

         23  jeopardize the quality of services available.

         24                 Therefore, HSC recommends a cost of

         25  living adjustment of 1.8 million for child welfare
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          2  providers and preventive independent living and

          3  after care service programs.

          4                 This adjustment would mirror those

          5  provided in recent years to municipal workers, and

          6  be covered over a three-year period.

          7                 We also recommend COLA for homeless

          8  services providers. Thank you very much. And my

          9  colleagues will speak to the need for increased

         10  preventative services.

         11                 I'd also like to support a child care

         12  subsidy for not-for-profit agency employees, as well

         13  as City employees in coalition with DC 37. The

         14  subsidy is necessary to attract routine workers in

         15  areas that often provide poor compensation in

         16  comparison to the private sector. Thank you. I'll

         17  turn the rest of the testimony over to Caitlyn.

         18                 MS. BRAZILL: Hi. My name is Caitlyn

         19  Brazill, and I am the Senior Policy Analyst for

         20  Income Security and Workforce Development at the

         21  Federation of Protestant Welfare Agencies. On behalf

         22  of our Alliance of more than 300 human service

         23  agencies and churches, I appreciate the opportunity

         24  to testify today.

         25                 First off, I'd like to thank the
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          2  Mayor, the City Council, and Speaker Quinn for

          3  continued efforts to eliminate the yearly budget

          4  dance that diverts Council attention to restoring

          5  cut programs and complicates budgeting and program

          6  planning for contracted non-profit organizations. We

          7  hope we can expand on baselining efforts this year.

          8                 Additionally, we commend the Mayor

          9  for his commitment to reducing poverty evidenced by

         10  the many investments recommended by the Commission

         11  of Economic Opportunity. Spread across various City

         12  agencies, the proposed spending on early childhood

         13  education, disconnected youth and low-income working

         14  families, is vital to ensuring that all New Yorkers

         15  share in our growing economy.

         16                 Today I'll discuss FPWA's budget

         17  priorities in the areas of child care, child welfare

         18  and income security.

         19                 New York City is currently

         20  experiencing a shortage of subsidized care for

         21  infants and toddlers. Four-year-old children are

         22  nearly ten times more likely to received subsidized

         23  care than one-year-olds.

         24                 FPWA urges the City Council and the

         25  Mayor to invest $5 million for 500 additional slots
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          2  in quality early care and education programs

          3  specifically for infants and toddlers.

          4                 We also urge the Council to invest a

          5  total of $3 million for capital improvements at

          6  publicly funded child care centers and family child

          7  care sites.

          8                 Given the shortage for subsidized

          9  care for infants and toddlers, we propose investing

         10  2 million of this funding to assist centers in

         11  re-equipping existing child care classrooms to serve

         12  young children.

         13                 The remaining $1 million would be

         14  available to help family day care providers make

         15  needed improvements to comply with health and safety

         16  regulations, including egress requirements.

         17                 And, finally, we ask for an $8

         18  million investment in family child care networks.

         19  These networks recruit child care providers, offer

         20  support services such as training and technical

         21  assistance and make referrals for families in need

         22  of child care.

         23                 While the networks receive a fee of

         24  $17 a week, the burden of this fee was previously

         25  split between City and family child care providers,
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          2  but providers are now bearing the brunt of that full

          3  network fee.

          4                 We encourage this $8 million for the

          5  City to pay their portion. On child welfare we have

          6  other folks that we'll mention our very strong

          7  interest in preventive services so I'll just touch

          8  on one thing in income security which is that we

          9  strongly support the Speaker's proposal to create a

         10  $300 refundable renters' tax credit.

         11                 And with that, the rest of it is in

         12  the written testimony. Thank you for the opportunity

         13  to testify.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         15                 MS. HOLZER: My name is Edith Holzer.

         16  I'm Director of Public Affairs for the Council of

         17  Family and Child Caring Agencies.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Do you have

         19  a prepared statement?

         20                 MS. HOLZER: Yes. Of course.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. Give

         22  it to the Sergeant-At-Arms.

         23                 MS. HOLZER: My name is Edith Holzer,

         24  I'm Director of Public Affairs for the Council of

         25  Family and Child Caring Agencies.
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          2                 The Council of Family and Child

          3  Caring Agencies is the primary statewide membership

          4  organization for child welfare services providers,

          5  representing 110 not-for-profit agencies that

          6  contract with New York City's Administration for

          7  Children's Services and the County Departments of

          8  Social Services to provide foster care, preventive

          9  services, adoption and child after care services, as

         10  well as education for children on our facility

         11  campuses. Our member agencies provide foster care to

         12  almost all of the City's children and care and

         13  preventive services to well over 85 percent of the

         14  families served by New York City.

         15                 So, you can see, unlike my colleagues

         16  here, we're totally focused on child welfare, and we

         17  want to thank the Council for everything that you've

         18  done to put funding into preventive services and to

         19  protect children in New York.

         20                 Last year, as you well know, was the

         21  year in which a group of terrible tragedies, the

         22  death of Nixzmary Brown and several other children

         23  focused much public attention on the child welfare

         24  system. Up to that tragic event there had been much

         25  praise for the dramatic reduction in a number of
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          2  children placed in foster care, but scant notice of

          3  whether the children left at home at continuing risk

          4  were receiving the services necessary to keep them

          5  safe. Those services called preventive services were

          6  developed to avert foster care and assure the safety

          7  of children remaining at home in settings that

          8  jeopardize their well-being through abuse or

          9  hazardous neglect due to unsafe housing, substance

         10  abuse, domestic violence, severe mental illness and

         11  sexual abuse.

         12                 Subsequent investigations brought to

         13  light the fact that not all children known to the

         14  City will be at high risk, and their families were

         15  getting access to the protection and assistance

         16  afforded by preventive services.

         17                 The Mayor and the City's

         18  Administration for Children's Services acted quickly

         19  and strongly with the support of the City Council to

         20  remedy the gaps in services, hire more child

         21  protective workers and better train them to respond

         22  properly to the situations of children at risk of

         23  abuse and severe neglect.

         24                 The City also acknowledged the need

         25  for more funding for preventive services. Nine
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          2  million dollars was found in the budget to enhance

          3  the provision of services by programs in high-need

          4  areas of the City, which included nearly all

          5  preventive programs.

          6                 This money was used very effectively

          7  in helping families at risk. In addition, a safety

          8  initiative was passed in the City Council adding

          9  $4.2 million to reduce caseloads in all general

         10  preventive and beacon programs, and from the prior

         11  ratio of one caseworker overseeing 15 families to

         12  the current one to 12 ratio.

         13                 Since nearly all families receiving

         14  preventive services have more than one child, this

         15  ratio is more likely one caseworker to 40

         16  individuals.

         17                 If I may, I just wanted to quote from

         18  one representative program in each borough to talk

         19  about how effective the funding has been. And this

         20  is, as a result of the reduced caseloads, the

         21  workers are more involved with visits and

         22  interventions related to high risk cases. They are

         23  better able to keep up with the documentation

         24  demands and deal with the computer systems of

         25  Connections and Promise, and the Puerto Rican Family
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          2  Institute in the South Bronx. Although it is early

          3  in the caseload reduction, I can tell you that staff

          4  morale has dramatically improved, hiring for the

          5  vacant positions has become easier, and we have been

          6  able to hire more master's level social workers from

          7  Good Shepard Services in Red Hook, Brooklyn.

          8                 Reduced caseload is particularly

          9  helpful for the intake caseworker planner, for whom

         10  early engagement and rapid assessment of the needs

         11  of high-risk families is critical to establishing an

         12  effective service and treatment plan from Harlem

         13  Dowling West Side Center for Children and Families,

         14  and lower -- less overtime, therefore less burnout,

         15  better ability to organize time and better quality

         16  paperwork and a whole list from Lower East Side

         17  Family Union's Queen's program and from Staten

         18  Island the staff feel they have more time to work

         19  with families. This is especially true as the

         20  families are presenting more complex and difficult

         21  issues.

         22                 And if I could just sum up what I

         23  think we are asking for, which is we are asking the

         24  City Council to reappropriate $4.2 million and add

         25  2.5 million for a total of $6.7 million to reduce
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          2  caseloads in all preventive programs to manageable

          3  levels. These funds need to be baselined this year.

          4                 We're also asking ACS to baseline the

          5  9 million in enhancement funding that has been used

          6  so effectively in working with high risk families,

          7  in high need communities, and to expand capacity,

          8  which is something that Commissioner Mattingly

          9  talked about the need for when he spoke, and a Cost

         10  Of Living Adjustment of 8.1 million for all

         11  preventive services workers to match the increase

         12  provided to City workers.

         13                 Thank you very much for your time.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         15                 Now, we had, during the course of

         16  this morning and afternoon, HRA, DHS, as well as

         17  ACS. Do we have any representatives from HRA here?

         18  ACS? Okay, but we do have DHS representation, and

         19  someone from HRA? Yes, good.

         20                 The question that I'd like to ask is,

         21  were you here for any of the testimony of all three?

         22                 MS. HOLZER: I was here for ACS.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Do you have

         24  any recommendations to those agencies?

         25                 MS. HOLZER: Yes. I think that's what
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          2  we were reading. Yes.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: You all

          4  have the same recommendations?

          5                 MS. HOLZER: On child welfare we do.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: On child

          7  welfare.

          8                 MS. BRAZILL: On child welfare we do,

          9  yes.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. All

         11  right, because those recommendations, that's before

         12  the Committee, and with the Chair, Chairman

         13  DeBlasio. We take those very seriously, and they

         14  will be entered in part of as we move forward with

         15  the budget. And I hear about the expense items and

         16  the expansion of certain facilities in order to

         17  provide more services. So, I want to thank you for

         18  coming before us and testifying and taking out your

         19  time, which shows your commitment in terms of what

         20  you're trying to do.

         21                 MS. HOLZER: Thank you for your time

         22  and for listening.

         23                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         24                 Ralph Paldonato (sic)? Forgive me,

         25  I'll correct it. I'll correct it. What is it, Ralph?
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          2                 MR. PALLADINO: Palladino.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Palladino.

          4  The r ran into the a. Mora Dolan?

          5                 MS. DOLAN: Yes.

          6                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: And Nyasha

          7  Griffith.

          8                 MS. DOLAN: Ready?

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: I'm ready,

         10  yes.

         11                 MS. DOLAN: Good afternoon. I am Mora

         12  Dolan. I am here on behalf of District Council 37,

         13  AFSCME, and also as a participating union in the New

         14  York Union Child Care Coalition.

         15                 As Melanie Hartzog testified earlier,

         16  there is a much greater demand for subsidized child

         17  care in New York City than there is supply. Our

         18  Coalition of over 25 unions, has successfully worked

         19  to get a child care subsidy program that is

         20  accessible and available to working families.

         21                 The facilitated enrollment program

         22  has been in place for the past four years with State

         23  funding and has assisted over 2,100 families

         24  reflecting over 3,200 subsidies or children served.

         25                 We are asking the City Council to
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          2  provide City funds to support and expand this

          3  program to continue to enroll new working families,

          4  both union and non-union, with City funds. The

          5  program details are attached.

          6                 We are also asking the Council and

          7  the City to provide sufficient funding to allow

          8  appropriate levels of staffing to process child care

          9  eligibility and enrollment applications. Due to

         10  shortages of staff, forms get lost, backed up and

         11  have to be handed in multiple times in order for

         12  families to be enrolled.

         13                 You've already heard testimony about

         14  centers at risk of closing due to underenrollment.

         15  These spaces can and will be filled with a rational

         16  process and enough staff.

         17                 We also ask that you increase income

         18  eligibility levels. If families, regardless of

         19  family size, were able to enroll up to 275 percent

         20  of poverty, this would also go a long way towards

         21  addressing enrollment issues in centers with

         22  changing demographics and would also help working

         23  families who right now are told that they are over

         24  the income limits.

         25                 ACS must also bring its income
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          2  ceilings up-to-date. They are currently using 2005

          3  federal poverty levels, which is incorrectly

          4  excluding eligible families.

          5                 As far as infant and toddlers, DC 37

          6  alone has over 2,000 infant and toddler-dependent

          7  children who would be eligible and earn less than

          8  275 percent of poverty.

          9                 Under the program described in the

         10  attached document, working families would be able to

         11  access subsidized child care, in both union and the

         12  not-for-profit service agencies that we're trying to

         13  work with.

         14                 Finally, we support our sisters and

         15  brothers in DC 1707 who are advocating for funding

         16  to keep at-risk centers open until they can get the

         17  necessary changes made to those classrooms and allow

         18  younger age children to be enrolled and get the

         19  proper licensing documents in place.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         22                 Mr. Palladino.

         23                 MR. PALLADINO: My name is Ralph

         24  Palladino, 2nd Vice President of Clerical Local

         25  1549, and also Co-Chair of the Bellevue Hospital
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          2  Child Care Committee.

          3                 Local 1549 represents 18,000 clerical

          4  and administrative employees, including over 6,000

          5  working in HRA, ACS and DYCD. Our members are

          6  eligibility specialists, 2 and 3, who determine

          7  Medicaid and food stamp eligibility among other

          8  titles. I'm going to a bridge to thank yous.

          9                 The issues that we feel strongly

         10  about, number one, child care. Child care assistance

         11  is badly needed by our members and the public.

         12  Working people must often choose between staying at

         13  home, take care of their children and keeping a job.

         14                 In order to keep New York working, we

         15  ask that subsidies be expanded to include more

         16  working people. We also asked the City to find

         17  funding to support building more child care centers

         18  like that at Bellevue Hospital, that are staffed and

         19  trained by trained union members.

         20                 Child Care, Inc. Estimates that

         21  currently the capacity in the City is only at 20

         22  percent of what is needed. There is a 50-person

         23  waiting list at Bellevue.

         24                 Food stamps. Food stamp locations

         25  report to the DC 37 clerical division staff that
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          2  there are severe staffing shortages of eligibility

          3  specialists 2 and 3 who determine eligibility.

          4  Merely transferring employees from other areas just

          5  leads to staffing shortages elsewhere, and does not

          6  solve the shortage problem.

          7                 ACS, thankfully there has been an

          8  increase in caseworkers for ACS, but there has been

          9  no increase in the appropriate clerical titles.

         10                 DC 37's clerical division reports

         11  that some of the caseworkers are being placed at

         12  reception desks performing routine clerical

         13  functions, such as answering phones and directly

         14  clients to other caseworkers.

         15                 Medicaid. With health care reform

         16  looming on the immediate horizon, the City needs to

         17  look at the reinforcing of the MAP program. Our

         18  eligibility specialists titles play a critical role

         19  in Medicaid Application Program. The Governor's

         20  expansion, which we support, of Medicaid, child care

         21  and Family Health Plus programs, will necessitate

         22  increased staffing in order to keep up with this

         23  demand.

         24                 Finally, there should be no need for

         25  any shortages outlined above if we had a fairer
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          2  taxation system in this City and State.

          3                 We call on the Council to support

          4  closing tax loopholes for banks, and reject

          5  proposals for reducing income taxes clothing taxes

          6  that only benefit the rich at the expense of

          7  services.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         10                 MS. GRIFFITH: Hi. Good afternoon. My

         11  name is Nyasha Griffith. I'm here to testify on

         12  behalf of the Neighborhood Family Services

         13  Coalition. First, just to start off, just want to

         14  recognize the leadership of Chair DeBlasio and the

         15  General Welfare Committee on their advocacy really

         16  for children and families in New York City.

         17                 Just some background on NFSC. We are

         18  a group of service providers and advocacy

         19  organizations based in New York City that has

         20  committed to the delivery of quality services at the

         21  neighborhood level. We focus on preventive services,

         22  youth programs, Summer Youth Employment Program, and

         23  increasing communities, organizations, collaboration

         24  with schools.

         25                 I'm just going to highlight a few of
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          2  our recommendations. You have my written testimony

          3  there to refer to. Some of these recommendations we

          4  hold in common with our other advocacy colleagues

          5  that you heard from in the last panel.

          6                 Our first recommendation is that ACS,

          7  the Council and the Administration work to expand

          8  the number of available slots in preventive

          9  services. You heard testimony earlier today by

         10  Commissioner Mattingly and others that refer to that

         11  need.

         12                 Our second recommendation is in

         13  regards to baselining the $9 million in enhancement

         14  preventive funding that's available right now. It's

         15  very important funding and we need to see it

         16  baselined in the budget. So we ask that all parties

         17  work together to try and make that happen.

         18                 Also, the Child Safety Initiative

         19  that Chair DeBlasio was key in pushing through the

         20  Council was very important to preventive service

         21  workers throughout the system. We join our

         22  colleagues at CCC, HSC COFFCHA and a number of other

         23  child welfare providers and advocacy organizations

         24  and asking them this be baselined at 6.7 million, to

         25  expand it to the other areas that were left out of
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          2  this last funding in the last fiscal year.

          3                 Also, NFSC joins with our colleagues

          4  at Human Services Council in asking the

          5  Administration to make an investment of 8.1 million

          6  to fund a child welfare COLA for all preventive

          7  service workers in the sector.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 Mr. Robert Tucker. Ms. Gloria Walker.

         12  Stephanie Gendell.

         13                 MR. TUCKER: Good afternoon. My name

         14  is Robert Tucker, and I am 42 years old, and I am a

         15  member of Community Voices Heard.

         16                 I'm here to speak about the current

         17  need for education and training and access to the

         18  independent training accounts ITA vouchers.

         19                 I have been on public assistance

         20  since May 2003, approximately four years. Prior to

         21  being on public assistance, I worked for 14 years at

         22  NYU Medical Center as an Office Assistant. I lived

         23  in the shelter system for two years because I could

         24  not afford to pay my rent and was evicted from my

         25  apartment in July 2004.
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          2                 Since being on public assistance I

          3  have complied with everything that was asked of me.

          4  I have been fighting with HRA for close to two

          5  years, trying to access a voucher and have also used

          6  the fair hearing process, and on all of the fair

          7  hearings I have won but to no avail because HRA

          8  refuses to honor the fair hearing decision, which is

          9  State law, by the way.

         10                 I have worked my WEP assignment,

         11  which is unpaid work experience program, for a year

         12  and a half at the Department of Design and

         13  Construction as an executive assistant. In the

         14  working world, I would have been paid for this

         15  title.

         16                 In addition, I have suffered through

         17  many erroneous case closings by the case workers,

         18  and yet I have always complied. When my case closes,

         19  I have no cash and no food stamps. I cannot eat, I

         20  cannot pay my bills, and I am frustrated with no

         21  resolve. When will this redundant cycle of abuse

         22  end?

         23                 Currently I am assigned to the Arbor

         24  Back to Work Program. I want to receive an ITA

         25  voucher to pay for my CDL license, Commercial
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          2  Driver's License, training. When I get my CDL, I

          3  plan to get a job as a New York City Sanitation

          4  worker and my employment options for a decent wage

          5  is more attainable.

          6                 As a point of information, I would

          7  have had my Sanitation job for about two years

          8  already, had I received my ITA voucher when I was

          9  supposed to get it, and no longer depending on

         10  public assistance because I would be a hard-working

         11  person earning a living wage and paying taxes.

         12                 My recommendation, I would like to

         13  recommend that welfare recipients, like myself, are

         14  aware to their rights to education and training

         15  vouchers and are assisted in assessing the

         16  individual training accounts vouchers, ITA vouchers

         17  if they need it.

         18                 Members of CVH have developed the HRA

         19  support and accountability initiative. We would like

         20  to have HRA set aside funding of six to eight

         21  percent of the resources allocated for the yearly

         22  contracts to hire an outside monitoring group that

         23  would train the workers to better assess clients and

         24  connect them with the services and programs that

         25  they need to conduct evaluations of their contracts.
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          2                 MS. WALKER: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Gloria Walker. I am a 51-year-old woman and a

          4  member of Community Voices Heard. I am here to speak

          5  about the current Work Experience Program, also

          6  known as WEP.

          7                 I have been on public assistance

          8  approximately three years. I have been a taxpayer

          9  for over 30 years and became unemployed. I now

         10  receive public assistance and I struggle to survive

         11  on $4.29 cents a day. I care for myself and my

         12  grandson. I have worked for the past year in an HRA

         13  office as an untrained, unpaid clerk. I work along

         14  side paid workers in the Homelessness Diversion

         15  Unit. As a matter of fact, during my entire

         16  experience on public assistance, I have been

         17  assigned to various WEP assignments, working

         18  alongside people that receive a living wage with

         19  benefits.

         20                 I am also in the Housing Stability

         21  Plus Program. I have to pay 20 percent of my Housing

         22  Stability Plus for my rent. I rent an apartment for

         23  $820 a month that is in poor condition and I'm still

         24  unemployed, but I'm always working toward gainful

         25  employment.
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          2                 Although I am currently unemployed, I

          3  do have goals and aspirations. I wanted to attend

          4  Bronx Community College and pursue a legal,

          5  paralegal studies program, but was deterred due to

          6  barriers and red tape. I was knocked down, but not

          7  knocked out.

          8                 I have been subsequently hired by a

          9  worker cooperative community organization, I will

         10  hopefully begin in April '07, and I will work to

         11  revitalize our distressed communities in the South

         12  Bronx.

         13                 Our recommendation is, in recognition

         14  of the fact that paid transitional programs offer

         15  better opportunities than WEP for participants to

         16  stabilize their finances and gain real job

         17  experience, and build confidence and enthusiasm

         18  about unemployment, and that the Job Training

         19  Participant program could be improved by linking it

         20  more closely to participants' career interests, CVH,

         21  Community Voices Heard, has developed a proposed

         22  initiative that recommends expansion of the JTP

         23  program in the eight new City agencies with 500 JTP

         24  positions per agency and targeting a variety of

         25  occupational interest, with career ladders,
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          2  including health care, clerical, custodial, food

          3  services, support services, et cetera.

          4                 Will you include funding in the HRA

          5  budget for this initiative and expand the JTP paid

          6  transitional jobs program to other City agencies and

          7  into other occupational areas?

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

          9                 MS. GENDELL: Good afternoon. My name

         10  is Stephanie Gendell, and I'm the Senior Policy

         11  Associate for Child Care and Child Welfare Services

         12  at the Citizens' Committee for Children. There are a

         13  variety of measures in the preliminary budget that

         14  we support, such as the Take Good Care of Your Baby

         15  Safety Campaign, and the $10 million baselined for

         16  family child care that I'm not going to address

         17  fully because they're on the written testimony and

         18  I'd like to spend a few minutes -- two minutes,

         19  talking about the items that we felt were not

         20  included in the budget.

         21                 On child care, even after ACS tried

         22  to explain the ins and outs of the money for child

         23  care, it still sounded like without additional State

         24  funding they were going to have a hole in their

         25  child care budget, and we ask that they start this
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          2  fiscal year without starting from a negative so they

          3  can at least try to grow and expand child care.

          4                 Along those lines we hope that there

          5  will be some focus on the, more focus on the

          6  rethinking child care plan with a focus on infants

          7  and toddlers, as well as additional resources to

          8  help implement the new DOHMH amendments that have

          9  been proposed to the Health Code which would

         10  increase quality and safety for children and child

         11  care.

         12                 On child welfare, we've unfortunately

         13  learned a lot of lessons over the past few years

         14  about what could happen when that system is not

         15  fully resourced in the entire continuum of child

         16  welfare starting with CPS, with prevention, with

         17  foster care and with after care. We were concerned

         18  that the Council's Child Safety Initiative to lower

         19  caseloads for preventive workers was not included in

         20  the Mayor's budget, and we ask that the Council and

         21  the Administration work together to ensure that 6.7

         22  million is available for reducing caseloads for

         23  preventive workers.

         24                 We were pleased to hear Commissioner

         25  Mattingly say that the $9 million for preventive
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          2  enhancements would be available again. We hope that

          3  there is enough resources available to support the

          4  additional foster care children who are now in care,

          5  because there is no addition to the budget for the

          6  increased number of children in foster care.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 MS. WALKER: Oh, I'm sorry. Excuse me,

          9  Council. There is one quick comment that I'd like to

         10  make.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Sure.

         12                 MS. WALKER: It is to my

         13  disappointment, and it should be to the shame of

         14  this governance, this respectful governance body,

         15  because so little respect has been given to the

         16  people. We have sat here since 9:45 and listen to a

         17  parade of government suits speak at leisure. But we,

         18  the people, are restricted to two minutes to speak,

         19  and we're relegated to have no one to hear us who

         20  can help us. Thank you.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Let me just

         22  say that I will apologize from the standpoint of you

         23  feeling relegated to only two minutes. We'll take a

         24  look at that. But in no way are we trying to

         25  relegate anyone to any level.
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          2                 The Administration and head of the

          3  agencies have spoken for an extensive period of

          4  time, and we have a limited period of time. The

          5  Committee Chair, Mr. DeBlasio, and myself, and the

          6  rest of the Committee are very much interested in

          7  the outcomes. Even though you have a lot of

          8  frustrations, we want to hear from them first

          9  because we have to make those analysis and we have

         10  competent staff, how those services are being

         11  delivered to the people, and quite naturally no one

         12  is going to come and testify to how they're doing a

         13  bad job.

         14                 But for what your statement is, we

         15  will take our fair share of your statement and I

         16  will apologize if you have the feeling that you have

         17  been relegated. But, however, that's why I can

         18  appreciate the fact that people their written

         19  statements prepared because they will be taken into

         20  consideration. We have confident staff that we will

         21  make sure they look at it when we compare the

         22  capital and expense budget.

         23                 So, on behalf of the Chair and the

         24  Committee, I give you my apology if you feel that

         25  way.
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          2                 I cannot pronounce this: Nadica? Will

          3  you come forward, please? Shayna Alicea. John

          4  Chapman.

          5                 Proceed.

          6                 MS. ALICEA: My name is Shayna Alicea

          7  and this is Nadica Robichaux, and we represent the

          8  Youth Justice Board, and this is a project for the

          9  Center for Court Innovation. First off, we would

         10  like to thank the General Welfare Committee for

         11  giving us the opportunity to speak today.

         12                 The goal of the Youth Justice Board

         13  is to give youth a voice in the juvenile justice

         14  policies that affect us.

         15                 This year our goal is to improve the

         16  permanency planning process for youth and foster

         17  care like us.

         18                 We have spent the last five months

         19  interviewing Family Court judges, ACS attorneys, law

         20  guardians, youth in care and other people involved

         21  in the foster care system.

         22                 In May we will present our

         23  recommendations for improving the experiences of

         24  youth in the permanency planning process.

         25                 On behalf of the Youth Justice Board,
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          2  we would like to thank the General Welfare Committee

          3  for the hearing in January on the additional

          4  resources that are needed in the child welfare

          5  system and for taking leadership in the struggle to

          6  bring more resources to the system.

          7                 We would like to share with the

          8  Committee what we have learned about the permanency

          9  planning process. As you know, because of the new

         10  permanency planning laws, and the increasing

         11  caseloads, the people who work for Family Court are

         12  overwhelmed.

         13                 In fact, almost every interview we've

         14  done, we've heard that the court players can't do

         15  their jobs well because their caseloads are too

         16  high.

         17                 Judges need to conduct hearings

         18  without worrying about a backed-up calendar. Law

         19  guardians need to be able to spend more time with

         20  each client. When they know us and understand us,

         21  they are better able to represent us. When those

         22  reports aren't done well, aren't in on time, judges

         23  can't make decisions, a new hearing has to be

         24  scheduled and the youth and family is in the system

         25  longer without getting the help that they need.
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          2                 MS. ROBICHAUX: Okay, my name is

          3  Nadica Robichaux, and I'm going to continue the

          4  testimony.

          5                 The additional money added over the

          6  past year for more FCLS attorneys and ACS

          7  caseworkers were a great start, but we don't think

          8  that's enough. We're asking the City Council to make

          9  sure that every agency that works with foster care

         10  youth has enough money and resources to do their

         11  jobs.

         12                 Without that, the permanency planning

         13  process can't succeed in helping youth and families

         14  reach their goals.

         15                 Also, teens have recently been

         16  encouraged to come to court. However, court is not a

         17  welcoming place to be. Court can be nerve-racking to

         18  a child, so accommodations should be made so that

         19  youth want to remain active in their case and

         20  actually come to court when their case is in the

         21  court room.

         22                 For example, my first time seeing a

         23  referee was definitely a nerve-racking experience

         24  for me. As I walked to the benches in the waiting

         25  room, two police officers were escorting a young
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          2  male in handcuffs. This made me really nervous. I

          3  started wondering what was going to happen and if I

          4  was going to be taken away next.

          5                 My caseworker and my guardian had not

          6  yet arrived. I was there in the waiting room with a

          7  few others. If I would have had someone or something

          8  to do while waiting, I would have felt more at ease.

          9                 Another problem that has been

         10  addressed to us is that the few youth that do appear

         11  in court don't understand what's being said, and

         12  therefore are unaware of what's going on in their

         13  case.

         14                 We urge the Committee to pay

         15  attention to this issue. We want to thank everyone

         16  for giving us the time to speak and listen to our

         17  opinions.

         18                 Also, we hope we can present our

         19  final recommendations to you in May. Once again,

         20  thank you for your time.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         22                 The gentleman.

         23                 MR. CHAPMAN: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is John Chapman, and I was formerly homeless,

         25  however, while being homeless I entered the New York
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          2  City Homeless Shelter for Men. I was then

          3  transferred to Ward's Island and I was there for

          4  nine months, and when my nine months came up, I

          5  received a letter stating that -- saying

          6  congratulations, you've just been accepted into the

          7  HP, HSP program. I didn't know what that was.

          8  Somebody gave me some information about it and told

          9  me that it was an opportunity for a person to be

         10  able to get their own apartment and be able to

         11  become independent, rather than dependent upon the

         12  system. So, I thought that was a good deal, so what

         13  I did was I signed up for the program, but also the

         14  program came with a set of instructions that told me

         15  that my responsibility to being accepted in this

         16  program was that I needed to maintain by eligibility

         17  with HRA. In other words, being a welfare client.

         18                 They also told me that after five

         19  years, I mean the first of the five years I would be

         20  responsible for paying 20 percent of my rent.

         21  However, in order to do that, that meant that I

         22  needed to get a job. So, that's what I did. I went

         23  out and found me a job, and was ready to meet my

         24  obligations. However, and also according to HRA

         25  guidelines, I was responsible for taking my first
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          2  pay stub down to HRA in order to let them know that

          3  my income was about to change. And when I took the

          4  income down to them, the pay stub, they told me that

          5  I made too much, and as a result of that, that meant

          6  that I was going to lose my apartment because the

          7  amount of pay that I was making, which was $400,

          8  $495 every two weeks would not be able to pay a $765

          9  a month rent.

         10                 So, I said, wait a minute. Something

         11  is wrong here. The contract says that after a year I

         12  needed to be employed in order for me to have the

         13  responsibility of paying the 20 percent step down.

         14  And they say, yeah, that's true, but you make too

         15  much money, so you're no longer in the program. So,

         16  I said, well, how am I going to pay my rent? They

         17  said, well, you just have to pay it. And this is

         18  where I am today. This is just, it's ludicrous. I

         19  mean, this should not be happening here in America,

         20  in the United States, the richest country in the

         21  world, you mean to tell me you're going to -- tell

         22  me you're going to lend me -- give me a helping

         23  hand, and take me to the place where I need to go

         24  and then just drop me without any help whatsoever.

         25                 I don't want HRA to take care of me,
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          2  but they offered to help. I didn't ask for it. And

          3  now they're telling me you're not eligible. So, that

          4  means that the only other option I have is either to

          5  quit my job and get back on public assistance in

          6  order for them to subsidize my apartment.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Well, I

          8  can't answer that question right now. It seems to me

          9  a catch-22 situation, and if you would wait around

         10  til this is over, we'll take some information and

         11  see how we can assist you.

         12                 To the young ladies, what I would say

         13  is, quite naturally, we would welcome your

         14  recommendations that you're proposing to deliver in

         15  May, but just let me make you aware that the way

         16  this bureaucracy runs, you know, the race is to the

         17  swiftest, and if you could give it to us in April,

         18  it would be better, better off, and not getting

         19  caught up in the shuffle.

         20                 So, if you could rearrange the time

         21  schedule, that would be fine. But if May is what you

         22  can do, do the best that you can do, okay?

         23                 MS. ROBICHAUX: Thank you.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Okay. Thank

         25  you very much.
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          2                 Elaine Bryant, Magdalena Belfort.

          3  Tyletha Samuels.

          4                 Pamela Gray. Laurie Benchke

          5  (phonetic). Jennifer Robertson. Joel Berg. Tyletha

          6  Samuels.

          7                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: She left.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: She left,

          9  okay.

         10                 Proceed.

         11                 MS. ROBERTSON: My name is Jennifer

         12  Robertson. I'm actually a participant in HSP. I'm a

         13  little nervous. But I moved here in 2003 with my

         14  kids, and I had a job, I had a stable job. I worked

         15  for FedEx. I was 15 an hour, full benefits, and what

         16  happened was I moved in, it was an apartment with

         17  single mothers, moved in with single mothers to help

         18  them, and it just happened that the woman was not so

         19  stable. I had ACS become involved and tell me, well,

         20  you can never live in a room in a house again.

         21  That's the only thing I could afford, so I ended up

         22  in the EAU, and it was just the most horrible

         23  experience with sub-human conditions, and I had

         24  never planned on being in a shelter, I had never

         25  been on PA, the only thing I ever really received
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          2  from the State where I was from in DC was the

          3  Working Families, the Child Health Benefits, and

          4  that's it. So, I came here. I wanted to keep my job,

          5  I just said I need help with paying rent because

          6  rent was too expensive for me. They were like, you

          7  have to quit your job, because we don't have any

          8  program for someone who is working. And that was

          9  just totally crazy. So, I ended up in the shelter

         10  for like a year, the family shelter after the EAU,

         11  and I just wanted to get out of there. So they were

         12  offering me this program HSP. There was a Section 8

         13  freeze. I said, fine. I don't want to be in here.

         14  There's rats, there's mice, there's rodents. It's

         15  just terrible for my kids. I have kids with asthma.

         16  So I left and thought it would be better. It was no

         17  better. I still had problems with mice, I still had

         18  problems with the apartment. The apartment wasn't

         19  inspected correctly. I think my landlord told the

         20  person who inspected it, well, I'll fix that, I'll

         21  fix that. He never fixed it. I have no stove that

         22  works currently. The apartment switched hands. And

         23  while I was in the apartment in December of 2003,

         24  they discontinued my case for worker, just as they

         25  did with the other gentleman. And I always work.
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          2  I've never been out of work except for the time i

          3  stopped to get HSP, and I did continue to work and

          4  they said the same thing to me, you have to work.

          5  You have to work to pay the rent. Okay, fine, I get

          6  a job, now I make too much. So, I got cut off. They

          7  said we'll just do a fair hearing, we'll put your PA

          8  back on and your HSP back on. And it didn't happen.

          9  I got my PA cut back on, and HSP never got cut back

         10  on, and thank God Coalition for the Homeless

         11  contacted me and I let them know about my case. They

         12  e-mailed the PA office and they finally transferred

         13  my case to Agency 18 that could help me because they

         14  kept telling me, well, we can't help you here, we

         15  don't do HSP, only Agency 18 does HSP.

         16                 And so that's my, I just got my rent

         17  paid after a year, and thank God they didn't kick me

         18  out of my apartment. That's pretty much it. It's a

         19  crazy process.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 MR. BERG: Good afternoon. I'm Joel

         24  Berg. I'm Executive Director for New York City

         25  Coalition Against Hunger. We represent the more than
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          2  1,200 soup kitchens and food pantries in New York

          3  City.

          4                 I'm going to submit my written

          5  testimony for the record, so I just want to respond

          6  to a few of the other people that testified. It is

          7  startling every time I come and hear low-income

          8  people testify, how shabbily they're treated by the

          9  City government. And I would just say it's clear

         10  that if government agencies treated middle class and

         11  wealthy New Yorkers so poorly, the political system

         12  wouldn't tolerate it for five minutes and yet, year

         13  after year after year after year we hear that the

         14  government agencies serving low-income people in New

         15  York are fundamentally broken in a very serious way.

         16                 I want to respond to Commissioner

         17  Doar's testimony this morning. He was asked by Chair

         18  DeBlasio whether any statistics exist on USDA's food

         19  and security numbers by the City level. He indicated

         20  the City didn't do it. Well, my organization has.

         21  We've calculated the average number of New Yorkers

         22  is 1.2 million living in households that don't have

         23  enough food, for the 2003/2005 time period. That's

         24  112,000 person increase for the 2000/2002 level.

         25                 So, again, all of this happy talk
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          2  from some corners about how great and hunkie-dorie

          3  everything is in New York City, I wish certain

          4  people maybe down the hall would really consider,

          5  wait, hunger is going up, homelessness is going up,

          6  and yet, we're bragging that welfare rolls are going

          7  down. Could there be any connection? Goodness

          8  forbid, taking away money from people, taking away

          9  food stamps from people and yet there is these

         10  continuing problems.

         11                 The other thing I'll point out, the

         12  Commissioner estimated personally that there are

         13  300,000 people eligible for food stamps but not

         14  getting them in the City. We're very excited that we

         15  have a new Commissioner, we're very excited that we

         16  have a new head of Office of Food Programs with a

         17  Food Policy Coordinator for the City, but I must

         18  point out the numbers just don't add up. The City's

         19  own numbers showed there were 362,000 more people

         20  getting food stamps 12 years ago today. So to say

         21  that today only 300,000 people are eligible, that

         22  assumes that there was 100 percent participation 12

         23  years ago that it wasn't. It assumes not a single

         24  blessed soul has become eligible for food stamps in

         25  the last 12 years, and it assumes there's been a
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          2  62,000 person decrease in food stamps eligibility in

          3  the last 12 years.

          4                 There is no way that there are fewer

          5  people eligible for food stamps today than the

          6  people participating in the program 12 years ago, so

          7  once again, I thank the Council for your incredible

          8  leadership, and I not only second, but triple the

          9  Speaker's call and Chairman DeBlasio and everyone

         10  else's call for full funding for the Emergency Food

         11  Assistance Program. I don't know why poor people are

         12  left out of the budget, are still in the budget

         13  dance, we fix things for everything else, for the

         14  arts, which is great, I go to museums, but why does

         15  the Mayor under-fund soup kitchens and food pantries

         16  yet again just to make some political point versus

         17  the Council?

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you.

         20  And let me just reiterate that the Speaker, Chairman

         21  and the Committee, we're all committed to

         22  eliminating hunger in the City of New York, as well

         23  as making sure that even though one does eat, and I

         24  learned this from you, it doesn't mean that it's

         25  nutritious.
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          2                 MR. BERG: Absolutely.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: So, we will

          4  be looking at that whole piece, in terms of the

          5  dollars.

          6                 MR. BERG: Thank you, Council Member

          7  White. I just want to be clear, as I talk about this

          8  mess, it would be five times worse if it wasn't for

          9  the Council and the Public Advocate standing up and

         10  having a counterpoint with real oversight over this

         11  government. And it's why we have more than one

         12  branch of government.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON WHITE: Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 There being no further witnesses in

         17  the public session, I want to thank Molly Murphy,

         18  the attorney to the Committee, and to Aaron

         19  Feinstein from Finance for preparing and being part

         20  of this, and hopefully we'll move toward some

         21  positive resolutions.

         22                 The Committee meeting is adjourned.

         23                 (The following written testimony was

         24  read into the record.)

         25
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          2

          3  Written Testimony Of:

          4  Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum

          5

          6                 Thank you, Chair de Blasio, for

          7  holding this important hearing. The budget process

          8  represents a critical opportunity to strengthen

          9  services for the city's underserved populations.

         10  Today, I urge the Council to make funding available

         11  to ACS to hire additional Family Court attorneys.

         12                 Approached by current ACS attorneys

         13  last year, I decided to investigate the situation at

         14  the ACS Family Court unit. A report released by my

         15  office this past September found that attorneys were

         16  overwhelmed by their caseloads. Current and former

         17  ACS attorneys interviewed for the report described

         18  the situation as a "ticking time bomb" that

         19  threatened battered children who might be returned

         20  to abusive homes, or removed from a stable, loving

         21  family, because their cases were mishandled by the

         22  attorneys.

         23                 The root of the problem is the

         24  extraordinarily high rate of attrition among agency

         25  attorneys - 22.6 percent a year, more than four
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          2  times the agency's stated goal of 5 percent and more

          3  than two to three times greater than the attrition

          4  rates of city district attorney's offices and

          5  lawyers with the federal government. It's a

          6  dangerous cycle: strained, underpaid attorneys burn

          7  out and leave ACS. Their cases are assigned to

          8  lawyers whose caseloads are already full. The

          9  remaining attorneys often do not get to review a

         10  case until moments before entering a courtroom and

         11  presenting to the judge. Compounding the problem is

         12  the fact that ACS takes a long time to hire and

         13  train replacements. By the time the replacements are

         14  prepared to handle a caseload, many of the more

         15  seasoned attorneys have left. And so the cycle goes

         16  on.

         17                 In the course of its investigation,

         18  my office found the following:

         19                 Attorneys with high caseloads and

         20  little time to prepare for courtroom appearances are

         21  compelled to request adjournments. These delays

         22  contribute to the exceptionally lengthy stays in

         23  foster care in New York City. At 43.6 months, the

         24  city's average length of stay in foster care is more

         25  than a year longer than the national average of 31

                                                            292

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  months. Requesting adjournments, a fairly common

          3  practice, delays the provision of services to

          4  children and families in the child welfare system.

          5                 I was pleased to learn that, in its

          6  preliminary budget for 2008, the city has earmarked

          7  an additional $3.4 million to hire an additional 25

          8  ACS attorneys. This is, without question, a step in

          9  the right direction. It is, however, a relatively

         10  small step.

         11                 At the time of their resignation, the

         12  vast majority of the attorneys surveyed by my office

         13  - 88 percent - had caseloads of more than 50, the

         14  maximum recommended by the American Bar Association.

         15  One-third of the attorneys had caseloads of at least

         16  100, with one responsible for 150 cases. Sixty

         17  percent of those surveyed described their caseloads

         18  as "unmanageable." An additional 25 attorneys is

         19  hardly sufficient to bring caseloads down to the

         20  ABA-recommended maximum for all ACS attorneys. That

         21  must be the city's ultimate goal if we are to better

         22  represent and protect our most vulnerable children.

         23                 I therefore urge the Council to not

         24  only support the city's proposed budget increase for

         25  ACS but to up the ante and approve additional
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          2  funding for the recruitment, hiring, and training of

          3  more attorneys, as well as paralegal and support

          4  staff to help ease the burden of administrative

          5  chores, such as faxing and photocopying.

          6                 I look forward to working with the

          7  Council to ensure that next year's budget reflects

          8  the urgent need to ensure that ACS has the necessary

          9  resources to protect battered children from further

         10  abuse.

         11                 Thank you.

         12

         13

         14  Written Testimony Of:

         15  Roopal Patel

         16  Child Care Policy Analyst

         17  United Neighborhood Houses

         18

         19                 Good afternoon, my name is Roopal

         20  Patel and I am the Child Care Policy Analyst at

         21  United Neighborhood Houses of New York (UNH). UNH is

         22  the federation of 35 settlement houses and community

         23  centers that benefits half a million New Yorkers -

         24  from infants to adults to seniors - with educational

         25  programs, job readiness assistance, child care,
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          2  after school programs, ESOL classes, tutoring,

          3  recreation, supportive services for the elderly,

          4  mental health counseling, drug prevention, and art,

          5  music, and drama programs at more than 350 locations

          6  throughout New York City. Founded in 1919 to bridge

          7  the common interests and concerns of New York's

          8  settlement houses and the communities they serve,

          9  UNH and its member agencies today comprise one of

         10  the City's largest human service systems. It is

         11  because of this historic and continued commitment to

         12  our communities that we appear before you today to

         13  speak on the fiscal year 2008 Preliminary Budget.

         14                 We commend the Mayor's commitment to

         15  child care as reflected by his budget. This year's

         16  Preliminary Budget includes:

         17                 - $10 million baselined for family

         18  day care programs.

         19                 - $30 million (increasing to $35

         20  million in 2009 and beyond) baselined for increased

         21  child care demand among families on public

         22  assistance and transitioning to employment.

         23                 - $2.3 million (increasing to $3

         24  million in 2009 and beyond) baselined to maintain

         25  2,500 social service priority child care slots.
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          2                 - $10 million (increasing to $14

          3  million in 2009 and beyond) baselined for an

          4  additional 5,000

          5                 OST slots by 2009.

          6                 While the FY '08 budget includes a

          7  commitment to improve child care services through

          8  funding, it is vital that these funds be allocated

          9  properly and that other potential short falls in

         10  child care are addressed.

         11                 The Administration for Children's

         12  Services (ACS) supports a wide range services that

         13  "ensure the safety and well-being of all children

         14  of New York." We are pleased that the Mayor's

         15  Preliminary Budget for FY 2008 restores and

         16  baselines $10 million for family child care slots,

         17  however, there are several important challenges

         18  facing child care in New York City:

         19                 - Increased Workforce Participation

         20  Rates for TANF recipients

         21                 - Uncertain state child care

         22  allocations, especially with the Flexible Fund for

         23  Family Services

         24                 - Increased funds for UPK and the

         25  need to create wrap around child care
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          2                 - Needed renovations in child care

          3  facilities to accommodate younger children

          4                 - Necessary repairs in Family Child

          5  Care homes to address egress issues and prevent

          6  closure

          7                 - Support for Family Child Care

          8  Networks that are already underfunded

          9

         10  Increased Workforce Participation Rates for

         11  Temporary Assistance to Needy Families (TANF)

         12  recipients

         13                 Increased federal workforce

         14  participation rates for TANF recipients will require

         15  additional child care in New York City. Last year's

         16  Congressional budget Reconciliation Bill included

         17  the Deficit Reduction Act that resulted in an

         18  overall $3 million dollar cut in the federal Child

         19  Care Development Block Grant last year. Furthermore,

         20  this year the President's proposed budget the

         21  Administration has proposed a freeze in

         22  discretionary funding for CCDBG for the sixth

         23  consecutive year.

         24                 TANF reauthorization placed new work

         25  requirements on TANF recipient families while also
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          2  cutting cash assistance for working families by $200

          3  million. This legislation required states to engage

          4  50% of their caseloads in work activities, which in

          5  New York State would require an additional 10,400

          6  families to participate, many of whom will be in New

          7  York City.

          8                 Funding for child care is so

          9  inadequate that by the year 2010, 255,000 fewer

         10  children in working families will get child care

         11  help than in 2004 in New York State. Even now,

         12  according to Administration for Children's Services,

         13  funds are so short that New York City currently

         14  serves only 89,000 of the 275,000 potentially

         15  eligible children from low-income families,

         16  approximately thirty percent.

         17                 Employed mothers spend approximately

         18  $400-$500 a month for child care. For two-thirds of

         19  poor working families headed by single mothers,

         20  child care consumes at least 40% of their income.

         21  But the federal bill reduced the funds available for

         22  child care, while at the same time drastically

         23  increasing the proportion of parents who must

         24  participate in TANF work activities.

         25                 As every major study shows, quality
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          2  and reliable child care assistance gives low-income

          3  parents the ability to work. Women leaving public

          4  assistance often enter low-wage jobs where they earn

          5  so little that they cannot possibly afford quality

          6  child care programs. Single mothers who receive

          7  child care assistance are 40 percent more likely to

          8  remain employed after two years than those who do

          9  not receive help in paying for child care. Former

         10  welfare recipients with young children are 82

         11  percent more likely to be employed after two years

         12  if they receive help with child care expenses. Many

         13  women in low-wage jobs that offer little flexibility

         14  are forced to quit their jobs and return to welfare

         15  when faced with a lack of affordable child care.

         16                 In addition to helping working

         17  families transition off of public assistance, child

         18  care subsidies help families afford higher quality

         19  care that promotes healthy child development.

         20  Children in high quality care demonstrate greater

         21  mathematic ability, greater thinking and attention

         22  skills, and fewer behavioral problems. Without child

         23  care assistance many parents have few options but to

         24  leave their children in the care of teen siblings,

         25  elderly grandparents, or other informal care that
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          2  does not provide a structured education to New York

          3  City's youngest children.

          4                 Uncertain state child care

          5  allocations, especially with the Flexible Fund for

          6  Family Services

          7                 Governor Spitzer's proposed SFY  07-

          8  08 Executive Budget once again includes a Flexible

          9  Fund for Family Services (FFFS) TANF funded block

         10  grant. As currently proposed, the block grant allows

         11  counties to spend these funds on a range of social

         12  programs that can include the TANF funded portion of

         13  child care and child welfare. Although the Assembly

         14  and Senate house budget bills removed child care out

         15  of the FFFS, budget negotiations continue.

         16                 We are hopeful that the final budget

         17  will line out child care funding so that it is not

         18  competing with other human services for the limited

         19  funds available in a block grant.

         20                 We urge the City to support lining

         21  out child care funding from the FFFS at the state

         22  level.

         23                 Increased funds for UPK and the need

         24  to create wrap around child care

         25                 Anticipating $63 million in state
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          2  funding to support Pre Kindergarten, we urge the

          3  City to work to ensure a diverse delivery system of

          4  Universal Pre-Kindergarten Programs, in both public

          5  school settings as well as in community based

          6  organizations.

          7                 The success of UPK has historically

          8  been dependent on its availability in CBO's. CBO's

          9  have greater ability to offer more hours of care to

         10  working parents, the facilities and the staff to

         11  work with younger children. When UPK is available in

         12  CBO's availability and convenience is expanded,

         13  parents report high levels of satisfaction,

         14  children's attendance increases, and there is

         15  innovation in teaching. In order for the UPK

         16  expansion to be effective in the future, adequate

         17  funding for expansion must be available to CBO's.

         18                 We urge that the City work to ensure

         19  a diverse and flexible delivery system of UPK.

         20                 Needed renovations in child care

         21  facilities to accommodate younger children and

         22  necessary repairs in Family Child Care homes to

         23  address egress issues and prevent closure.

         24                 With the transition of School Age

         25  Child Care to the Department of Youth and Child
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          2  Development and the influx of UPK funds in public

          3  schools, many child care centers anticipate serving

          4  younger children. Funds will be needed to retool

          5  classrooms originally designed for older children

          6  and purchase new equipment to meet the needs of

          7  younger children.

          8                 For example, a new bathroom for

          9  infants with one water closet, a lavatory, a

         10  lighting and exhaust system, bathroom accessories, a

         11  new wall partition, floor tile finishes, a new

         12  ceiling, door, frame and hardware would cost

         13  approximately $30,750. A new bathroom for toddlers

         14  with two water closets and lavatories would cost

         15  $40,750. A new sprinkler system could cost between

         16  $35,000-$75,000 depending on the availability of a

         17  water line with adequate pressure. A changing table

         18  and service sink costs approximately $12,500.

         19                 In addition, Family Child Care

         20  providers are facing increased enforcement of health

         21  and safety violations. Centers that have been open

         22  for many years are facing closure because of

         23  inability to meet health and safety egress

         24  requirements. These closures would result in many

         25  parents losing safe and reliable child care. Often

                                                            302

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  only some basic repairs are needed to meet the

          3  health and safety requirements. Family Child Care

          4  providers care for New York City's youngest children

          5  in their homes. They work to create a stimulating

          6  and safe environment for the children in their care.

          7  New funds are necessary for family child care

          8  providers to make necessary repairs and improvements

          9  to meet health and safety requirements in their

         10  homes.

         11                 We urge that the city commit $3

         12  million for capital improvements. One million would

         13  be dedicated to family child care provider's egress

         14  repairs and $2 million to assist ACS with expenses

         15  for renovating classrooms to serve younger children.

         16                 Support for Family Child Care

         17  Networks that are already underfunded.

         18                 Family Child Care Networks support

         19  the work of these providers by providing

         20  administrative and technical support that enhances

         21  the quality of child care services.

         22                 ACS contracted family child care

         23  networks receive a per child/ per week fee of $17.06

         24  to fund their technical and programmatic assistance.

         25  In the past, approximately half of that fee was paid
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          2  for by the City and half was paid by the State.

          3  Today providers have the entire administrative fee

          4  removed from their stipend. Removing $17.06 per

          5  child per week from the providers' wages places an

          6  undue burden on already underpaid family child care

          7  providers.

          8                 UNH hopes that New York City will

          9  recognize the value of supporting networks and

         10  family child care providers by fully funding the

         11  network administrative fee.

         12                 Family child care networks also have

         13  their share of financial needs. The $17.06 per

         14  child/ per week administrative fee received by

         15  networks to fund their work has remained frozen

         16  since 1992. The lack of additional funding hampers

         17  networks' ability to provide the comprehensive

         18  support that providers need. Family Child Care

         19  networks provide a wide range of services that

         20  ensure high quality care to New York City's

         21  children. These services include, but are not

         22  limited to, conducting health and safety monitoring

         23  visits to ensure providers are meeting Department of

         24  Health standards, creating developmentally

         25  appropriate curriculum, assisting with licensing and
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          2  re-certification forms, providing on-going

          3  trainings, recruiting and conducting intake of

          4  children and families, maintaining health records of

          5  children, assistance with translation, and payment

          6  and administrative duties. Based on the level of

          7  support that Family Child Care Networks provide we

          8  estimate that the actual cost of these services is

          9  closer to $35.00 per child/ per week. We urge the

         10  City to carefully assess the work of Family Child

         11  Care Networks and accurately fund the cost of the

         12  supports that Family Child Care Networks provide.

         13                 We know that there is so much to do

         14  to improve and expand quality child care and we

         15  thank the City Council for continuing to champion

         16  these issues. We hope that the Council and

         17  Administration for Children Services work together

         18  to both maintain the current integrity of the system

         19  and to adequately respond to increased child care

         20  needs.

         21

         22

         23  Written Testimony Of:

         24  Elana Broitman

         25  Director, City Policy and Public Affairs
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          2  UJA Federation of New York

          3

          4

          5                 Chairman DeBlasio, Council members,

          6  thank you for allowing me to make a presentation to

          7  you today, I represent UJA-Federation of New York,

          8  which helps to serve a broad spectrum of New Yorkers

          9  throughout the five boroughs.

         10                 UJA-Federation of New York

         11                 UJA-Federation's mission is "caring

         12  for those in need, rescuing those in harms' way, and

         13  renewing and strengthening the Jewish people in New

         14  York, in Israel, and around the world."

         15                 We are a funding and coordinating

         16  body for more than 100 nonprofit health and human

         17  service and educational agencies in New York city,

         18  many of which are dedicated to providing a wide

         19  variety of services focused on youth, in large part

         20  through contracts with the City's Administration for

         21  Children's Services.

         22                 In the last fiscal year, we raised

         23  about $250 million from tens of thousands of donors,

         24  which we use in large part to support this network

         25  of not-for-profit agencies. However, our work would
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          2  not be possible without the successful

          3  public-private partnership that exists between the

          4  New York City Council and the UJA-Federation. While

          5  UFA-Federation does not take government funding, our

          6  agencies rely on public funding, in addition to

          7  philanthropic support, to provide child care and

          8  child welfare services, including Beacon schools,

          9  foster care, prevention services, and child care in

         10  centers and in family day care settings. Within our

         11  network, citywide agencies such as the Jewish Board

         12  of Family and Children's Services and the Jewish

         13  Child Care Association, as well as a myriad of

         14  community based agencies, provide these services

         15  across all 5 boroughs.

         16                 Universal PreKindergarten

         17                 We are delighted to see funding in

         18  the New York State budget to expand prekindergarten

         19  opportunities to all four year olds. New York City

         20  has laid the foundation for a unique and exemplary

         21  system of early childhood education, a partnership

         22  that builds on resources in the community and in

         23  schools.

         24                 Currently, close to 50,000 children

         25  are enrolled in prekindergarten in 500 public
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          2  schools and over 500 community programs. This

          3  strategy of combining school and community resources

          4  has dramatically increased access for children to

          5  quality early learning and extended what is

          6  currently primarily a part day program to thousands

          7  of children who can participate in prekindergarten

          8  and receive the extended-day year-round services

          9  their families need. Prekindergarten in New York is

         10  a national model for how to leverage resources to

         11  create a system of early education of excellence

         12  that builds on and strengthens the role of both

         13  public schools and community programs.

         14                 We know that you, Mr. Chairman, will

         15  appreciate that to assure excellence, New York needs

         16  to:

         17  P- Establish a hub, or home base, for

         18  prekindergarten with expertise on all aspects of

         19  prekindergarten delivery, and to which

         20  community-based organizations can connect.

         21                 - Provide systems and structures to

         22  strengthen the City's existing partnership with

         23  community-based organizations and enhance linkages

         24  between these programs and public schools.

         25                 Improve City-wide cross-agency
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          2  collaboration through formal on-going mechanisms

          3  designed to more effectively deploy public resources

          4  and achieve better outcomes for children.

          5                 Just this year expanding

          6  prekindergarten will require opening over 400

          7  classrooms, additional qualified teachers and

          8  ongoing professional development. The future success

          9  of prekindergarten requires collaboration across

         10  agencies and with community partners. UJA-Federation

         11  and its partners in the Early Childhood Strategic

         12  group have worked effectively with the City in the

         13  past and stand ready to assist the City once again

         14  during this important period of transition.

         15                 Child Welfare

         16                 We urge you to continue the valuable

         17  investments in preventive services the Council made

         18  last year to reduce caseloads and enhance services.

         19                 Last year, the Administration for

         20  Children's Services made strides in enhancing the

         21  ability of the child welfare system to respond to

         22  allegations of child abuse and neglect and to keep

         23  children safe and at home whenever possible. Thank

         24  you for your oversight.

         25                 We appreciated that ACS reorganized
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          2  the increased need for the services of preventive

          3  agencies and redirected $9 million in the last two

          4  fiscal years for preventive service enhancement and

          5  technical assistance grants. These funds allowed

          6  agencies the flexibility to offer to families

          7  services tailored to meet their unique needs. We

          8  want to make sure that this $9 million for

          9  preventive programs will be maintained in the fiscal

         10  year 2008 budget to assist programs handle the needs

         11  of the many high-need, multi-problem families in

         12  their communities.

         13                 The Child Safety initiative added by

         14  the New York City Council was crucial in

         15  strengthening the ability of preventive service

         16  providers to serve at-risk families and keep

         17  children safe by reducing caseloads from 15 to 1 to

         18  the nationally-recommended average of 12 families to

         19  1 caseworker. Providers are universally in favor of

         20  the reduction in caseloads, and feedback indicates

         21  that it will allow workers to dedicate more time to

         22  providing the intervention needed by families. We

         23  urge the Council to preserve the $4.2 million, and

         24  increase it in order to reduce case load in some

         25  categories of preventive services where last year's
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          2  reductions did not occur. This includes the Family

          3  Rehabilitation Programs (programs for families

          4  affected by Substance Abuse) and in Medical

          5  Specialized Programs (working with families and

          6  children with HIV/AIDS and severe medical

          7  disabilities.

          8                 Finally, we hope that funding will be

          9  available to expand capacity to children and

         10  families who today lack access to preventive

         11  services because the system is at full utilization.

         12  Along with additional capacity, funding would need

         13  to be added for additional supervisors to maintain

         14  the supervisory levels at 1 to 5 and ensure quality

         15  control for the added children and families.

         16                 Family Day Care

         17                 We are grateful for your leadership

         18  in working with the Mayor to baseline $10 million

         19  for family day care. This action will ensure stable

         20  funding for the care of about 1400 children and

         21  allow the Council to focus on improvement and

         22  expansion of this critical child care system. As you

         23  know, while family day care providers play a

         24  fundamental role in children's safety and early

         25  education, the family day care system is woefully
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          2  under funded. The quality control system provided by

          3  networks has not seen a funding increase since 1992.

          4  More recently, the City had stopped paying its

          5  portion of network fees, leaving it to the providers

          6  to pay the full fee for the important training and

          7  quality control on which the City relies.

          8                 In a system of tens of thousands of

          9  individual providers, it is critical to have a

         10  uniform training and oversight mechanism to ensure

         11  the health, safety and education of children

         12  throughout New York City. This requires an

         13  investment in the family day care networks. We hope

         14  the Council recognizes the importance of making such

         15  an investment and works with the Mayor to ensure it

         16  is made.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 4:10 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.
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